
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

Summons  
and 

Agenda 
 

Monday 13 December 2021 

 
Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services 

Friday 3 December 2021 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 



 

 
 

Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
 

To: All Members of the Dartford Borough Council 
 

A meeting of the Council will be held on: 
 

Date:  Monday 13 December 2021 
Time:  7.00 pm 
Venue: Civic Centre, Dartford 

 
The Agenda is set out below: 

 
A G E N D A  

1. Prayers: Reverend Kenneth Clark   
 

2. Apologies for Absence  
 

 
 

 To receive apologies for absence 
 

 

3. Declarations of Interest  
 

 
 

 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board 
or Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services. 
 

 

4. Minutes  
 

(Pages 1 - 12) 
 

 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
General Assembly of the Council held on 26 July 2021. 
 

 

5. Mayor's Announcements   
 

6. Leader's Announcements  
 

 
 

 To receive announcements from the Leader of the Council 
 

 

7. Questions from Political Group Leaders  
 

 
 

 To consider any questions (from the Political Group Leaders) to 
the Leader/Cabinet submitted in accordance with Standing Order 
14. 

 



 

8. Motions  
 

 
 

 To consider the following motions submitted in accordance with 
Standing Order 10: 
 
(1) Motion submitted by the Leader of the Council, 
Councillor J A Kite MBE 
 
‘This council expresses its sadness and profound sense of loss 
at the passing of Councillor Ann Allen and offers our sincere 
condolences to her family and friends at this difficult time.  It 
reflects on the loss a good friend to all Members and a wise 
council colleague’.  
 
 
(2) Motion submitted by the Leader of the Council, 
Councillor J A Kite MBE 
 

 
‘This council further reflects on the legacy of Councillor Ann Allen 
and commends her practical and compassionate approach to 
supporting those in need, empowering the vulnerable and giving 
a voice to those who would otherwise not be heard.  Ann loved 
this town and the people, groups and businesses in it. She 
understood that everyday local actions rather than rhetoric were 
the key to changing lives for the better. Her achievements were 
measured not in publicity or partisanship but in the relentless 
application of kindness, practicality and robust common sense in 
our community.  This council takes the opportunity to reflect upon 
and praise the many organisations, individuals and groups 
supported by Ann over the years and commits to carry on 
supporting them as she would wish’.  

 

 

9. Urgent Items  
 

 
 

 The Mayor will announce her decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items. 
 

 

To consider any reports to the General Assembly of Council by other Committees, Boards, 
Panels and Officers. 

10. References from Other Committees   
 

10A.   Review of Member Code of Conduct - Reference from 
the Audit Board  
 

(Pages 13 - 34) 
 

 To consider a reference from the meeting of the Audit Board  



held on 22nd September 2021. 

10B.   Deed of Indemnity for Members and Officers - Review - 
Reference from the Cabinet  
 

(Pages 35 - 46) 
 

 To consider a reference from the meeting of the Cabinet 
held on 28 October 2021. 

 

11. Grant of Dispensation  
 

(Pages 47 - 48) 
 

 To consider making a grant of dispensation to a member of the 
Council. 
 

 

12. Setting of the Council Tax Base for the Borough 2022/23  
 

 
 

 To determine the tax base for the whole area of Dartford Borough 
and for those parts relating to Parishes in accordance with 
section 35 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
 
This report is ‘to follow’.  
 

 

13. Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax 2022/23  
 

(Pages 49 - 52) 
 

 To consider rolling forward the Local Scheme of Support for 
Council Tax 2021/22, with effect from 1 April 2022. 
 

 

14. Financial Contributions to Parish and Town Councils 
2022/23  

 

(Pages 53 - 58) 
 

 To agree the level of financial contributions to be paid to Parish 
and Town Councils in 2022/23. 
 

 

15. Financial Regulations  
 

(Pages 59 - 
104) 

 

 To consider updated Financial Regulations. 
 

 

16. Reserved Minutes  
 

(Pages 105 - 
134) 

 

 To consider any of the minutes of the following Cabinet meetings 
reserved in accordance with Standing Order 16: 
 
(a) for full debate by Political Groups on the Council; 
(b) by Ward Members.  
 
 
 

 



Cabinet 
 
22 July 2021 
23 September 2021 
28 October 2021 
 

 
 Sarah Martin 

Chief Officer & 
Director of Corporate Services 

 



1 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES of the proceedings of the meeting of the General Assembly of the Council 
held on Monday 26 July 2021. 

 
PRESENT: 
 

 

 

The Mayor Councillor R M Currans 

The Deputy Mayor Councillor P Cutler 
 
 

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE 
Councillor A E D Barham 
Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor M J Davis 
Councillor L H K Edie 
Councillor B Garden 
Councillor S N Gosine 
Councillor D A Hammock 
Councillor P M Harman 
Councillor D E Hunnisett 
Councillor R A S Jones 
Councillor M B Kelly 
Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
 

Councillor A R Lloyd 
Councillor D J Mote 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor A J Oakley-Dow 
Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor E E Palmer 
Councillor R S L Perfitt 
Councillor M I Peters 
Councillor L J Reynolds 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor C J Shippam 
Councillor Mrs R F Storey 
Councillor D Swinerd 
Councillor R J Wells 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

 

Councillor E H Ben Moussa 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor D Butler-Ruhle 
Councillor A Gaskin 
Councillor R Gosine 
Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor T A Maddison 
Councillor V Oguntope 
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 
Councillor D J Reynolds 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
 

 
 

24. PRAYERS: REVEREND KENNETH CLARK  
 
The Mayor’s Chaplain led the Council in prayer. Special mention was made of 
Mrs Doreen Coleman, who had served as Mayoress on three occasions, and 
Jo Shippam, both of whom had recently passed away. 

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
25. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Ben Moussa, 
Brown, Butler-Rhule, Gaskin, R Gosine, Grehan, Maddison, Oguntope, Ozog, 
D Reynolds and Thurlow. 
 

26. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

27. MINUTES  
 
The General Assembly of the Council considered the minutes of the Annual 
Council meeting held on 28 April 2021. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the Annual Council meeting held on 28 April 2021 be 
confirmed as an accurate record. 
 

28. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Mayor expressed her condolences to Councillors Shippam and Ozog and 
their families following the recent passing of Jo Shippam. She also expressed 
her sadness at the passing of Doreen Coleman, who had served as Mayoress 
on three occasions and who had been steadfast in supporting her husband, 
Pat Coleman, during his 40 years as a Councillor. Doreen had worked 
tirelessly on the Charity Committee for over 30 years and had been looking 
forward to returning to attend upcoming meetings. 
 
The Council sent its condolences and best wishes to the families and friends 
of the deceased. 
 

29. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Leader of the Council made the following announcements: 
 

 Welcome back, Management Team and Direction of Travel 
 
The Leader of the Council welcomed Members and officers to the first in-
person Council meeting for nearly 18 months. He introduced Caroline Hicks, 
the new Director of Growth & Community, who was attending her first meeting 
of the GAC and said that she was a pivotal part of the new Management 
Team established following a recent restructure of the organisation which 
would take the work of the Council forward. 
 
 

 Recent Losses 
 
The Leader of the Council explained that a lot had happened since the last 
physical meeting of the Council and that the world had changed in the interim 
with a full range of experiences, highs and lows. Some were sad and difficult 

Page 2Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 26 JULY 2021 
 
 

3 

to fathom, such as the recent death of a child, Lily, following a road accident 
in Watling Street, and his thoughts went out to everyone who had lost a loved 
one over recent months. In particular he sent his condolences and best 
wishes to the family and friends of Doreen Coleman and Jo Shippam. He 
recalled Jo Shippam as being a very formidable and funny lady, who had 
once stood for election as a UKIP candidate in the same ward as her own 
son. Doreen Coleman had been a stalwart supporter of her husband, Pat, and 
was always by his side. Both would be sorely missed and he sent his 
condolences to their loved ones. 
 

 Euro 2021 
 
The Leader said that there had also been some uplifting moments, such as 
the tremendous achievement of the England football team which had raised 
the national spirit by getting to the final of the Euro 2021 football tournament. 
This had been marred by the behaviour of a small number of bigoted people 
who had tried to make something bad out of something good by their racist 
attitude. He stressed that they would never succeed and that humanity would 
prevail. He congratulated the football team on their performance. 
 

 Councillor Oliver 
 
The Leader of the Council also wished to congratulate Councillor Tom Oliver 
on his recent marriage to his partner, Kyle, at a lovely ceremony. He 
commented on how wonderful it was that people who loved each other could 
freely celebrate and embrace their love.  
 

 Looking Ahead 
 
The Leader of the Council noted the many challenges and pressures ahead 
as the nation recovered from the COVID pandemic and the need for space to 
relax and contemplate. The Planet Dartford initiative had made progress 
during the pandemic, such as the work undertaken on edible flowers and the 
creation of two new community orchards, and he hoped that the initiative 
could now gather momentum. He said that he had been approached by the 
Leader of the Alliance Group, Councillor Edie, over proposals to create a net 
work of wildflower meadows which he felt was worthy of consideration. Rather 
unusually he had asked Councillor Edie to address the Council on her 
proposals. 
 
 

 Dartford Wildflower Network 
 
Councillor Edie addressed the General Assembly of the Council. She 
explained that the numbers of pollinators across the world was falling at a 
concerning rate. In the UK 27 species of bee had previously been recorded, 
but 3 of these were now extinct and half of the remaining 24 were in rapid 
decline. Pollinators such as bees, butterflies and moths were crucial to eco 

Page 3 Agenda Item 4



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

systems, allowing plants to fruit, set seed and breed, providing food and 
habitats to many other creatures. 
 

Wildflower meadows were not only important habitats for wildlife, they also 

stored carbon and prevented flooding. These types of native flower-rich 

grasslands could store 500% more carbon than fields of pure grass but, 

sadly, 97% of wildflower meadows had been lost since the 1930's. 

 
She informed Members that the Council had planted a couple of beautiful 

wildflower meadows as part of the Planet Dartford initiative, which had 

proved to be very popular and had been welcomed by residents. She was 

proposing that the Council should build on this enthusiasm by creating a 

joined up approach across Dartford to establish a network of wildflower 

meadows. Because bumblebees could only fly for about 40 minutes between 

feeding this network would create vital pit stops for bees, allowing them to fly 

further and flourish across the borough. 

 

She explained that this strategy would complement the fantastic work 

supporting wildflower meadows, already being undertaken by Kent County 

Council's Plan Bee, the Saving Meadows project by Plantlife and B-Lines 

project from Buglife. 

Residents would be offered packets of local wildflower seeds and/ or advice, 

with as little as 1sq metre being enough room to create a mini wildflower 

meadow. Green space would be better utilised and dedicated wildflower 

areas and signs explaining the importance of creating these habitats could 

be created in local parks. It was also proposed to create an interactive online 

map to show the Dartford Wildflower Network, to encourage participation 

and to create both a physical and virtual community.  

 

Local schools, businesses and organisations would be encouraged to get 

involved. Even Bus stops had the potential to be transformed into Buzz 

stops, with a wildflower roof. The Dartford Wildflower Network would be a 

celebration of wildflower meadows. A way of empowering the community to 

look after vital pollinators and the local environment. 

She thanked the Leader of the Council for allowing her to address Members 

and looked forward to working together on such initiatives. 

 
30. QUESTIONS FROM POLITICAL GROUP LEADERS  

 
The following questions were submitted by the Shadow Leader of the Council:  

Question 1 

‘Has the council included in its equality report for Dartford the views of those 
with disabilities as you said you would the last time, I asked the question?’ 

Question 2 

‘Does the Leader of the Council agree with our local MP who voted in favour 
of our local residents who are lease holders footing the bill to change the 

Page 4Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 26 JULY 2021 
 
 

5 

cladding on their property despite it not being their fault if it doesn’t meet 
health and safety regulations?’ 

Question 3 

‘There was a two week suspension of recycle collections by Urbaser in 
another borough council in Kent due to staff shortages recently. What 
measures are this council taking to ensure waste and recycle doesn’t suffer 
the same consequence here at some point?’ 

 
In accordance with Standing Order 14 the questions and answers, including 
any supplementary questions and answers, are recorded in a book kept for 
this purpose in the Members’ Area. 
 

31. MOTIONS  
 
The Mayor announced that no motions had been submitted under Standing 
Order 10. 
 

32. URGENT ITEMS  
 
The Mayor confirmed that there were no urgent items. 
 

33. COUNCIL IN COMMITTEE  
 
It was moved by Councillor RM Currans, seconded by Councillor J A Kite and 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That in accordance with Standing Order 11(13) the General Assembly of the 
Council go into Committee and the rules of Procedures for Committees do 
apply. 

 
THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL, COUNCILLOR J A KITE MBE, IN THE 
CHAIR 
 

34. REFERENCE FROM THE ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
HELD ON 8 JULY 2021: REVIEW OF PARLIAMENTARY 
CONSTITUENCIES 2023  
 
The General Assembly of the Council considered a report which detailed the 
initial proposals for revised parliamentary constituencies by the Boundary 
Commission for England following a nationwide review of parliamentary 
boundaries to broadly equalise the electorate’s of each constituency by 
bringing them within a defined range. Dartford’s existing parliamentary 
electorate was larger than the maximum permitted and consequently the 
Boundary Commission was proposing changes to bring the electorate within 
the permitted parameters. The existing constituency comprised the Borough 
of Dartford plus the Sevenoaks District Council ward of Hartley and Hodsoll 
Street. The Boundary Commission’s initial proposals were to remove Hartley 

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

and Hodsoll Street ward, which would be moved to the Gravesham 
constituency, and to move the Dartford borough wards of Darenth and 
Wilmington, Sutton-at-Hone & Hawley to the Sevenoaks parliamentary 
constituency. These proposals were currently subject to public consultation 
and had been considered by the Electoral Provisions sub-committee on 8 July 
2021which had formulated the Council’s proposed response which asked the 
Boundary Commission to consider an alternative proposal. This noted the 
strong historic and community links that both borough wards had to Dartford 
but noted that the recently created ward of Wilmington, Sutton-at-Hone & 
Hawley contained two distinct communities which were served by separate 
Parish Council’s. It was therefore suggested that Wilmington, Sutton-at-Hone 
& Hawley ward could be split, with part of that ward transferring to the 
Sevenoaks constituency and  the remaining part being retained in the Dartford 
constituency, along with Darenth ward. The proposed alternative 
arrangements would fall within the Boundary Commission’s electorate 
parameters. 
 
The Leader of the Council said that the proposed changes were unwelcome 
and created confusion and instability for residents but that some change was 
unavoidable because the constituency in its current form exceeded the 
permitted electorate threshold. He stressed that there would be no changes to 
borough boundaries or wards. 
 
The Deputy Leader of the Council, who was also the Chairman of the 
Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee, explained that the Commission was just 
interested in cutting the number of electors so that it was inevitable that some 
parts of the constituency would be moved elsewhere. The removal of Hartley 
& Hodsoll Street ward, which was never part of Dartford historically, could be 
accepted but his concern was to preserve the integrity of Dartford and to keep 
as much of that as possible within the constituency. 
 
The Shadow Leader of the Council said that he had served on the Electoral 
Provisions Sub-committee and did not agree with the proposed submission. 
He said that there were four political groups on the Council but the response 
seemed to only reflect the views of the majority group which was being 
expressed as the view of the entire Council. He noted that it was likely that 
there would have to be further change following another review in eight years’ 
time as a result of the borough’s growing population.    This view was 
supported by another Member who felt that the views of other groups were 
not being fully reflected in the proposed submission. 
 
The Leader of the Council reminded the Shadow Leader that anyone could 
make a submission to the Boundary Commission’s consultation, either as an 
individual or as a group and that the Commission had regard to all the views 
that it received. He couldn’t predict what might change in the next eight years 
or second-guess the future. He encouraged residents and other groups to 
submit their views to the Boundary Commission but said that it was also 
appropriate for the Council to respond to the consultation. He pointed out that 
the response was not driven by seeking to gain a political advantage and, had 
this in fact been the case, this could have been achieved by removing 
Ebbsfleet from the Dartford constituency. Not only did the Council’s proposal 
not do this, it also sought to retain Darenth ward, which was a swing ward, but 
that he considered this area to be an intrinsic part of Dartford. The Council’s 

Page 6Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 26 JULY 2021 
 
 

7 

proposals sought to respect historic ties and balanced communities within the 
Boundary Commission’s parameters. 
 
Another Member stressed the importance for as many people as possible to 
make their views known to the Commission so that it could come to an 
informed decision. He felt that it was particularly important for Councillors, the 
Parishes and other community groups to respond to the consultation.    
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That, following consideration of the Boundary Commission for England’s 
proposals for the Dartford Parliamentary Constituency, the Council submits an 
alternative proposal as put forward by the Electoral Provisions Sub-
committee, as detailed in Appendix B to the report. 
      
 

35. PUBLICATION OF THE DARTFORD LOCAL PLAN  
 
Members were reminded that a special meeting of the Council had been held 
on 1 February 2021, at which the Council agreed the publication of the draft 
Dartford Local Plan to 2037 as a ‘sound’ plan. However, following the 
publication of the plan, Natural England had given notification of a significant 
new proposed Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) in the Borough. This 
meant that it was necessary to make focussed amendments to the Local Plan 
and for it to be published for consultation again.   
 
The General Assembly of the Council was informed that an updated Local 
Plan was essential to maximise local influence over the future of the Borough 
through planning applications, and investment and infrastructure decisions. 
The report outlined the steps and issues ahead which were necessary to 
move the Plan towards adoption by the Council, after Examination by an 
independent Planning Inspector.  Adoption of the Plan was expected to take 
place in 2022, at which point it would come into fully statutory force. 
 
The revised Local Plan had taken into account evidence and the results from 
previous consultations, and a further publication would allow final 
representations to be made on the Plan, as amended. The Plan would not 
normally be expected to change after this point prior to Examination, unless 
further issues of significance were raised which would lead the Council to 
review its position. Members had regard to the revised Local Plan and its 
appendices, including subsequent updates. 
 
The Leader of the Council reminded Members that the Local Plan had been 
subject to detailed consideration by the cross-party Member Working Party, 
chaired by Councillor Hunnisett. He thanked the Working Party and officers 
for their work in producing a high quality and comprehensive Plan and 
supporting documentation. 
 

Page 7 Agenda Item 4



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

Councillor Hunnisett also thanked the Working Group, the Head of Planning 
Services, the Planning Policy Manager and the Planning Policy Team for their 
diligence and commended the revised Local plan to the GAC.  
 
Councillor Davis prefaced his comments on the Local Plan by paying his own 
tribute to Jo Shippam and sending his condolences to her family. He then 
went on to comment on the addition of land at Sandpit Road to the strategic 
extension to employment areas, referenced on page 27 of the agenda. He 
asked that it be noted that this land was an open space, green-field site, 
which bordered the Dartford Marshes and the River Darenth, and that this site 
had never previously been developed. There was however a neighbouring 
site, of some 12,000sqm, where a warehouse would be closing and which 
could be developed. 
 
The Head of Planning Services commented that this was actually a water 
treatment works area which was partially developed, although a significant 
part of the site was still unused. She explained that there had been 
representations by other developers about identifying economic development 
floor-space and that she felt that the site could be retained as ‘employment 
land’. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance observed that if the Local Plan did 
not identify suitable land to meet the Borough’s housing delivery 
requirements, it was open for developers to apply to build housing on any 
piece of land. By having a comprehensive plan, which identified suitable 
residential development opportunities, the Council would be able to oppose 
development that was incompatible with the Plan. 
 
The Leaders of the Independent and Alliance Groups both welcomed the 
Local Plan and the protection that it provided for green spaces and wildlife. 
 
A Member commended the Council for being a leader on housing delivery 
within Kent. He drew attention to long-standing local flooding locations in 
Swanscombe, and whilst recognising that flood prevention was a county 
council function,   wondered whether the Local Plan could reference the need 
to do something to tackle localised flooding in Swanscombe in terms of 
sustainable drainage and flood prevention by inclusion in policy E1, the 
Ebbsfleet and Swanscombe Strategy.    
 
The Head of Planning Services said that it was not possible to address 
flooding in this way, as the Local Plan was a land-use document. But policies 
within the plan could address flooding when development proposals came 
forward and this could offer opportunity to mitigate existing surface water 
flooding issues. However, the flooding referred to, was a matter for Kent 
County Council as local lead flood authority. 
 
A Member from Swanscombe informed Members that he was aware of the 
locations where localised flooding was a problem and that he was working 
with Kent County Council to identify solutions. 
 
The Head of Planning Services explained the implications of the designation 
of the new SSSI by Natural England and the impact that it could have on 
development in Swanscombe. She explained that the board of Natural 

Page 8Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 26 JULY 2021 
 
 

9 

England would be considering the SSSI in November and that the Inspector 
examining the Local Plan could take into account any changes that might 
occur to the boundary of the SSSI, following the Natural England board 
determination, and these could be considered as modifications to the Local 
plan. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the Dartford Local Plan 2017 to 2037 and associated Policies Map 

changes, at Appendices A and C to the report, be published to enable 
written representations;  

 
2. That the Head of Planning Services be granted delegated authority to 

agree final graphics/diagrams/tables/appendices/titles and non-material 
editing of the Plan (Appendix A) and supporting documents prior to 
publication; 

 
3. That the Local Plan Publication Consultation Statement, Sustainability 

Appraisal, Habitats Regulations Assessment, Customer Access Review 
and Local Development Scheme July 2021, at Appendices B and D to G, 
be endorsed; 

4. That the Head of Planning Services be granted delegated authority, in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Local Plan Members’ Working 
Group, to determine whether the representations made on the published 
Plan raise any matters of major significance; 

5. That, should issues of major significance be raised by representations 
that would prevent the published Plan documents proceeding directly to 
submission for ‘Examination in Public’ by an independent Planning 
Inspector, a further report be presented to the General Assembly of the 
Council; 

6. That, in the event that no issues of major significance are raised by 
representations on the published Plan, the Head of Planning Services be 
granted delegated authority to submit the published Local Plan and 
supporting documents to the Secretary of State for ‘Examination in 
Public’; 

7. That the Head of Planning Services be granted delegated authority to 
sign and submit to the Secretary of State, Statement(s) of Common 
Ground on cross-boundary development matters with public bodies, 
including local authorities, where consistent with the Dartford housing 
requirement level and other policies set out in the Local Plan document; 
and  

8. That the Council consider the new Local Plan to be a material 
consideration with weight being accorded to the Plan with regard to the 
stage that it has reached towards adoption, and the degree of unresolved 
objections (if any), on the soundness of particular policies. 

 

Page 9 Agenda Item 4



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

36. POLITICAL GROUPS, REPRESENTATION ON COMMITTEES AND OTHER 
ANCILLARY MATTERS  
 
The General Assembly of the Council received a report which detailed the 
outcome of a review of political proportionality undertaken following the results 
of two Borough Council by-elections held on 6 May 2021, and the subsequent 
formation of a new political group on the Council, the Alliance Group, by two 
existing Councillors. The report also advised Members of the political 
structure of the new group and the appointments made by the political groups 
to fill new committee seats and seats held vacant pending the outcome of the 
by-elections. The report also noted the appointment of Councillor D T Nicklen 
to serve on the Board of the Ebbsfleet Garden City Trust by the Cabinet, and 
the appointment of Councillor T Oliver as Vice-Chairman of the Crime & 
Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee. 
 
The Leader of the Council congratulated Councillor M B Kelly and Councillor 
E E Palmer on their election as the new Councillors for Darenth Ward and 
Wilmington, Sutton-at-Hone & Hawley Wards respectively. 
 
The Leader of the Alliance Group, Councillor L H K Edie expressed the desire 
of the new political group to work constructively with Members and officers. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the General Assembly of the Council notes the Review of Political 
Proportionality and the appointments detailed in the report. 
 

37. REVIEW OF SCHEME OF DELEGATION TO OFFICERS  
 
The General Assembly of the Council received an update on the Scheme of 
Delegations to Officers. The report reminded Members that legislation 
permitted the delegation of the respective functions of the Council and 
Executive to officers. The delegation of functions to officers reduced the 
amount of detailed decision making required to be carried out directly by the 
General Assembly of the Council and by the Cabinet, enabling those bodies 
to focus on strategic policy issues, major matters of substance and 
maintaining oversight of the Council’s activities. The Scheme of Delegations 
detailed the parameters of the delegations and who could exercise the 
delegations. To ensure that the Scheme of Delegations remained fit for 
purpose an annual review was carried out by the Head of Legal Services, in 
conjunction with Directors and Heads of Service. However, in view of recent 
organisational change, and the fact that the delegations had not been 
considered by the Cabinet and GAC for some time, it was considered 
appropriate to present the updated Scheme of Delegations to them for 
approval. 
 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the General Assembly of the Council notes the delegation to Officers 

of executive functions made by the Cabinet on 22 July 2021; and 
 

Page 10Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 26 JULY 2021 
 
 

11 

2. That the General Assembly of the Council, in pursuance of powers under 
Sections 101, 151 and 270 of the Local Government Act 1972 and all other 
powers enabling, continues to delegate to Officers, to the extent of its 
respective powers, the Council functions referred to in the Preamble to the 
Scheme of Delegations to Officers and the Sub-delegations, at Appendices 
A and B to the report.  

 
38. REVIEW OF CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS  

 
The General Assembly of the Council received a report which detailed revised 
Contract Standing Orders following Brexit and the organisational restructure 
of the Council directorates. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That, having considered a summary of the amendments set out in paragraph 
3.8 of the report, the Contract Standing Orders attached at Appendix A to the 
report, be adopted. 
 

39. CAPITAL PROGRAMME INCLUDING PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS - 
OUTTURN 2020/21  
 
The General Assembly of the Council received a report which detailed the 
final pre-audit figures for the 2020/21 Capital Programme, the capital 
resources that were used to fund it and those that remained available to fund 
future investment. There was also an addendum to the report, which had 
been circulated electronically and published on the Council’s web site, which 
contained a revised Appendix C and the revised recommendations contained 
in the addendum.  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the recommendation of the Cabinet to carry forward the total capital budgets set 
out in revised Appendix C to the Addendum, be approved. 
 

40. GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL WORK PLAN 2021/22  
 
The General Assembly of the Council considered its proposed Work Plan for 
2021-22. 
 
The Leader of the Council noted the important work ahead for the Council and 
that it was good to be meeting together. He welcomed back Councillors 
Burrell and Jones following their recent periods of ill health. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Work Plan, attached at Appendix A to the report, be approved as the 
General Assembly of the Council’s Work Plan for the 2021-22 Municipal Year. 
 

Page 11 Agenda Item 4



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

41. ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING ORDER 38: COUNCIL TAX 
HARDSHIP RELIEF SUPPORT SCHEME 2021/22  
 
The General Assembly of the Council received a report, in accordance with 
the requirements of Standing Order 38(2)(b), of delegated action taken by the 
Strategic Director (Internal Services) [now the Chief Officer & Director of 
Corporate Services] under Standing Order 38(2)(a), in consultation with the 
Leader of the Council and the Mayor, to finalise and implement the necessary 
system changes to apply council tax relief from 1 April 2021, in accordance 
with the Council Tax Hardship Relief Support Scheme 2021/22, and to make 
any necessary revisions to the Council Tax Hardship Policy. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the General Assembly of the Council notes the action taken by the 
Strategic Director (Internal Services), in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council and the Mayor,.to finalise and implement the necessary system 
changes to apply council tax relief from 1 April 2021, in accordance with the 
Council Tax Hardship Relief Support Scheme 2021/22, and to make any 
necessary revisions to the Council Tax Hardship Policy. 
 

42. RE-CONVENING OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL  
 
It was moved by Councillor J A Kite, seconded by Councillor C J Shippam and 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That in accordance with Standing Order 11(14) the General Assembly of the 
Council now re-convene. 
 
THE MAYOR, COUNCILLOR R M CURRANS, IN THE CHAIR 
 

43. RESERVED MINUTES  
 
No Cabinet minutes had been reserved for debate. 
 
 
 
The meeting closed at 8.29 pm 

 

 

  
 
 
 

 MAYOR 
 
 

Page 12Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 DECEMBER 2021 

Committee Reports/Revised Member Code of Conduct Reference from Audit Board 1 

REVIEW OF MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT- REFERENCE 
FROM THE AUDIT BOARD 

 
1.  Summary 

 

1.1 To receive a reference from the Audit Board relating to the revised Member 
Code of Conduct and to recommend accordingly. 

 
2. RECOMENDATION 
 
2.1 That, as recommended by the Audit Board, the revised Member Code of 

Conduct, at Appendix A to the report, be adopted. 
 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1 At its meeting on 22 September 2021 [Min.No 19], the Audit Board 

considered the revised Member Code of Conduct, at Appendix A to the 
report.  

 
3.2 The challenge for the Council is to maintain a high ethical standards system, 

which serves the best instincts of councillors, whilst addressing 
unacceptable behaviour by a minority, and guarding against potential 
corporate standards’ risks. 
 

3.3 It is important that the Member Code of Conduct does not amount to just a 
restatement of the Nolan Principles, but specifies what the Principles 
demand in a specific context, in order to guide behaviour. This will avoid 
protracted arguments about what sort of behaviour falls under a particular 
Principle.  

 
3.4 To enhance the Member Code of Conduct’s clarity, consistency and quality, 

and to ensure that important areas such as bullying, harassment, equalities, 
respect and disrepute provisions are included, the Code was reviewed by 
the Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer.  The amendments to the 
Code are as shown in red script at Appendix A to the report.   

 
3.5 Having considered the reasons for the amendments (as set out more fully in 

the report to the Audit Board at Appendix B), the Board recommends to the 
Council, the adoption of the revised Code (in accordance with draft minute 
no.19 at Appendix C). 

 
3.6 Although not forming part of the Member Code of Conduct, the LGA 

supporting guidance should help Members comply with the Member Code 
of Conduct and assist the Council in consistency of approach towards its 
Code. 

 

Page 13 Agenda Item 10a

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct


GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 DECEMBER 2021 

Committee Reports/Revised Member Code of Conduct Reference from Audit Board 2 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

The Council has an ongoing commitment to good corporate and ethical 
governance, which supports effective decision-making and an effective ethical 
governance framework. ‘ 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 
 

Financial Implications None specifically 

Legal Implications As detailed in the body of the report 

Staffing Implications None specifically 

Administrative Implications None specifically 

Risk Assessment Having a Code that does not amount to 
just a restatement of the Principles but 
specifies what the Principles demand in a 
specific context, will guide behaviour and  
avoid protracted arguments about what 
sort of behaviour falls under a particular 
Principle 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 

 
Not applicable 
 

7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – [revised] Member Code of Conduct 
Appendix B- report to the Audit Board 22.09.2021 - Review of Member Code of 
Conduct & Arrangements for Dealing with Code of Conduct Complaints under 
The Localism Act 2011 
Appendix C – Audit Board draft minute no.19 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents 
consulted 

Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information Category 
 

   
Marie Kelly-Stone 
Head of Legal 
Services & Monitoring 
Officer 
 

Legal Services/ 
Corporate Services 

N/A 

 
  

Page 14Agenda Item 10a



APPENDIX A 
 

THE DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL CODE OF CONDUCT  
(adopted on 16 December 2013 - under section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 and as amended from time to 

time) 

Legal/DBC Code of Conduct August 2021 

 
You are a member or co-opted member of Dartford Borough Council and hence you shall have 
regard to the following principles – selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, 
honesty and leadership. The principles were first established by the Nolan Committee and are 
detailed in the LGA’s supporting guidance for members.  
 
Accordingly, when acting in your capacity as a member or co-opted member or as a representative 
of Dartford Borough Council:  
 

1. Selflessness: You must act solely in the public interest and should never improperly confer 
an advantage or disadvantage on any person or act to gain financial or other material 
benefits for yourself, your family, a friend or close associate. 

 
2. Integrity: You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation to outside 

individuals or organisations that might seek to inappropriately influence you in the 
performance of your official duties. You should have regard to the Council’s: 

 

 Probity in Planning Protocol; 

 Probity in Licensing Protocol; 

 Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Protocol. 
 

Failure to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest may be a criminal offence and you 
should also declare any Prejudicial Interest that relates to your public duties and must take 
steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest. You should 
register and declare your interests in a manner conforming to the procedures set out by the 
Council, including Standing Order 19. 

 
3. Objectivity: When carrying out your public duties, you must make all choices, such as 

making public appointments, awarding contracts or recommending individuals for rewards 
or benefits, on merit without discrimination or bias. You will find guidance in the Council’s 
Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy. 

 
4. Accountability: You are accountable for your decisions to the public and you must co-

operate fully with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office. You must not undermine 
public trust in the Council or its governance. 

 
5. Openness: You must be as open as possible about your decisions and actions and the 

decisions and actions of the Council and should be prepared to give reasons for those 
decisions and actions.  Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are 
clear and lawful reasons for doing so or you have the consent of the person authorised to 
give it.   

 
You will on occasions be privy to confidential, exempt1 and sensitive information, such as 
personal information about someone, or commercially sensitive information which, if 
disclosed, might harm the commercial interests of the Council or another person or 
organisation. You should have regard to the guidance in the Council’s Protocol on the 
Release of Confidential Information.  
 

6. Honesty: You should be truthful. 
 

                                            
1 Within the meaning of Part VA Local Government Act 1972 or the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 

to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 

Page 15 Agenda Item 10a

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct


APPENDIX A 
 

THE DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL CODE OF CONDUCT  
(adopted on 16 December 2013 - under section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 and as amended from time to 

time) 

Legal/DBC Code of Conduct August 2021 

7. Leadership: You must promote and support high standards of conduct when serving in 
your public post, in particular as characterised by the requirements in this Code, by 
leadership and example.  
 
You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing 
your office or the Council into disrepute. 
 
You must show respect and consideration for others. You must afford colleagues, 
opponents and officers the same courtesy and consideration you show to others in your 
everyday life. You must not bully or harass any person. You must be mutually respectful 
even if you have personal or political differences. 

 
You should have regard to the Council’s Member/Officer Relations’ Protocol on the Conduct 
between Officers and Members and the Guidance for Members on Outside Bodies, when 
serving on outside bodies.   

 
8. Use of resources & facilities: You must, when using or authorising the use by others of 

the resources of the Council, ensure that such resources are not used improperly for 
political purposes (including party political purposes) and you must have regard to any 
applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local Government Act 1986 
and guidance in the Council’s Protocol on the Use of Council Facilities and Resources by 
Councillors. 

 
9. Equalities: You must carry out your duties and responsibilities with due regard to the need 

to promote equality of opportunity for all people. You must be careful not to act in a way 
which may amount to any of the prohibited forms of discrimination, or to do anything which 
hinders the Council’s fulfilment of its positive duties under the Equality Act 2010. 
 
You will not engage in conduct which might reasonably be seen to demonstrate hostility or 
prejudice based on age, disability, gender reassignment or identity, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex or sexual orientation, 
which shall include but not be limited to incidents involving racism, anti-Semitism, 
Islamophobia or otherwise racist language, sentiments, stereotypes or actions, sexual 
harassment, bullying or any form of intimidation towards another person on the basis of a 
protected characteristic. 
 

 
NOTES 
 
(A) You are directed to the supporting guidance issued by the Local Government Association, 

which should help you comply with the Code. The LGA’s guidance does not form part of the 
Code. 

 
(B) If you need guidance on any matter under the Code, you should seek it from the Monitoring 

Officer or your own legal adviser – but it is entirely your responsibility to comply with the 
provisions of the Code. 

 
 

Page 16Agenda Item 10a

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct


 
AUDIT BOARD 

22 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 
 

 1 

Appendix B 
 
REVIEW OF MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT & ARRANGEMENTS 

FOR DEALING WITH CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS UNDER 
THE LOCALISM ACT 2011  
 

 
1.  Summary 

 

1.1. To consider the amendments respectively, to the Member Code of Conduct 
and the Arrangements for dealing with Code of Conduct Complaints under the 
Localism Act 2011 and to recommend accordingly. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. That, for the reasons detailed in paras. 3.5 to 3.7 of the report, the 

amendments to the Member Code of Conduct, as highlighted in red script, at 
Appendix A, be endorsed and that the General Assembly of the Council be 
recommended to adopt the revised Code. 

 
2.2. That, for the reasons detailed in para. 3.9 of the report, the amendments to the 

Arrangements for dealing with Code of Conduct Complaints under the Localism 
Act 2011, as highlighted in red script, at Appendix B, be endorsed. 
 

 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1 All local authorities are required to have a local councillor code of conduct, 

which sets out general principles of conduct expected of all councillors and 
their specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The fundamental 
aim of the code is to create and maintain public confidence in the role of 
councillor and local government. 

 
3.2 The Local Government Association (LGA) has developed a [national] Model 

Councillor Code of Conduct as a template for councils to adopt in whole 
and/or with local amendments. The LGA has also issued supporting guidance. 

 
3.3 In April 2012, the Government published an illustrative text that local 

authorities could, if they chose, use as a basis for their new local code of 
conduct. The Council opted to use the illustrative text, reflective of the Nolan 
Principles, supported by reference to relevant Council policies and 
procedures. 

 
3.4 The Council adopted its Member Code of Conduct on 16 December 2013 

[Min.No.72]. A recent amendment to the Code provided for the inclusion of the 
International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance’s definition of anti-Semitism in 

Page 17 Agenda Item 10a



 
AUDIT BOARD 

22 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 
 

 2 

‘the broader context of respect, tolerance, inter-faith understanding and 
equality’ [Audit Board 22.07.2020 [Min.No.43]] as recommended by the GAC. 

 
3.5 The LGA’s Model Code has received a lukewarm response from Monitoring 

Officers, in that there are concerns over whether it clearly and correctly 
mirrors the law with respect to councillors acting in a private capacity.  
Further, in 2019, the Committee on Standards in Public Life produced its 
report on ethical standards in local government, demonstrating a need to raise 
standards, improve consistency and give local authority codes of conduct 
‘teeth’, through the introduction of sanctions. The LGA’s Model Code remains 
silent on sanctions (which would require amendments to the Localism Act 
2011 standards regime). 

 
3.6 The challenge for the Council is to maintain a high ethical standards system, 

which serves the best instincts of councillors, whilst addressing unacceptable 
behaviour by a minority and guarding against potential corporate standards’ 
risks.  A system that is solely punitive is not desirable or effective; but in an 
environment with limited external regulation, the Council needs the 
appropriate mechanisms in place to address problems when they arise. 

 
3.7 The LGA Model Code is not mandatory and the flexibilities of the Localism Act 

2011 remain. It is for the Council, with advice from the Audit Board, to 
determine what changes to make to its Member Code of Conduct. 

 
 The Monitoring Officer’s advice to the Board is not to adopt the LGA Model 

Code. However, the opportunity should be taken to review the [Council’s] 
Member Code of Conduct, to enhance its clarity, consistency and quality and 
to ensure that important areas such as bullying, harassment, equalities, 
respect and disrepute provisions are included.   

 
It is important that the Code does not amount to just a restatement of the 
Principles, but specifies what the Principles demand in a specific context, in 
order to guide behaviour. This will avoid protracted arguments about what sort 
of behaviour falls under a particular Principle1. 
 
The amendments to the Code are as detailed in red script, at Appendix A to 
the report. 

 
3.8 LGA supporting guidance – The LGA has issued guidance to support the 

application of its Model Code.  
 
Councillors have a personal responsibility to ensure they understand their 
obligations under the [Council’s] Member Code of Conduct and that they act in 
a way which shows that they are committed to meeting the high standards of 
conduct that are expected of them as a councillor. 
 

                                            
1 Local Government Ethical Standards - A Review by the Committee on Standards in Public Life- January 2019 

 

Page 18Agenda Item 10a

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct


 
AUDIT BOARD 

22 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 
 

 3 

The LGA’s supporting guidance explains, with numerous examples, the 
constraints councillors are expected to act within.  Although not forming part of 
the Member Code of Conduct, the LGA’s supporting guidance should help 
Members comply with the Council’s Code and assist the Council in 
consistency of approach towards its Code. 

 
3.9 Arrangements for dealing with complaints about breaches of the 

Member Code of Conduct:  Dealing with complaints about Member Code of 
Conduct breaches can take up a disproportionate amount of the Monitoring 
Officer’s time. 
 
The Local Government Ethical Standards report included a best practice 
recommendation ‘Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public 
interest test against which allegations are filtered’. 
 
The Monitoring Officer is concerned about the number of low-level complaints 
generated by a small number of parish councils in 2020/21.  In these 
challenging times of public austerity, it is increasingly important to ensure the 
effective use of the Monitoring Officer’s resources and that any investigation 
undertaken is proportionate and required in the wider public interest.   
 
Further, a number of court cases have determined the following: 
 

 In R (Harvey) v Ledbury Town Council [2018] EWHC 1151 (Admin), the 
court considered local authority staff grievance procedures and their 
relationship with the code of conduct regime under the Localism Act 2011. 
The court held that an authority cannot run a grievance procedure 
alongside, or as an alternative to, a standards regime procedure under the 
2011 Act and that complaints regarding a councillor's conduct have to be 
dealt with under the authority's standards arrangements and not through 
staff grievance procedures; 

 In R (Robinson) v Buckinghamshire Council (2021) EWHC 2014 (Admin), 
the court reiterates that a member’s freedom of expression attracts 
enhanced protection when the comments are political in nature. Therefore, 
the criticism of opposition ideas and opinion is considered to be part of 
democratic debate and it is unlikely that such comments would be 
considered to be a breach of the Member Code of Conduct. This would not 
however include threats to an officer’s position or wellbeing or where 
comments are highly offensive or outrageous. 

 
The Monitoring Officer has a wide discretion as to whether to begin or 
continue an investigation.  A number of public interest factors should be 
taken into account, when deciding to investigate. 
 
In accordance with the above, and the proposed amendments to the Member 
Code of Conduct, the current arrangements should be clarified and 
strengthened to ensure a robust, effective, and comprehensive system for 
dealing with complaints about breaches of the Member Code of Conduct. 

Page 19 Agenda Item 10a



 
AUDIT BOARD 

22 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 
 

 4 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 

 
The Council has an ongoing commitment to good corporate and ethical 
governance, which supports effective decision-making and an effective ethical 
governance framework. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications As discussed in the body of the report 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment Having a Code that does not amount to 
just a restatement of the Principles but 
specifies what the Principles demand 
in a specific context, will guide 
behaviour and  avoid protracted 
arguments about what sort of 
behaviour falls under a particular 
Principle 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 

 
Not applicable 
 

7. Appendices 
 
Appendix A – [Amended] Member Code of Conduct 
Appendix B – [Amended] Arrangements for dealing with Code of Conduct 
Complaints under the Localism Act 2011 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents consulted Date / 

File Ref 
Report Author Section and 

Directorate 
Exempt 

Information 
Category 

 
   

Marie Kelly-Stone 
Head of Legal Services & 
Monitoring Officer 
 

Legal Services/ 
Corporate 
Services 
Directorate 

N/A 

 

Page 20Agenda Item 10a



APPENDIX A 
 

THE DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL CODE OF CONDUCT  
(adopted on 16 December 2013 - under section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 and as amended from time to 

time) 

Legal/DBC Code of Conduct August 2021 

 
You are a member or co-opted member of Dartford Borough Council and hence you shall have 
regard to the following principles – selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, 
honesty and leadership. The principles were first established by the Nolan Committee and are 
detailed in the LGA’s supporting guidance for members.  
 
Accordingly, when acting in your capacity as a member or co-opted member or as a representative 
of Dartford Borough Council:  
 

1. Selflessness: You must act solely in the public interest and should never improperly confer 
an advantage or disadvantage on any person or act to gain financial or other material 
benefits for yourself, your family, a friend or close associate. 

 
2. Integrity: You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation to outside 

individuals or organisations that might seek to inappropriately influence you in the 
performance of your official duties. You should have regard to the Council’s: 

 

 Probity in Planning Protocol; 

 Probity in Licensing Protocol; 

 Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Protocol. 
 

Failure to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest may be a criminal offence and you 
should also declare any Prejudicial Interest that relates to your public duties and must take 
steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest. You should 
register and declare your interests in a manner conforming to the procedures set out by the 
Council, including Standing Order 19. 

 
3. Objectivity: When carrying out your public duties, you must make all choices, such as 

making public appointments, awarding contracts or recommending individuals for rewards 
or benefits, on merit without discrimination or bias. You will find guidance in the Council’s 
Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy. 

 
4. Accountability: You are accountable for your decisions to the public and you must co-

operate fully with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office. You must not undermine 
public trust in the Council or its governance. 

 
5. Openness: You must be as open as possible about your decisions and actions and the 

decisions and actions of the Council and should be prepared to give reasons for those 
decisions and actions.  Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are 
clear and lawful reasons for doing so or you have the consent of the person authorised to 
give it.   

 
You will on occasions be privy to confidential, exempt1 and sensitive information, such as 
personal information about someone, or commercially sensitive information which, if 
disclosed, might harm the commercial interests of the Council or another person or 
organisation. You should have regard to the guidance in the Council’s Protocol on the 
Release of Confidential Information.  
 

6. Honesty: You should be truthful. 
 

                                            
1 Within the meaning of Part VA Local Government Act 1972 or the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 

to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 

Page 21 Agenda Item 10a

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct


APPENDIX A 
 

THE DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL CODE OF CONDUCT  
(adopted on 16 December 2013 - under section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 and as amended from time to 

time) 

Legal/DBC Code of Conduct August 2021 

7. Leadership: You must promote and support high standards of conduct when serving in 
your public post, in particular as characterised by the requirements in this Code, by 
leadership and example.  
 
You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing 
your office or the Council into disrepute. 
 
You must show respect and consideration for others. You must afford colleagues, 
opponents and officers the same courtesy and consideration you show to others in your 
everyday life. You must not bully or harass any person. You must be mutually respectful 
even if you have personal or political differences. 

 
You should have regard to the Council’s Member/Officer Relations’ Protocol on the Conduct 
between Officers and Members and the Guidance for Members on Outside Bodies, when 
serving on outside bodies.   

 
8. Use of resources & facilities: You must, when using or authorising the use by others of 

the resources of the Council, ensure that such resources are not used improperly for 
political purposes (including party political purposes) and you must have regard to any 
applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local Government Act 1986 
and guidance in the Council’s Protocol on the Use of Council Facilities and Resources by 
Councillors. 

 
9. Equalities: You must carry out your duties and responsibilities with due regard to the need 

to promote equality of opportunity for all people. You must be careful not to act in a way 
which may amount to any of the prohibited forms of discrimination, or to do anything which 
hinders the Council’s fulfilment of its positive duties under the Equality Act 2010. 
 
You will not engage in conduct which might reasonably be seen to demonstrate hostility or 
prejudice based on age, disability, gender reassignment or identity, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex or sexual orientation, 
which shall include but not be limited to incidents involving racism, anti-Semitism, 
Islamophobia or otherwise racist language, sentiments, stereotypes or actions, sexual 
harassment, bullying or any form of intimidation towards another person on the basis of a 
protected characteristic. 
 

 
NOTES 
 
(A) You are directed to the supporting guidance issued by the Local Government Association, 

which should help you comply with the Code. The LGA’s guidance does not form part of the 
Code. 

 
(B) If you need guidance on any matter under the Code, you should seek it from the Monitoring 

Officer or your own legal adviser – but it is entirely your responsibility to comply with the 
provisions of the Code. 

 
 

Page 22Agenda Item 10a

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct


  APPENDIX B 
 

1 
Legal/DBC Member Code of Conduct/Arrangements August 2021 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DEALING WITH CODE OF CONDUCT 
COMPLAINTS UNDER SECTION 28 LOCALISM ACT 2011 

1. Making a complaint 

A complaint alleging a breach of the Code of Conduct by an elected member or 
co-opted member of either: 
 

 Dartford Borough Council; or  

 one of the Parish/Town Councils within the Borough of Dartford, 
 
(the Authority)  
 
must be made in writing and addressed to the Monitoring Officer, preferably 
using the Complaint Form. 
 
It is helpful if the complainant specifies which aspect of the Code of Conduct 
they believe has been breached. 
 

 The complainant will be required to provide evidence, which supports the 
complaint, including where applicable, minutes of meetings, correspondence, 
contemporaneous notes or e-mails. If there are other individuals who have 
witnessed the alleged breach, the complainant should let the Monitoring Officer 
know who they are. This latter point is especially important, as the Monitoring 
Officer only has one person’s word against another’s.  In the absence of 
independent confirmation, the Monitoring Officer may not be able to conclude 
with sufficient certainty, that there is enough evidence to warrant pursuing the 
complaint. 

 
Receipt of the complaint will normally be acknowledged by the Monitoring 
Officer, within 7 working days. The member the subject of the complaint will be 
provided with a summary of the complaint. 

2. Consultation with the Independent Person 

(a) The Monitoring Officer will seek and take into account the views of the 
Independent Person before she decides that an allegation should be 
investigated; and 

 
(b) In circumstances other than a decision to investigate, the Monitoring 

Officer may seek and take into account the views of the Independent 
Person. 

Page 23 Agenda Item 10a

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/555638/Member-Code-of-Conduct-Complaint-Form-June-2021.pdf


  APPENDIX B 
 

2 
Legal/DBC Member Code of Conduct/Arrangements August 2021 

 
3. Preliminary tests – two stages 

 
The Monitoring Officer will assess the complaint, using the following criteria: 
 
Legal jurisdiction criteria test: 

(a) Did the alleged conduct occur before the adoption of the Code of 
Conduct? 

(b) Was the person complained of a member of the Borough or Parish 
Council at the time of the alleged conduct? 

(c) Was the person complained of acting in an official capacity at the time of 
the alleged conduct? 

(d) Did the alleged conduct occur when the person complained of was 
acting as a member of another authority? 

(e) If the facts could be established as a matter of evidence, could the 
alleged conduct be capable of a breach of the Code of Conduct (i.e. is 
there direct evidence to establish that a breach actually took place?)1; 

(f) The complaint is about dissatisfaction with the Borough or Parish 
Council’s decisions, policies and priorities, etc. 

Members are entitled to privacy in their personal lives and the provisions of the 
Code of Conduct only apply to members when they are acting as a member or 
co-opted member or as a representative of their Authority.  

When reaching a decision as to whether the Code of Conduct applies to a 
member at a particular time, the Monitoring Officer will have regard to the 
particular circumstances and the nature of the conduct at that time. 

If the complaint fails one or more of the legal jurisdiction tests, it will be rejected.  
i.e. ‘Dismissed at Preliminary Stage (Legal Jurisdiction Criteria Test not met)’. 

If the complaint satisfies the legal jurisdiction test, it will be assessed against the 
local assessment criteria test below.  

Local assessment criteria test: 

(a) The complaint is a ‘repeat complaint2’, unless supported by new or 
further evidence substantiating or indicating that the complaint is 
exceptionally serious or significant; 

(b) The complaint is anonymous; 
(c) No or insufficient information/evidence to substantiate the complaint has 

been submitted by the complainant;  
(d) The complaint is malicious, trivial, politically motivated or ‘tit-for-tat’; 
(e) The complainant is unreasonably persistent, malicious and/or vexatious; 
(f) The alleged misconduct happened more than 3 months ago; 
(g) The complaint is relatively minor and/or dealing with the complaint would 

have a disproportionate effect on both public money and officers’ and 
Members’ time and not be in the public interest; 

(h) The circumstances have changed so much that there would be little 
benefit arising from an investigation or other action;  

                                                 
1 The level of proof that is required by the Monitoring Officer is on the balance of probabilities 
2 Persistent ‘repeat complaints’ is conduct which in itself, may be investigated as a potential breach of the Code of 
Conduct 

Page 24Agenda Item 10a



  APPENDIX B 
 

3 
Legal/DBC Member Code of Conduct/Arrangements August 2021 

(i) The complaint has been the subject of an investigation or other action 
and there is nothing more to be gained by further action being taken; 

(j) The complaint is such that it is unlikely that an investigation will be able 
to come to a firm conclusion on the matter, e.g. where there is no firm 
evidence on the matter; 

(k) The complaint is about a deceased person; 
(l) The complaint is about a person who is no longer a Borough or 

Parish/Town Councillor or Co-opted Member. 

If one or more of the local assessment criteria applies to the complaint, the 
complaint will be rejected i.e. ‘Dismissed at Preliminary Stage (Local 
Assessment Criteria Test not met)’. 

The Monitoring Officer may consult with the Independent Person on the 
decision to reject the complaint.  If rejected, the complainant and the member 
who is the subject of the complaint will be notified of the decision and the 
member will be provided with a summary of the complaint within 10 working 
days.   

4. Notification to Member of complaint  

If the complaint is not rejected at the preliminary test stage, the Monitoring 
Officer will inform the member who is the subject of the complaint, of the details 
of the complaint and request initial views on the complaint, within 10 working 
days.   

5. Additional information 

The Monitoring Officer may ask the complainant, the member who is the subject 
of the complaint and if applicable, the Parish/Town Clerk for additional 
information, at any stage of the process, to assist in deciding how to deal with 
the complaint. 

6. Initial assessment – following two-stage test process 

Having undertaken the two stage test (see section 3 above), the Monitoring 
Officer will categorise the complaint as either:- 

 No further action; 

 Appears that the alleged breach may constitute an offence under 
criminal law (includes allegations related to disclosable pecuniary 
interests); 

 Informal resolution; 

 Referral back to the Parish/Town Council for resolution, within specific 
parameters; 

 Mediation with the Leader of the Member’s Political Group; 

 Mediation through the Panel of Political Group Leaders; 

 Requiring a formal investigation, which may lead to a meeting of the 
Hearing Panel. 

The Monitoring Officer will seek and take account of the views of the 
Independent Person, where she decides to formally investigate. 

On other categorisations of the complaint, the Monitoring Officer may consult 
with the Independent Person. 

Page 25 Agenda Item 10a



  APPENDIX B 
 

4 
Legal/DBC Member Code of Conduct/Arrangements August 2021 

7.  No further action 

The Monitoring Officer will inform the complainant and the member who is the 
subject of the complaint of her decision. 

8. Relating to a Disposable Pecuniary Interest, where it appears that the 
alleged breach may constitute an offence under criminal law 

The Monitoring Officer will refer the matter to Kent Police and notify the 
complainant and the member who is the subject of the complaint. 

9. Informal/local resolution 

The aim of informal/local resolution is to resolve matters at an early stage, to 
avoid the unnecessary escalation of the situation, which may damage personal 
relationships within the Authority and the Authority’s reputation. The process 
may result in an apology being offered. 

Informal resolution is suited to low-level complaints, which are made by a 
member against a fellow member. Typically, these complaints will be about 
alleged failures to show respect and consideration for others as required. Such 
complaints are more appropriately resolved informally and locally, in order to 
speed up the complaints process and to ensure that the Monitoring Officer’s 
resources are devoted to the investigation of serious complaints. 

The Monitoring Officer will meet/correspond with the member who is the subject 
of the complaint and seek an informal resolution – e.g. apology, training etc.   

The Monitoring Officer may consult with the Independent Person on the 
proposed informal resolution.  The Monitoring Officer will confirm the informal 
resolution with the member who is the subject of the complaint and seek their 
agreement in writing.  If the member accepts the informal resolution, the 
Monitoring Officer will inform the complainant. If the member belongs to a 
political group, the Monitoring Officer will inform the Group Leader of the 
resolution.  

If the member does not accept the proposed informal resolution, or having 
accepted the informal resolution, fails to comply, the complaint will be escalated 
to the Mediation stage.  The complainant will be notified accordingly. 

10. Mediation with the Leader of the Member’s Political Group  

The Monitoring Officer will request the member who is the subject of the 
complaint, to attend a meeting with her and the Leader of the member’s Political 
Group.  The Monitoring Officer will consult with the Independent Person on her 
proposed resolution.  The Monitoring Officer will inform the complainant and the 
member who is the subject of the complaint, of the mediation decision. 

The mediation meeting will be held in private, with the outcome being reported 
to the Political Group Leaders for information.   

Page 26Agenda Item 10a



  APPENDIX B 
 

5 
Legal/DBC Member Code of Conduct/Arrangements August 2021 

11. Mediation through the Panel of Political Group Leaders 

The Monitoring Officer will request the member who is the subject of the 
complaint, to attend a meeting of the Panel of Political Group Leaders. The 
Monitoring Officer will consult with the Independent Person on the proposed 
resolution.  The Monitoring Officer will inform the complainant of the decision 
and the member who is the subject of the complaint, of the mediation decision. 

Whilst the meeting will be in private, the outcome of the meeting will be reported 
to the Audit Board for information.   

12. Bullying/harassment allegations 

When dealing with allegations of bullying3 and harassment4, the Monitoring 
Officer will consider both the perspective of the alleged victim and whether the 
member complained of intended their actions to be bullying or harassment. She 
will also consider whether the individual was reasonably entitled to believe they 
were being bullied or harassed.  

Bullying is often carried out face to face, but increasingly, it can be carried out in 
print or using electronic media. The standards of behaviour expected are the 
same, whether expressed verbally or in writing. 

Harassment can include repeated attempts to impose unwanted 
communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could be expected 
to cause distress or fear in any reasonable person. 

When considering such complaints, the Monitoring Officer will take into account 
the specific circumstances of the case, whether there was an attempt to 
intimidate or undermine and the content and context of what has been said. 

‘Abuse’ is an inflammatory word, which is often misunderstood and misused. 
Therefore, unless the comments are highly offensive or outrageous, it is unlikely 
that the Monitoring Officer will investigate complaints made in this context. 

13. Political expression5 

The High Court in Sanders v Kingston [2005] EWHC 1145 (Admin) considered 
that it had to ask itself three questions in deciding the legality of a finding as to 
whether a councillor had breached a local authority's code of conduct by not 
treating others with respect and could reasonably be regarded as bringing their 
office into disrepute: 
 
• was the decision-maker entitled as a matter of fact to conclude that the 

conduct breached the code of conduct? 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
3 Characterised as offensive, intimidating, malicious, insulting, or humiliating behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power 

that can make a person feel vulnerable, upset, undermined, humiliated, denigrated or threatened 
4 Conduct that causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on at least two 

occasions (Protection from Harassment Act 1997) 
5 Robinson, R (On the Application Of) v Buckinghamshire Council [2021] EWHC 2014 (Admin) 

Page 27 Agenda Item 10a

https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2021/2014.html


  APPENDIX B 
 

6 
Legal/DBC Member Code of Conduct/Arrangements August 2021 

• if so, was the finding in itself or the imposition of a sanction a breach of 
Article 106? 

 
• if so, was the restriction justified under Article 10(2)7? 
 
This test was adopted in R (Calver) v Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 
[2012] EWHC 1172 (Admin), where the High Court found that a decision that a 
councillor had breached a local authority's code of conduct by commenting on 
other councillors online was a disproportionate interference with the councillor's 
rights under Article 10. 
 
A member’s freedom of expression attracts enhanced protection8 when the 
comments are political in nature. Therefore, the criticism of opposition ideas and 
opinion is considered to be part of democratic debate and it is unlikely that such 
comments would be considered to be a breach of the Code of Conduct. This 
would not however include threats to an officer’s position or wellbeing. 

 
‘Political’ comments are not confined to those made within the Authority’s 
meetings and for example, include comments members may generally make on 
their Authority’s policies or about their political opponents.  Therefore, unless 
the comments are highly offensive or outrageous, it is unlikely that the 
Monitoring Officer will investigate complaints made in this context. 

14. Grievance procedures 

The High Court in the case of R (Harvey) v Ledbury Town Council considered 
local authority staff grievance procedures and their relationship with the code of 
conduct regime under the Localism Act 2011. The court held that a council 
cannot run a grievance procedure alongside, or as an alternative to, a 
standards regime procedure under the Localism Act 2011, and that complaints 
regarding a councillor's conduct have to be dealt with under the authority's 
standards arrangements. 

15. Training 

Where the member has not undertaken training relating to Code of Conduct 
matters, they are not able to use this as a defence, where a complaint alleging 
a breach of the Code is made against them. 

16. Investigation  

It is important to ensure the effective use of the Monitoring Officer’s resources 
and that any investigation undertaken is proportionate and required in the wider 
public interest (see ‘public interest factors’ below). 

The Monitoring Officer has a wide discretion as to whether to begin or continue 
an investigation. The two-stage test referred to in section 3 above provides 
clarity on how that discretion will usually be exercised and to secure a degree of 
consistency and certainty in the decisions that are reached. 

If the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person decides 
that the complaint merits formal investigation, she will appoint and brief an 

                                                 
6 European Convention on Human Rights 
7 Supra 
8 Supra 

Page 28Agenda Item 10a



  APPENDIX B 
 

7 
Legal/DBC Member Code of Conduct/Arrangements August 2021 

Investigating Officer to undertake the investigation, and inform the complainant, 
the member who is the subject of the complaint and if applicable, the Clerk to 
the Parish/Town Council of the appointment.   

The Investigating Officer will provide a confidential draft report to the Monitoring 
Officer. 

When the Monitoring Officer has reviewed and accepted the Investigating 
Officer’s confidential draft report, it will be sent to the complainant and the 
member who is the subject of the complaint on a confidential basis, requesting 
comments within 10 working days. 
 
A member who is the subject of an investigation is required to comply with the 
investigation process. Not to do so, may itself be a breach of the Code of 
Conduct. 
 
Once comments are received, the Monitoring Officer will discuss these with the 
Investigating Officer and a final report will be agreed. 
 
Public interest factors when deciding to investigate 

Some of the public interest factors that the Monitoring Officer will consider are 
set out below. These factors are not exhaustive and the weight to be attached 
to each will vary according to the facts and merits of each case: 

 

 the seriousness of the breach; 

 whether the member deliberately sought personal gain for themselves or 
another person at the public expense; 

 whether the circumstances of the breach are such that a member has 
misused a position of trust or authority and caused harm to a person; 

 whether the breach was motivated by any form of discrimination against the 
victim’s ethnic or national origin, gender, disability, age, religion or belief, 
sexual orientation or gender identity; 

 whether there is evidence of previous similar behaviour on the part of the 
member; 

 whether the investigation is required to maintain public confidence in 
elected members of the Authority; 

 whether investigation is a proportionate response, i.e. whether it is likely 
that the breach would lead to a sanction being applied to the member;  

 whether the use of resources in carrying out an investigation or hearing by 
the Hearing Panel would be regarded as excessive when weighed against 
any likely sanction. 

 
17. Hearing Panel 

 
The Monitoring Officer will reflect on and analyse the evidence gathered by the 
Investigating Officer and draw conclusions as to whether it is suggestive that a 
breach of the Code of Conduct has occurred.  

Following the submission of the Investigating Officer’s report, if the Monitoring 
Officer concludes that the case needs to be presented to a Hearing Panel, she 
will consult with the Independent Person.   

Where appropriate, the Monitoring Officer will arrange for a Hearing Panel to 
meet and consider the allegation and report of the Investigating Officer and to 

Page 29 Agenda Item 10a



  APPENDIX B 
 

8 
Legal/DBC Member Code of Conduct/Arrangements August 2021 

determine the outcome of the complaint. The Hearing Panel will have regard to 
its Procedure for Conducting a Hearing. 

The authority to make a determination of breach rests solely with the Hearing 
Panel. 
 
Whilst the hearing will be in private, the outcome of the hearing will be a public 
record and reported to the Audit Board for information.   

18. Sanctions 

Where a member has been found by the Hearing Panel to have breached the 
Code of Conduct, the Hearing Panel may apply any one or more of the 
sanctions below:- 

(a) Recommending to the Borough or Parish/Town Council that the member be 
issued with a formal censure (i.e. the issue of an unfavourable opinion or 
judgement or reprimand); 

(b) Recommending to the member’s Group Leader, or Parish/Town Council, or 
in the case of a ungrouped Member, to the Borough or Parish/Town Council 
that they be removed from committees or sub-committees of the Council; 

(c) Recommending to the Leader of the Borough Council that the member be 
removed from the Cabinet or removed from particular Portfolio 
responsibilities; 

(d) Instructing the Monitoring Officer, or recommending to the Parish/Town 
Council, to arrange training for the member; 

(e) Recommending to the Borough or Parish/Town Council that the member be 
removed from one or more outside appointments to which they have been 
appointed or nominated by the Borough or Parish/Town Council; 

(f) Recommending to the Borough or Parish/Town Council that it withdraws 
facilities provided to the member by the Council, such as a computer, 
website and/or email and internet access;   

(g) Recommending to the Borough or Parish/Town Council the exclusion of the 
member from the Borough or Parish/Town Council’s offices or other 
premises, with the exception of meeting rooms as necessary for attending 
Borough or Parish/Town Council committee and sub- committee meetings;  

(h) Instructing the Monitoring Officer to apply the informal resolution process; 
(i) Sending a formal letter to the member; 
(j) Recommending to the Borough or Parish/Town Council to issue a press 

release or other form of publicity. 

19. Dealing with the recommendation(s) 
 

Where recommendation(s) are made to the Borough or Parish/Town Council, 
the Borough or Parish/Town Council will note the recommendation without 
discussion (which will be deemed to have been agreed as recommended)9.  

20. Determination – Hearing Panel 

The complainant and the member who is the subject of the complaint will be 
informed of the Hearing Panel’s determination. The decision notice will be 
published on the Borough Council’s website and reported to the Audit Board.   

                                                 
9 R v Brent LBC ex p. Gladbaum and Wood (The Times 14.12.1989)  

Page 30Agenda Item 10a



  APPENDIX B 
 

9 
Legal/DBC Member Code of Conduct/Arrangements August 2021 

21. Appeal and complaints 

There is no right of appeal for the complainant or the member who is the subject 
of the complaint against decisions of the Monitoring Officer, the determination of 
the Hearing Panel, or of the outcomes through mediation, with the Leader of the 
Member’s Political Group or the Panel of Political Group Leaders. 

An application to the court for judicial review may be made on the grounds that 
the Monitoring Officer's decision or Hearing Panel's determination, is illegal, 
unfair, irrational and/or not proportional. 

22. Ombudsman 
 
The Ombudsman does not offer a right of appeal against the Monitoring 
Officer’s decision or Hearing Panel’s determination, but it can consider if there 
was administrative fault in the way the Borough Council considered the 
complaint. The Ombudsman will only investigate complaints if there is sufficient 
injustice to warrant its involvement or it considers it in the public interest to do 
so. 
 

23. Revision of these Arrangements 

 The Audit Board may by resolution agree to amend these Arrangements and 
has delegated to the Monitoring Officer and the Hearing Panel the right to 
depart from these Arrangements, where considered expedient to do so in order 
to secure the effective and fair consideration of any matter. 

 

 
Revised and adopted by the GAC - 16 December 2013 – Min.No.75 
Revised and adopted by the Audit Board – 25 June 2014 – Min.No.8 
Revised and adopted by the Audit Board – 24 October 2018 – Min.No.23 

Page 31 Agenda Item 10a



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



APPENDIX C 
 

DRAFT MINUTE FROM THE MEETING OF THE AUDIT BOARD HELD ON 22 
SEPTEMBER 2021  
 
 

19. REVIEW OF MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT & ARRANGEMENTS FOR DEALING 
WITH CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS UNDER THE LOCALISM ACT 2011  
 
The report from the Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer, asked Members 
to consider the respective amendments to the Member Code of Conduct, and the 
Arrangements for dealing with Code of Conduct Complaints under the Localism Act 
2011, as set out in Appendices A and B to her report.  
 
Her recommendations to the Board (for the reasons summarised in paras 3.5 to 3.7 
and 3.9 of the report), was that the Council not adopt the Local Government 
Association (national) Model Code of Conduct. 
 
The LGA model had received a lukewarm response from Monitoring Officers nationally 
when published, in that there were concerns over whether it clearly and correctly 
mirrored the law with respect to councillors acting in a private capacity. 
 
The challenge for the Council was to maintain a high ethical standards system, which 
served the best instincts of councillors, whilst addressing unacceptable behaviour by 
a minority, and guarding against potential corporate standards’ risks. 
 
It was important that the Council’s [Member] Code of Conduct did not amount to just 
a restatement of the Nolan Principles, but specified what the Principles demanded in 
a specific context, in order to guide behaviour. This would avoid protracted arguments 
about what sort of behaviour fell under a particular Principle. The opportunity should 
be taken to review the Code (as amended in red script at Appendix A), to enhance its 
clarity, consistency and quality, and to ensure that important areas such as bullying, 
harassment, equalities, respect and disrepute provisions were included.   
 
The LGA had issued guidance to support the application of its Model Code.  
Although not forming part of the Council’s Member Code of Conduct, the LGA’s 
supporting guidance should help Members comply with the Council’s Code and assist 
the Council in consistency of approach towards its Code. 
 
A number of low-level complaints generated by a small number of parish councils in 
2020/21 had caused concern. In these challenging times of public austerity, it was 
increasingly important to ensure the effective use of the Monitoring Officer’s resources, 
and that any investigation undertaken was proportionate and required in the wider 
public interest. 
 
Under the Arrangements for dealing with Member Code of Conduct complaints, the 
Monitoring Officer had a wide discretion as to whether to begin or continue an 
investigation.  A number of public interest factors should be taken into account when 
deciding to investigate. Recent case law had reiterated that a councillor’s freedom of 
expression attracted enhanced protection when the comments were political in nature. 

Page 33 Agenda Item 10a



Therefore, the criticism of opposition ideas and opinion was considered part of 
democratic debate and it was unlikely that such comments would be considered a 
breach of the Member Code of Conduct. This would not however include threats to an 
officer’s position or wellbeing or where comments are highly offensive or outrageous. 
 
In response to subsequent questions from the Chairman, the Head of Legal Services 
& Monitoring Officer confirmed that:  
 

 The proposed amendments to the Code and Arrangements [as set out in red in 
Appendices A and B to the report], would be advised to all Borough Councillors 
and to Parish/Town Councillors (through the respective Clerks); 
 

 Member training was proposed on the changes to the Code and Arrangements, 
including guidance on how to avoid problems associated with social media 
interactions. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That, for the reasons detailed in paras. 3.5 to 3.7 of the report, the amendments 
to the Member Code of Conduct, as highlighted in red script, at Appendix A, be 
endorsed and that the General Assembly of the Council be recommended to adopt 
the revised Code; 
 

2. That, for the reasons detailed in para. 3.9 of the report, the amendments to the 
Arrangements for dealing with Code of Conduct Complaints under the Localism 
Act 2011, as highlighted in red script, at Appendix B, be endorsed. 

 
 

Page 34Agenda Item 10a



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 DECEMBER 2021 

Committee Reports/Revised Member Code of Conduct Reference from Audit Board 1 

DEED OF INDEMNITY FOR MEMBERS AND OFFICERS – 
REVIEW - REFERENCE FROM THE CABINET 

 
1.  Summary 

 

1.1 To receive a reference from Cabinet relating to the adoption of revised 
Deed of Indemnity for Members and Officers, following a review. 

 
2. RECOMENDATION 
 
2.1 That, as recommended by Cabinet, the Deed of Indemnity for Members 

and Officers, at Appendix A to the report, be adopted. 
 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1 At its meeting on 28 October 2021 [Min.No 65], Cabinet considered a 

revised Deed of Indemnity for Members and Officers (at Appendix A to this 
report), following a review of the existing indemnity provisions.   

 
3.2 Since the Council originally adopted its Indemnity for Members and Officers 

in 2007, there has been an increasing propensity for parties to litigate in 
order to recover losses which could lead to some individuals becoming 
concerned about any personal liability that might attach to the performance 
of their duties. It is not considered to be in the Council’s interest if potentially 
suitable candidates are deterred from seeking election to the Council or 
seeking appointment to responsible posts supported by the Council because 
of concerns over possible personal liabilities. It is therefore recommended 
that the Council should provide as wide an indemnity in respect of such risks 
as it lawfully can, to both Members and Officers, including Independent 
Members and Independent Persons. The indemnity will only apply where the 
Member or Officer acts responsibly and in good faith.  
 

3.3 Cabinet endorsed the revised Deed of Indemnity at its meeting on 28 
October 2021 and recommended its adoption to the General Assembly of 
the Council (see  Appendix B).  

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

The Council has an ongoing commitment to good corporate and ethical 
governance, which supports effective decision-making and to encouraging 
participation in the democratic process from all backgrounds. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 
 

Financial Implications The Deed of Indemnity is supplemented by 
insurance cover, the cost of which is 
covered within the Council’s existing 

Page 35 Agenda Item 10b



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 DECEMBER 2021 

Committee Reports/Revised Member Code of Conduct Reference from Audit Board 2 

insurance budgets. 

Legal Implications As detailed in the body of the report 

Staffing Implications None. 

Administrative Implications None. 

Risk Assessment As detailed in the Cabinet report attached 
at Appendix A. 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 

 
Not applicable 
 

7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Report to Cabinet on 28 October 2021 
Appendix B – Draft Cabinet minute No.65 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents 
consulted 

Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information Category 
 

   
Alan Twyman, 
Democratic Services 
Manager  

Democratic Services/ 
Corporate Services 

N/A 

 
  

Page 36Agenda Item 10b



 
CABINET 

28 OCTOBER 2021 
 

PMKS/Committee/Report to Cabinet- Deed of Indemnity 1 

Appendix A 
 
DEED OF INDEMNITY FOR MEMBERS AND OFFICERS – REVIEW 
 

 

 
1.  Summary 

 

1.1. To consider the Deed of Indemnity for Members and Officers and to 
recommend accordingly. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 

 
2.1 That, the Deed of Indemnity for Members and Officers, at Appendix A to the 

report, be endorsed and recommended to the General Assembly of the Council 
for adoption. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1 The Local Authorities (Indemnities for Member and Officers) Order 2004 gives 
a specific power for authorities to grant indemnities and/or take out insurance 
to cover the potential liability of councillors and officers in a wide range of 
circumstances. Local authorities have discretion to decide whether to use the 
powers and to decide the extent of such indemnities.  

 
3.2 The Council’s Indemnity for Members and Officers was originally adopted by 

the GAC on 23 April 2007 [Min.No.128].  
 
3.3 Since the Indemnity was last considered by the Council, there has been an 

increasing propensity of parties to litigate in order to recover losses. Not 
surprisingly, individuals have become concerned about any personal liability 
that may be attached to them from performing their duties. 

 
Further, in recent case law1 a local authority was criticised by the court for not 
applying the correct interpretation of its indemnity policy. The local authority in 
question appeared to pre-judge the outcome of legal proceedings against its 
former mayor. The court redirected that local authority to reconsider its former 
mayor’s request for an indemnity, applying the correct interpretation of its 
indemnities policy for members and officers. 
 

3.4 It is not in the Council’s interests if potentially suitable candidates are deterred 
from seeking election to the Council or seeking appointment to responsible 
posts supported by the Council because of concerns over possible personal 
liabilities. This report therefore recommends that the Council gives as wide an 
indemnity in respect of such risks as it lawfully may, to both Members and 
Officers and suggests practical steps designed to minimise the potential cost 

                                            
1R (Anderson) v Liverpool City Council [2021] EWHC 2205 (Admin)  

Page 37 Agenda Item 10b



 
CABINET 

28 OCTOBER 2021 
 

PMKS/Committee/Report to Cabinet- Deed of Indemnity 2 

to the Council of meeting claims under the Deed of Indemnity, at Appendix A 
to the report. 

 
3.5 Although there is a statutory indemnity under Section 39 of the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 for individual Members and 
Officers in respect of claims from third parties for acts and omissions 
committed whilst they are conducting council business, this does not extend to 
liability for negligence, nor will it afford protection where other than Council 
business is being conducted. 

 
The Council’s officials’ indemnity policy provides protection both to the 
Council and to individual Members and Officers in respect of actions for 
negligence, resulting from their undertaking Council business.  

 
3.6 There are a number of outside bodies of varying descriptions to which the 

Council customarily nominates Members and Officers. In a few cases, the 
Council's representative merely acts as an ‘observer’ in order to represent the 
Council's interests and does not take part in the outside body’s decision 
making.  For the most part, such ‘observers’ will be covered by the Council's 
Deed of Indemnity and by the Council’s public liability insurance.  

 
In certain cases, however, Members and Officers act as directors, trustees, or 
members of the management committees of outside bodies or otherwise play 
an active role in the affairs of the body in question, often because the 
constitutions of such bodies stipulate that Council nominees must act in such 
capacities. Those who act as directors, trustees or members of the 
management committee owe a ‘fiduciary duty’ to the outside body. In certain 
very limited circumstances, Members and Officers may be personally liable for 
the debts of the bodies on which they serve, or in relation to third party claims 
brought against those bodies and may be personally liable (without limit) if 
they deliberately or recklessly take actions in breach of trust or without having 
taken appropriate advice. 

 
The Deed of Indemnity at Appendix A, stipulates that in circumstances, where 
a Member or Officer has been nominated to and is clearly representing or 
acting solely on behalf of the outside body, such nomination is subject to the 
requirement that the outside body must satisfy the Council that appropriate 
insurance cover is maintained, so as to protect the Member or Officer against 
personal liability. 
 

3.7 Although the risk is limited, the Deed of Indemnity should cover: 
 

 Independent Members on committees i.e. individuals drawn from outside 
the Council for their particular experience or expertise; 

 Independent Persons appointed by the Council, who are consulted by the 
Monitoring Officer on matters relating to alleged Member misconduct and 
also to advise the GAC on disciplinary matters relating to the Head of Paid 
Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer.  

 

Page 38Agenda Item 10b



 
CABINET 

28 OCTOBER 2021 
 

PMKS/Committee/Report to Cabinet- Deed of Indemnity 3 

3.8 Where a finding of culpability e.g. a criminal conviction against a Member or 
Officer is not overturned on appeal or the Member or Officer admits to 
breaching their respective codes, any sums expended by the Council or 
insurer pursuant to the indemnity or insurance will be recoverable by the 
Council or the insurer from the Member or Officer, as a civil debt. 
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

The Council has an ongoing commitment to good corporate and ethical 
governance, which supports effective decision-making and an effective ethical 
governance framework. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 
 

Financial Implications The Deed of Indemnity is 
supplemented by insurance cover, the 
cost of which is covered within the 
Council’s existing insurance budgets    

Legal Implications As discussed in the body of the report 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment As detailed in the body of the report 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 

 
Not applicable 
 

7. Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Deed of Indemnity for Members and Officers 
 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents consulted Date / 

File Ref 
Report Author Section and 

Directorate 
Exempt 

Information 
Category 

 
   

Marie Kelly-Stone 
Head of Legal Services 
& Monitoring Officer 
 

Legal 
Services/ 
Corporate 
Services 
Directorate 

N/A 

 

Page 39 Agenda Item 10b



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



30 August 2021 
Member and Officer Indemnities/Indemnity Policy  

 

 
 

Appendix A 
 
DEED OF INDEMNITY FOR MEMBERS AND OFFICERS 

 
1. SCOPE 
 
(1) In accordance with the Local Authorities (Indemnities for Members and Officers) 

Order 2004, Dartford Borough Council (the Council) indemnifies each Member and 
Officer of the Council against any costs, claims and expenses set out in section 3, 
subject to the restrictions set out in section 4 and on the terms set out in section 5 
of this Deed of Indemnity.  

 
(2) Notwithstanding any limitation on the powers of the Council, the indemnity is 

effective to the extent that the Member or Officer reasonably believed at the time at 
which they acted: 

 
(a)  that the action, or failure to act, in question was within the powers of the 

Council, or 
(b)  where that action or failure comprises the issuing or authorisation of any 

document containing any statement as to the powers of the Council or any 
statement that certain steps have been taken or requirements fulfilled, 
believed that the contents of that statement were true. 

 
2. DEFINITIONS 

 
In this Deed of Indemnity: 
 
Co-opted Member- has the meaning in section 27(4) of the Localism Act 2011 
 
Independent Member – means a person who is not a councillor, appointed to a 
committee for their particular experience or expertise  
 
Independent Person – has the meaning in section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011  
 
LA Proceedings means any investigation, report, reference, or any other proceeding 
pursuant to section 27(6) of the Localism Act 20111  
 
Member means an elected and Co-opted Member and for the purposes of this Deed of 
Indemnity, include Independent Members and Independent Persons 
 
Officer means any person employed by the Council 
 
Outside Bodies include trusts, companies, charities, school governing bodies, 
industrial and provident societies and community associations to which Members or 
Officers are appointed by the Council to serve on the Outside Body as a director, 
trustee, governor or member (with or without voting powers) 

                                                           
1 A relevant authority other than a parish council must have in place - (a) arrangements under which allegations can be 

investigated and (b) arrangements under which decisions on allegations can be made 

 

Page 41 Agenda Item 10b



1 October 2021 
Member and Officer Indemnities/Deed of Indemnity 

2 

 

 
3. COSTS, CLAIMS AND EXPENSES 

 
(1) Subject to the restrictions in section 4 of this Deed of  Indemnity, the costs, 

claims and expenses are those, which arise from, or in connection with, any 
action of, or failure, to act by, the Member or Officer, which:- 

 
(a) is or has been authorised by the Council; or 
 
(b) forms part of, or arises from, any powers conferred, or duties placed, upon that 

Member or Officer, as a consequence of any function being exercised by them 
(whether or not when exercising that function they do so in their capacity as a 
Member or Officer); 

 
(i) at the request of, or with the approval of the Council, or 

 
(ii) for the purposes of the Council. 

 
(3) The costs, claims and expenses’ implications of any proposed indemnity will be 

considered at the outset of proceedings or action and an initial ceiling on the level 
of indemnity agreed with the Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services or 
nominee.  Any further funding will require a decision by the Chief Officer & 
Director of Corporate Services or nominee who will consider whether any special 
circumstances apply to a request for further funding.  A proposal to refuse further 
funding will be at the Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services or nominee’s 
discretion, whose decision will be final. 

 
(4) The indemnity will apply retrospectively to any act or failure to act which may 

have occurred before the date of the adoption of this Deed of Indemnity or earlier 
indemnities but that are the subject of proceedings or action in progress at the 
date this Deed of Indemnity is adopted by the Council or commencing after that 
date and will continue to apply after the Member or Officer has ceased 
membership or employment of the Council as well as during his/her membership 
or employment of the Council. 

 
(5) Where a Member or Officer requests an indemnity, they will provide the Chief 

Officer & Director of Corporate Services or nominee with such information as may 
be reasonably required and the likely costs for which the Member or Officer may 
claim reimbursement under this Deed of Indemnity. 

 
4. RESTRICTIONS 
 
(1) No indemnity is provided in relation to any action by, or failure to act by, any 
Member or Officer which: 
 

(i) constitutes a criminal offence; or 
 

(ii) is the result of fraud, or other deliberate wrongdoing or recklessness on the part 
of that Member or Officer. 

 
(2) Notwithstanding section (4)(1)(i), the indemnity may be provided in relation to: 
 

(i) (subject to section 5 below) the defence of any criminal proceedings brought 
against the Member or Officer; and 

 

Page 42Agenda Item 10b



1 October 2021 
Member and Officer Indemnities/Deed of Indemnity 

3 

(ii) any civil liability arising as a consequence of any action or failure to act which 
also constitutes a criminal offence. 

 
(3) This indemnity will apply to the defence by a Member or Officer of any 
allegation of defamation made against him/her, but does not extend to the 
making/initiating by a Member or Officer of any claim in relation to an alleged 
defamation of that Member or Officer.   
 
5. TERMS OF INDEMNITY OR INSURANCE 
 
(1) Subject to section (2) below, the terms of the indemnity (including any insurance 
secured for the Member or Officer) has effect in relation to the defence of: 
 

(a) criminal proceedings; 

(b) LA Proceedings;  
(c) employee code of conduct proceedings.  
 
(2) The indemnity is provided and any insurance secured, on the terms that in 
circumstances where (a), (b) or (c) below apply, the Member or Officer will reimburse 
the Council or the insurer (as the case may be) for any sums expended by the Council 
or insurer pursuant to the indemnity or insurance. Any sums expended will be 
recoverable by the Council or the insurer as a civil debt. 

 

(a) in the case of criminal proceedings, if the Member or Officer is convicted of a 
criminal offence and that conviction is not overturned following any appeal. 

(b) in the case of LA Proceedings: 

(i) if a finding is made that the Member has failed to comply with the [Member] 
Code of Conduct and that finding is not overturned following any appeal, or 

(ii) if the Member admits that they have failed to comply with the Code. 

(c) in the case of employee code of conduct proceedings: 

(i) if a finding is made that the Officer has failed to comply with the Code and that 
finding is not overturned following any appeal; or 

(ii) the Officer admits that they have failed to comply with the Code. 

 
(3) The indemnity will only extend to cover actual loss and expense incurred and 
evidenced by the Member or Officer to the satisfaction of the Chief Officer & Director 
of Corporate Services or nominee. 
 

(4) The indemnity will not cover any loss or expense in respect of which the 
Member or Officer can obtain reimbursement from any other source, including any 
policy of insurance whether taken out by the Council or the Member or Officer or by 
any other person. 

 
(5) This Deed of Indemnity will not apply if a Member or Officer, without the 
express permission of the Council or of the Chief Officer & Director of Corporate 
Services or nominee, admits liability or negotiates or attempts to negotiate a settlement 
of any claim falling within the scope of this indemnity in circumstances which may give 
rise to liability on the part of the Council. 

Page 43 Agenda Item 10b



1 October 2021 
Member and Officer Indemnities/Deed of Indemnity 

4 

 
6. INSURANCE 

 
In addition to providing the indemnity, the Council may secure the insurance of its 
Members and Officers.  The following provisos are to be noted: 
 
(a) insurance cover does not apply to an error committed by a Member 
independently of Officer advice; 
 
(b) an insurance claim must be capable of being made against the Council itself. 
There is therefore no cover where an activity amounts to Members or Officers acting in 
capacities other than as Members or Officers; 

 
(c) where the Council arranges insurance to cover its liability under this Deed of 
Indemnity, the requirement to reimburse the Council in section 5(2) above, will apply as 
if references to the Council were references to the insurer. 

 
7. OUTSIDE BODIES & JOINT COMMITTEES 

 
(1) The Council will provide an indemnity where a Member or Officer: 

 

(a) acts solely on behalf of the Council, within the terms of reference laid down 
by the Council and solely in pursuance of the Council’s statutory powers; 
 

(b) acts solely in an advisory capacity in connection with the Council’s functions; 
 

(c) occupies an observational role on the board or committee of an Outside 
Body, representing the Council’s interests (excluding in a decision-making capacity); 
 

(d) acts on behalf of a joint committee established by two or more local 
authorities. 

 
(2) In circumstances where a Member or Officer has been nominated to and is 
clearly representing or acting solely on behalf of the Outside Body, such nomination 
is subject to the requirement that the Outside Body must satisfy the Council that 
appropriate insurance cover is maintained, so as to protect the Member or Officer 
against personal liability. 
 

Page 44Agenda Item 10b



 
Appendix B 

 
Extract from the draft minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 28 October 2021 
 
 

65. DEED OF INDEMNITY FOR MEMBERS AND OFFICERS REVIEW  
 
The Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services introduced a report which 
recommended the adoption of a new Deed of Indemnity for Members and Officers. 
Since the Council had originally adopted its Indemnity for Members and Officers in 
2007 there had been an increasing propensity for parties to litigate in order to recover 
losses which could lead to some individuals becoming concerned about any personal 
liability that might attach to the performance of their duties. It was not considered to 
be in the Council’s interest if potentially suitable candidates were deterred from 
seeking election to the Council or seeking appointment to responsible posts supported 
by the Council because of concerns over possible personal liabilities. It was therefore 
recommended that the Council provide as wide an indemnity in respect of such risks 
as it lawfully could, to both Members and Officers, and including Independent 
Members and Independent Persons, providing they were acting responsibly and in 
good faith. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Deed of Indemnity for Members and Officers, at Appendix A to the report, be 
endorsed and recommended to the General Assembly of the Council for adoption. 
 

Page 45 Agenda Item 10b



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46



                

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 December 2021 

 

MEMBER NON-ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS – DISPENSATION 
FOR COUNCILLOR ALINA GASKIN 
 

 
1. Summary 

 
To seek approval for the continued absence of Councillor Alina Gaskin from 
meetings of the Council due to ill health and matters ancillary thereto.  

  
2. RECOMMENDATION 
  

That the General Assembly of the Council notes Councillor A  Gaskin’s current 
indisposition for medical reasons and that she be granted a dispensation to 
enable her to remain a Councillor for the duration of her indisposition, on the 
grounds of ill health.   
 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

The Local Government Act 1972 sets out the terms under which a council 
member is disqualified by failing to attend any meeting of the authority 
throughout a period of six consecutive months from the date of his/her last 
attendance. The Act further provides that where the failure to attend is 
approved by the authority in advance of the expiration of a six-month period, 
then the Member will not be disqualified.   
 
The Council granted a general dispensation to all Members at its meeting on 
27 July 2020, to cover Members who might be unable to attend meetings 
during the period in which national COVID restrictions were in-place and 
meetings were being held virtually. This general dispensation ended on 19 July 
2021, when national restrictions were lifted and it became possible for 
meetings to return to being held fully in-person and without social distancing.  
 
Councillor Gaskin has been unable to attend a qualifying meeting due to ill 
health since the end of the general dispensation period.  Under the terms of 
the Local Government Act 1972, the expiration of the six-month disqualification 
period would therefore occur on 19 January 2022.  
 
Councillor Gaskin remains unwell and is unlikely to be in a position to resume 
her full civic duties and attendance at meetings within the six-month timeframe. 
It is therefore recommended that Councillor Gaskin should be granted a 
dispensation to enable her to remain a Councillor for the duration of her 
indisposition, on the grounds of ill health.   
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
 Not applicable 
 

Page 47 Agenda Item 11



                 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 

13 December 2021 
 

 

  

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 

 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
 

6. Appendices 
 

None. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

Documents 
consulted 

Date File 
Ref 

Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

   Alan Twyman 
Democratic 
Services Manager 
01322 343430 

Democratic 
Services/ 
Corporate 
Services 
 

N/A 

Page 48Agenda Item 11



                             
CABINET 

09 DECEMBER 2021 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL  

13 DECEMBER 2021 
 

LOCAL SCHEME OF SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX 2022/23  
 

 
1. Summary 

 
1.1 To recommend the rolling forward of the Local Scheme of Support for Council 

Tax 2021/22, effective from 1 April 2022. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
To Cabinet 
 
2.1  That the General Assembly of the Council be recommended to roll forward the 

the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2021/22, to be effective from 1 April 
2022. 

To the General Assembly of the Council 

2.2  That the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2021/22, be rolled forward to 
2022/23, with effect from 1 April 2022. 

 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1. The Council Tax Reduction Scheme was introduced in April 2013 as a 

replacement for the Council Tax Benefit scheme administered on behalf 
of the Department for Work and Pensions. The duty to create a local 
scheme for working age applicants was placed with billing authorities 
whilst persons of pension age continued to be protected under 
regulations prescribed by Government. 

3.2. The Council is required to approve its local scheme of support for council 
tax each year and this has to been done by 11 March of the preceding 
financial year. The last significant change to the scheme was made for 
2019/20 when the original means-tested scheme was replaced by a 
simple income grid model. Since then, the scheme has been rolled 
forward each year. 

3.3. The local scheme was approved for 2021/22 on 14 December 2020 (Min. 
No 123). It is now recommended that the scheme approved for 2021/22 
be rolled forward to 2022/23, with effect from 1 April 2022. 

3.4. This scheme provides protection for pensioners in line with the 
Government’s decision that pensioners would see no reduction in their 
entitlement from that under the old council tax benefit rules. It also 
reduces the entitlement of working age claimants by 20%. 

Page 49 Agenda Item 13



                             
CABINET 

09 DECEMBER 2021 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL  

13 DECEMBER 2021 
 
3.5. The award of council tax support is by way of a discount, which reduces 

the amount of council tax collected. Most of this reduction is borne by 
the major preceptors, with the Council suffering a reduction of 
approximately 10% of the total. 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Not applicable. 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 

Financial Implications The annual cost of the current CTRS is £6.514m 
of which £4.457m relates to working-age 
claimants. A large proportion of this cost is borne 
by the major preceptors. Dartford’s pro-rata 
share is approximately £651k (of which £445k 
relates to working age discounts). 

 

The major preceptors are also currently 
contributing £114,530 per annum to the Council 
towards the additional cost of administering the 
scheme and collecting the council tax.  

Legal Implications The scheme is a statutory requirement, governed 
by the Local Government Act 2013. 

Staffing Implications Resources are being monitored to ensure 
collection is maximised. 

Administrative 
Implications 

See staffing implications  

Risk Assessment None specifically 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7. Appendices 
 

None. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 

Page 50Agenda Item 13



                             
CABINET 

09 DECEMBER 2021 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL  

13 DECEMBER 2021 
 

Previous reports to Cabinet 
and GAC 

 Heather Gaynor 
(01732) 227435 

 N/A 

 

Page 51 Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 52



CABINET 
9 DECEMBER 2021 

 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 DECEMBER 2021 

 
FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS TO PARISH AND TOWN 

COUNCILS 2022/23 
 

 
1. Summary 

 
To agree the level of financial contributions to be paid to Parish and Town Councils 
in 2022/23. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET 
 

2.1   That the following contributions be made to Parish and Town Councils, to 
compensate for lost council tax income in local areas from the council tax 
support scheme: 

 
                                                                                              £ 

Bean 334 

Darenth 1,923 

Longfield 631 

Southfleet 198 

Stone 7,021 

Sutton at Hone and Hawley 1,737 

Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe 14,435 

Wilmington 1,317 

 
2.2      That the contributions be made subject to the Parish and Town Councils 

submitting suitably analysed details of estimated net expenditure for the 
ensuing year by 31 January each year, and actual net expenditure for the 
preceding year no later than six months after the end of each financial 
year, in a format prescribed by the Council. 

 
2.3 That the payments be made in two equal instalments; the first on 30 April 

2022 (or next working day) and the second, the latter of 30 September 
2022 (or next working day) or seven days following receipt of the Parish 
or Town Councils’ 2021/22 accounts, certified as correct by their Clerks. 

 
2.4 That the Council continues to operate the Capacity Building Fund and 

makes a contribution of £20,000 into the fund in 2022/23. 
 

2.5 That the Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services be granted 
delegated authority, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, to 
agree the Capacity Building Fund bidding criteria. 

 
2.6 That Capacity Building Funding bids from Parish and Town Councils be 

submitted to the Grants Panel, and that the Chief Officer and Director of 

Page 53 Agenda Item 14



CABINET 
9 DECEMBER 2021 

 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 DECEMBER 2021 

 
Corporate Services be granted delegated authority to approve the award 
of the bid(s), on the recommendation of the Grants Panel. 

 
RECOMMENDATION TO GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 

 
 2.7 That, the proposed contributions to Parish/Town Councils, be part of the 

overall budget, subject to formal approval at the 28 February 2022 
Budget meeting. 

 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1. The Council provided funding to Parishes/Town Councils following the 

introduction of the Council Tax Support Scheme. The amount received 
by Parishes/Town Councils in relation to this was £27,596 (in total) in 
2021/22. Initially the Council received a separately identifiable grant 
element for this but now any remaining funding is unidentified. Any 
distribution of funding to Parish and Town Councils is at the discretion of 
the [Borough] Council.  
 

3.2. It is important that Parish/Town Councils receive sufficient notice of the 
Council’s plans in this area in order to set their own budgets and Council 
Tax levels.  

 
3.3. In 2019/20, the Council’s revenue support grant funding stopped. Given 

this cessation, the Council has reduced the level of funding available to 
Parish/Town Councils in past years and it is the intention that the same 
direction of travel will continue in future years. 

 
3.4. To aid the transition to lower contributions, the Council also set aside 

£40,000 in 2021/22 within the Capacity Building Fund in order to assist 
Parish and Town Councils to become less reliant on core funding from 
the Council and to explore innovative ways of working. 
 

3.5. Given that the Capacity Building fund has been ongoing for several years 
it is now proposed to reduce the Council’s commitment to the fund. The 
grants will continue and increase their focus on assisting Parish and 
Town Councils to become less reliant on funding from the [Borough] 
Council by building capacity and exploring innovative ways of working.  
 

3.6. Funding remains in place at the same levels as 2021/22 for lost council 
tax income in local areas from the council tax support scheme. 

 
3.7. The proposed level of Council Tax Support Grant and Capacity Building 

Fund for 2022/23 is shown in Appendix A. 
 
 

Page 54Agenda Item 14



CABINET 
9 DECEMBER 2021 

 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 DECEMBER 2021 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

The contribution by the Council assists Parishes and Town Councils to 
provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and to ensure 
that public and open spaces are clean and safe. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments 
 

Financial Implications The total sum payable by the Council to Parish 
and Town Councils in 2022/23 will be £27,596. 
In addition, the Council will continue to operate 
the Capacity Building Fund and make a 
contribution of £20,000 into the fund. 

 

Legal Implications 

 

Section 136 of the Local Government Act 
1972. - two or more local authorities may make 
arrangements for defraying any expenditure 
incurred by one of them in exercising any 
functions exercisable by both or all of them. 
 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative 
Implications 

None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
 

7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A - Amounts payable to Parish and Town Councils in 
2022/23 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Parish Accounts  Tim Sams 

(01322) 343148 
Financial 
Services/ 
Corporate 
Services 

N/A 

 

Page 55 Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



Appendix A

AMOUNTS PAYABLE TO PARISH AND TOWN COUNCILS IN 2021/22 and 2022/23

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

CTS grant

Capacity 

Building 

Fund

Total 

contribution 

from DBC to 

Parishes CTS grant

Capacity 

Building 

Fund

Total 

contribution 

from DBC to 

Parishes

£ £ £ £ £ £

Bean 334 334 334 334

Darenth 1,923 1,923 1,923 1,923

Longfield 631 631 631 631

Southfleet 198 198 198 198

Stone 7,021 7,021 7,021 7,021

Sutton at Hone and Hawley 1,737 1,737 1,737 1,737

Swanscombe and Greenhithe 14,435 14,435 14,435 14,435

Wilmington 1,317 1,317 1,317 1,317

Total (inc CBF) 27,596 40,000 67,596 27,596 20,000 47,596

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 14



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 58



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 DECEMBER 2021 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 2021 

 

 
1. Summary 

 
1.1  To agree Financial Regulations, updated to reflect the roles and 
 responsibilities  of the new management structure of the Council  
 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1   That the Financial Regulations 2021, at Appendix A to the report, be approved. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1. The Section 151 Officer has statutory duties in relation to the financial 

administration and stewardship of the Council. This statutory 
responsibility cannot be over-ridden and arises from: 

 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 

 The Local Government Finance Act 1988 

 The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 

3.2. More specifically, under Section 151 of the Local Government 1972, the 
Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 

 The proper administration of the Council's financial affairs. 

 Setting and monitoring compliance with financial management 
standards. 

 Advising on the corporate financial position and on the key controls 
necessary to secure sound financial management. 

 Providing financial information. 

 Preparing the revenue budget and capital programme. 

 Treasury Management. 

3.3. As the Council's financial and economic adviser, the Section 151 Officer 
reports to the Cabinet with respect to the level of resources intended to 
be used each year, and keeps the Cabinet informed of the Council's 
finances and financial performance throughout the year. 

3.4. As a consequence of all the above, the Section 151 Officer is required 
to control and be responsible for the accounts and finances of the 
Council in every respect and ensure, as far as possible, that a consistent 
financial system operates throughout the services of the Council. A key 

Page 59 Agenda Item 15



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 DECEMBER 2021 

part of the process for ensuring that sound financial management 
policies are in place and are adhered to is the establishment of Financial 
Regulations, which set out the financial policies and principles of the 
Council and which provide the framework for managing the Council’s 
financial affairs. Financial Regulations apply to all Members and Officers 
in the work they do for the council. 

3.5. The Financial Regulations have been reviewed and updated to ensure 
consistency with the new management structure now in place. 

3.6. Once approved by the Council, the Financial Regulations will be 
published and promoted to staff to ensure compliance.  

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
The Financial Regulations are part of the governance framework which exists 
to support the Council to meet the “A Council Performing Strongly” theme.  
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 

Financial Implications The Financial Regulations are a key element of 
the Section 151 Officer carrying out his role 
under Section 151 of the Local Government 
1972. 

Legal Implications 

  

To conduct its business efficiently the Council 
needs to ensure that it has sound financial 
management policies in place and that they are 
strictly adhered to. Part of this process is the 
establishment of Financial Regulations, which 
set out the financial policies of the Council. 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative 
Implications 

None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Financial Regulations 2021 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 

Page 60Agenda Item 15



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 DECEMBER 2021 

  Tim Sams 
(01322) 343148 

Financial 
Services/ 
Corporate 
Services 

 

 

Page 61 Agenda Item 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 62



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

1 
 

Appendix A 
 
 

 

DARTFORD BOROUGH  
 

COUNCIL 
 
 

FINANCIAL  
 

REGULATIONS 
 

2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 63 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

2 
 

A. CONTENTS 

B. INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................... 3 

C. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT ................................................................................................. 4 

C.1 ACCOUNTING ..................................................................................................................................... 4 

C.2 MANAGING EXPENDITURE – CASH LIMITING RULES ........................................................................... 5 

C.3 TREATMENT OF YEAR END BALANCES ................................................................................................ 5 

C.4 ACCOUNTING POLICIES ...................................................................................................................... 6 

C.5 ACCOUNTING RECORDS AND RETURNS .............................................................................................. 6 

D. FINANCIAL PLANNING ......................................................................................................... 8 

D.1 MEDIUM TERM PLANNING ................................................................................................................. 8 

D.2 BUDGETING ........................................................................................................................................ 9 

D.3 CAPITAL PROGRAMME ..................................................................................................................... 11 

D.4 MAINTENANCE OF RESERVES ........................................................................................................... 13 

E. RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES ........................................................ 14 

E.1 RISK MANAGEMENT ............................................................................................................................. 14 

E.2 INTERNAL CONTROLS............................................................................................................................ 16 

E.3 INTERNAL AUDIT................................................................................................................................... 17 

E.4 EXTERNAL AUDIT .................................................................................................................................. 19 

E.5 PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION ............................................................................................... 20 

E.6 ASSETS - SECURITY ................................................................................................................................ 21 

E.7 INVENTORIES ........................................................................................................................................ 23 

E.8 STOCKS AND STORES ............................................................................................................................ 24 

E.9 ASSEST DISPOSAL ................................................................................................................................. 24 

E.10 TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND BANKING ....................................................................................... 25 

E.11 STAFFING ......................................................................................................................................... 26 

F. FINANCIAL SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES ........................................................................... 27 

F.1 CONTROL OF SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES ........................................................................................... 27 

Page 64Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

3 
 

F.2 INCOME ................................................................................................................................................ 29 

F.3 PROCURING AND PAYING FOR WORK, GOODS AND SERVICES ............................................................. 31 

F.4 PAYMENTS TO EMPLOYEES AND MEMBERS ......................................................................................... 35 

G. TAXATION ......................................................................................................................... 37 

H. EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS .............................................................................................. 38 

H.1 PARTNERSHIPS ................................................................................................................................. 38 

H.2 EXTERNAL FUNDING ......................................................................................................................... 39 

H.3 WORK FOR THIRD PARTIES ............................................................................................................... 40 

 
 

B. INTRODUCTION 
 
These Financial Regulations: 
 

 provide the framework for managing the Council’s financial affairs and seek to 
ensure that the Council conducts its affairs in a way that complies with specific 
statutory provisions, generally accepted accounting principles and professional 
good practice; 

 are an integral part of the stewardship of Council funds and adherence ensures 
that all financial transactions of the Council are conducted in a manner which 
demonstrates openness, integrity and transparency; 

 form a significant part of the corporate governance of the Council. 
 

B.1 Directors and Senior Managers are responsible for ensuring that all staff in 
their areas are aware of the existence and content of these Financial 
Regulations and other internal regulatory documents and that they comply 
with them. Non-compliance with these Financial Regulations by any staff, 
and with any accounting instruction notes and other corporate guidance 
issued by the Section 151 Officer, may constitute a disciplinary matter that 
will be pursued, as appropriate, in accordance with the Disciplinary and 
Dismissal Policy and Procedure. 
 

B.2 The Section 151 Officer may agree to waive these Financial Regulations in 
order to proceed in a manner most expedient to the efficient management of 
the Council.  Reasons must be recorded in writing. 
 

B.3 Where conflict exists between these Financial Regulations and Standing 
Orders (including Contract Standing Orders), the latter will take precedence. 

  

Page 65 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

4 
 

 
C. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
Why is this important? 

 
All staff and Members have a duty to abide by the highest standards of probity in 
dealing with financial issues. This is facilitated by ensuring everyone is clear about the 
standards to which they are working and the controls that are in place to ensure that 
these standards are met. 
 

 Directors and Senior Managers will consult the Section 151 Officer with respect 
to any matter within his/her purview which is liable to affect the finances, other 
than provided in estimates, of the Council before any provisional or other 
commitment is incurred or before reporting thereon to the Cabinet. 
 

 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring the proper administration of 
the financial affairs of the Council and that financial management standards 
and controls are in place and are effectively monitored for compliance. 

 
C.1 ACCOUNTING 
 

Why is it important? 
 
Maintaining proper accounting records is one of the ways in which the Council 
discharges its responsibilities for stewardship of public resources.  The Council has a 
statutory responsibility in preparing its annual accounts to present fairly its operations 
during the year.  These accounting records are subject to external audit.  This audit 
provides assurance that the accounts are prepared properly, that approved accounting 
practices have been followed and that quality arrangements have been made for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the Council’s resources. 
 

C.1.1 All accounting procedures, accounting policies, and financial records of the 
Council and its officers will be as determined by the Section 151 Officer.  Any 
financial procedures and records maintained in other service areas are the 
responsibility of senior management and subject to the approval of the 
Section 151 Officer. 

 

C.1.2 The Section 151 Officer will make proper arrangements for the preparation, 
publication and external audit of the Council’s accounts in accordance with 
the most recent Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The Audit Board will 
approve the final version of the accounts 

 

C.1.3 Directors and Senior Managers are required to maintain adequate records to 
provide an audit trail leading from the source of income/expenditure through 
to the accounting statements and to provide such information as required to 
enable the Statement of Accounts to be completed in accordance with the 
guidelines issued by the Section 151 Officer. 

  

Page 66Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

5 
 

 
C.2 MANAGING EXPENDITURE – CASH LIMITING RULES 
 
Why is this important? 
 
The cash limiting rules are intended to enable the Cabinet, Directors and Senior 
Managers and their staff to manage budgets with a degree of flexibility within the 
overall policy framework determined by the General Assembly of the Council and 
therefore, to optimise the use of resources. 
 

C.2.1 Key controls for the cash limiting rules are: 
 

(a) the rules are administered by the Section 151 Officer within the 
guidelines set by the Council as part of the annual budget process.  

(b) the overall budget is approved by the General Assembly of the Council.  
Directors and budget managers are authorised to incur revenue 
expenditure in accordance with the estimates that make up the budget.  

(c) virements should not create additional overall budget liability. Directors 
are expected to exercise their discretion in managing their budgets 
responsibly and prudently in line with the exceptions list. 

 

C.2.2 The Section 151 Officer is to prepare jointly with the Director a report to the 
Cabinet where a virement request  is over the limit that Directors can exercise 
their own authority.  

 

C.2.3 Directors are responsible for maintaining expenditure within the overall cash 
limit for their Directorate. Spending Officers are responsible to their relevant 
Director to ensure expenditure is maintained within the overall cash limit 
applying to their service department(s). 

 

C.2.4 Directors are required to ensure that all Spending Officers are aware of their 
responsibilities and are monitoring their budgets on a regular basis, so as to 
report to Cabinet and highlight exception items, where appropriate. 

 

C.2.5 The relevant Director and Spending Officer will be identified for all budgets.  
Any change of Spending Officer will require approval by the Section 151 
Officer in agreement with the relevant Director. 

 

C.2.6 Any proposals to raise income by increasing fees and charges, or by 
imposing a new charge where none existed before, must be approved by the 
Cabinet or under appropriate delegated authority before implementation.  
Such a request for approval must comply with any information requirements 
needed to satisfy Members. 

 
C.3 TREATMENT OF YEAR END BALANCES 
 
Why is this important? 
 

Page 67 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

6 
 

To ensure the integrity of the budget and the medium-term financial plan, it is important 
that year end balances are treated in accordance with agreed policies and guidelines. 
 

C.3.1 The key control in this area is that the appropriate accounting procedures are 
in operation to ensure that balances and reserves carried forward are correct. 

 

C.3.2 The Section 151 Officer is to ensure that balances and reserves are carried 
forward in accordance with accounting standards and general reserve 
guidelines agreed by the General Assembly of the Council in agreement with 
the Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services 

 

C.3.3 The Section 151 Officer will be responsible for the authorisation and 
expenditure from reserves in consultation with relevant Directors.  

 

C.3.4 The Section 151 Officer is to report jointly with the relevant Director over and 
underspending of 5% or £20,000 (whichever is the greater) to the Cabinet on 
service budget. 

 

C.3.5 Directors and Senior Managers must adhere to the guidelines set by the 
Section 151 Officer when providing information for the finalising of the end of 
year accounts and provide any information required by the Section 151 
Officer to report any budget variances to Cabinet. 

 
C.4 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Why is this important? 
 
The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Council’s statement 
of Accounts, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the format required by 
the Code of Practice on Local Council Accounting in the United Kingdom: A Statement 
of Recommended Practice (CIPFA/LASAAC), for each financial year ending 31 March. 
 

C.4.1 The key controls for accounting policies are: 
 

(a) systems of internal control are in place that ensure financial transactions 
are lawful 

(b) suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently 
(c) proper accounting records are maintained 
(d) financial statements are prepared which present fairly the financial 

position of the Council and its expenditure and income 
 

C.4.2 The Section 151 Officer is to select suitable accounting policies and to ensure 
that they are applied consistently.  The accounting policies are set out in the 
Statement of Accounts, which is prepared at 31 March each year. 

 
C.5 ACCOUNTING RECORDS AND RETURNS 
 
Why is this important? 
 

Page 68Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

7 
 

Maintaining proper accounting records is one of the ways in which the Council 
discharges its responsibility for stewardship of public resources.  The Council has a 
statutory responsibility to prepare its annual accounts to present fairly its operations 
during the year.  These are subject to external audit.  This audit provides assurance 
that the accounts are prepared properly, that proper accounting practices have been 
followed and that quality arrangements have been made for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the Council’s resources. 
 

C.5.1 The key controls for accounting records and returns are: 
 

(a) all finance staff and budget managers operate within the required 
accounting standards and timetables 

(b) all the Council’s transactions, material commitments, contracts and 
other essential accounting information are recorded completely, 
accurately and on a timely basis 

(c) procedures are in place to enable accounting records to be 
reconstituted in the event of systems failure 

(d) reconciliation procedures are carried out to ensure transactions are 
correctly recorded 

(e) prime documents are retained in accordance with legislative and other 
requirements 

 

C.5.2 The Section 151 Officer is to determine accounting procedures and records 
for the Council.  Where these are maintained outside Financial Services, the 
Section 151 Officer should consult the relevant Director. 

 

C.5.3 The Section 151 Officer is to arrange for the compilation of all accounts and 
accounting records under his/her direction and to comply as far as is 
practical, with the following principles when allocating accounting duties: 

 
(a) separating the duties of providing information about sums due to or from 

the Council and calculating, checking and recording these sums from the 
duty of collecting or disbursing them 

 
(b) employees with the duty of examining or checking the accounts of cash 

transactions must not themselves be engaged in these transactions 
 

C.5.4 Directors and Senior Managers must: 

 
(a) ensure that all claims for funds including grants are made by the due 

date. 
 

(b) ensure the proper retention of financial documents in accordance with 
the requirements set out in the Council’s document retention policy. 

 
(c) consult and obtain the approval of the Section 151 Officer before making 

any changes to accounting records and procedures. 
 

Page 69 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

8 
 

(d) comply with the principles outlined above when allocating accounting 
duties and maintain adequate records to provide a managerial trail 
leading from the source of income/expenditure through to the accounting 
statements. 

 
(e) Directors and Senior Managers will supply information required to 

enable the statement of accounts to be completed in accordance with 
guidelines by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
D. FINANCIAL PLANNING 
 
D.1 MEDIUM TERM PLANNING  
 
Why is this important? 
 
Medium term planning involves a planning cycle in which managers and Members 
develop plans over a period longer than one year. As each year passes, another future 
year will be added to the medium term plan.  This ensures that the Council is always 
preparing for events in advance.  
 

D.1.1 The key controls for medium term planning are: 
 
(a) specific budget approval for all expenditure 
 
(b) budget managers are consulted in the preparation of the budgets for 

which they will be held responsible and accept accountability within 
delegations set by the Cabinet for their budgets and the level of service 
to be delivered 

 
(c) a monitoring process is in place to review regularly the effectiveness and 

operation of budget preparation and to ensure that any corrective action 
is taken. 

 

D.1.2 The Section 151 Officer will: 

 
(a) advise members on budget prospects, including resource constraints set 

by the Government. Reports should take account of the budget 
assumptions. 

 
(b) advise on the medium term implications of spending decisions and 

encourage the best use of resources and value for money by working 
with Senior Managers to identify opportunities to improve economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness, and by encouraging good practice on 
conducting financial appraisals of development or savings options, and 
in developing financial aspects of service planning. 

 
(c) advise the General Assembly of the Council in accordance with his/her 

responsibilities under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

Page 70Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

9 
 

D.1.3 Directors and Senior Managers will in consultation with the Section 151 
Officer and in accordance with the laid-down guidance and timetable prepare 
detailed draft revenue and capital budgets. 

 
When drawing up draft budget requirements, to have regard to: 

 
(a) spending patterns and pressures revealed through the budget 

monitoring process 
 
(b) legal requirements 
 
(c) policy requirements as defined by the General Assembly of the Council 

in the approved policy framework  
 
(d) initiatives already under way 

 
(e)  working within budget limits and to utilise resources allocated, and 

further allocate resources, in the most efficient, effective and economic 
way 

 
(f) Identifying opportunities to minimise or eliminate resource requirements 

or consumption without having a detrimental effect on service delivery. 
 
D.2 BUDGETING  
 
Why is this important? 
 

D.2.1 The format of the budget determines the level of detail to which financial 
control and management will be exercised. Budget management ensures 
that once the budget has been approved by the General Assembly of the 
Council, resources allocated are used for their intended purposes, in line with 
the Corporate Plan, and are properly accounted for. Budgetary control is a 
continuous process, enabling the Council to review and adjust its budget 
targets during the financial year. 

 

D.2.2 The key controls for the budget format are: 
 

(a) the format complies with all legal requirements 
(b) the format complies with CIPFA’s Service Reporting Accounting – 

Code of Practice (SeRCOP) 
(c) the format reflects the accountabilities of service delivery 

 

D.2.3 The key controls for the budget management are: 
 

(a) budget managers should be responsible only for income and 
expenditure that they can influence 
 

(b) there is a nominated budget manager for each budget heading 
 

Page 71 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

10 
 

(c) budget managers accept accountability for their budgets and the level 
of service to be delivered and understand their financial responsibilities 

 
(d) budget managers follow an approved certification process for all 

expenditure 
 
(e) income and expenditure are properly recorded and accounted for 

 
(f) performance levels/levels of service are monitored in conjunction with 

the budget and necessary action is taken to align service outputs and 
budget 

 

D.2.4 The Section 151 Officer will ensure budget management is exercised within 
annual cash limits unless the General Assembly of the Council agrees 
otherwise. 

 

D.2.5 The Section 151 Officer will establish an appropriate framework of budgetary 
management and control that ensures that: 

 
(a) each Senior Manager has available timely information on receipts and 

payments on each budget which is sufficiently detailed to enable 
managers to fulfil their budgetary responsibilities 

 
(b) all officers responsible for committing expenditure will comply with 

relevant guidance, and the Financial Regulations 
 
(c) each budget head will have a single named manager, determined by the 

relevant Director or Senior Manager. As a general principle, budget 
responsibility should be aligned as closely as possible to the decision-
making processes that commits expenditure 

 
(d) significant variances from approved budgets are investigated and 

reported by budget managers regularly. 
 

D.2.6 The Section 151 Officer will: 
 

(a) administer the Council’s cash limiting rules. 
 

(b) submit reports to the Cabinet, in consultation with the relevant Senior 
Manager/s, where a Senior Manager is unable to balance expenditure 
and resources within existing approved budgets under his/her control. 

 
(c) The Section 151 Officer will prepare and submit reports on the Council’s 

projected income and expenditure compared with the budget on a 
regular basis. 

 
(d) The Section 151 Officer will ensure that a monitoring process is in place 

to review performance levels/levels of service in conjunction with the 
budget and is operating effectively. 

Page 72Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

11 
 

 

D.2.7 Directors will ensure:  
 

(a) that an accountable budget manager is identified for each item of income 
and expenditure under the control of the Director (grouped together in a 
series of cost centres).  As a general principle, budget responsibility 
should be aligned as closely as possible to the decision-making that 
commits expenditure. 
 

(b) spending remains within the service’s overall cash limit, and that 
individual budget heads are not overspent, by monitoring the budget and 
taking appropriate corrective action where significant variations from the 
approved budget are forecast. 

 

D.2.8 Directors and Senior Managers will ensure prior approval by the General 
Assembly of the Council or Cabinet (as appropriate) for new proposals of 
whatever amount, that: 

 
(a) create financial commitments in future years 
(b) change existing policies, initiate new policies or cease existing policies 
(c) materially extend or reduce the Council’s services 

 

D.2.9 Directors and Senior Managers will maintain budgetary control within their 
services to ensure that all income and expenditure are properly recorded and 
accounted for. 

 
D.3 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
Why is this important? 
 
Capital expenditure involves acquiring or enhancing fixed assets with a long term 
value to the Council, such as land, buildings, and major items of plant, equipment or 
vehicles.  Capital assets shape the way services are delivered in the long term and 
can create financial commitments for the future in the form of financing costs and 
revenue running costs. 
 
The Council is restricted in its ability to fund capital expenditure. This means that 
capital expenditure should form part of an investment strategy and should be carefully 
prioritised in order to maximise the benefit of resources. 

Page 73 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

12 
 

D.3.1 The key controls for capital programmes are: 

 

(a) specific approval by the General Assembly of the Council for the capital 
expenditure budget 

 

(b) expenditure on capital schemes is subject to the approval of the Section 
151 Officer and the Leadership Team 

 

(c) a process for approving capital projects and monitoring their progress 

 

(d) schedules of schemes within the overall budget approved by the General 
Assembly of the Council must be submitted to the Cabinet for approval 

 

(e) the development and implementation of an asset management plan 

 

(f) accountability for each proposal is accepted by a named manager 

 

(g) monitoring of progress in conjunction with expenditure and comparison 
with approved budget. 

 

D.3.2 The Section 151 Officer:  

 

(a) will prepare capital estimates jointly with Directors and Senior Managers 
and to report them for recommendation with the associated financing 
requirements to the General Assembly of the Council. 

 

(b) will prepare and submit reports to the Cabinet on the projected income, 
expenditure and resources compared with the approved estimates. 

 

(c) will issue guidance concerning capital schemes and controls, e.g. on 
project appraisal techniques.  The definition of ‘capital’ will be 
determined by the Section 151 Officer having regard to government 
regulations and accounting requirements. 

 

Page 74Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

13 
 

D.3.3 Directors and Senior Managers will: 

 

(a) obtain, authorisation from the Cabinet for individual schemes where the 
estimated expenditure exceeds the capital programme provision by 
more than £50,000 or 10% (whichever is the greater). 

 

(b) ensure that all capital proposals, above a defined cost level, have 
undergone a project appraisal in accordance with any guidance issued 
by the Section 151 Officer. 

 

(c) comply with guidance concerning capital schemes and controls issued 
by the Section 151 Officer. 

 

(d) prepare regular reports reviewing the capital programme for their 
services. They should also prepare a monthly return of schemes in the 
approved capital programme for submission to the Section 151 Officer. 

 

(e) ensure that adequate records are maintained for all capital contracts. 

 

(f) proceed with projects only when there is adequate provision in the 
capital programme and with the agreement of the Section 151 Officer, 
where required. 

 

(g) will prepare and submit reports, jointly with the Section 151 Officer, to 
the Cabinet, of any variation in contract costs greater than the approved 
limits.  The Cabinet has unlimited power of virement within the capital 
programme. 

 

(h) prepare and submit reports, jointly with the Section 151 Officer, to the 
Cabinet, on completion of all contracts where the final expenditure 
exceeds the approved contract sum by more than the specified amount. 

 

(i) ensure that credit arrangements, such as leasing agreements, are not 
entered into without the prior approval of the Section 151 Officer and, if 
applicable, approval of the scheme through the capital programme. 

 
D.4 MAINTENANCE OF RESERVES 
 
Why is this important? 
 
The Council must decide the level of general reserves it wishes to maintain before it 
can decide the level of council tax.  Reserves are maintained as a matter of prudence.  
They enable the Council to provide for unexpected events and thereby protect it from 
overspending, should such events occur.  Reserves for specific purposes may also be 
maintained, such as the Identified Initiative Reserve. 
 
 

Page 75 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

14 
 

D.4.1 The key controls for reserves are: 

 

(a) To maintain reserves in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local 
Council Accounting in the United Kingdom: A Statement of 
Recommended Practice (CIPFA/LASAAC) and agreed accounting 
policies. 

 

(b) For each reserve established, the purpose, usage and basis of 
transactions should be clearly identified. 

 

(c) Authorisation of expenditure from reserves by the Section 151 Officer. 
 

D.4.2 The Section 151 Officer will advise the Cabinet and/or the General Assembly 
of the Council on prudent levels of reserves for the Council, and to take 
account of the advice of the external auditor in this matter. 

 

D.4.3 Directors and Senior Managers will ensure that resources are used only for 
the purposes for which they were intended. 

 
E. RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES 
 
E.1 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Why is this important? 
 
All organisations, whether private or public sector, face risks to people, property and 
continued operations. Risk is the chance or possibility of loss, damage, injury or failure 
to achieve objectives caused by an unwanted or uncertain action or event.  Risk 
management is the planned and systematic approach to the identification, evaluation 
and control of risk.  Its objectives are to manage the barriers that might prevent 
achievement of the key objectives and to secure the assets of the organisation. In 
essence it is, therefore, an integral part of good business practice.  Risk management 
is concerned with evaluating the measures an organisation already has in place to 
manage identified risks and then recommending the action the organisation needs to 
take to control these risks effectively. 
 
It is the overall responsibility of the Cabinet to approve the Council’s risk management 
strategy, and to promote a culture of risk management awareness throughout the 
Council. The Audit Board reviews and monitors the Council’s arrangements for risk 
management. 
 

Page 76Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

15 
 

E.1.1 The key controls for risk management are: 

 

(a) procedures are in place to identify, assess, prevent or contain material 
known risks, and these procedures are operating effectively throughout 
the Council 

 

(b) a monitoring process is in place to review regularly the effectiveness of 
risk reduction strategies and the operation of these controls. The risk 
management process should be conducted on a continuous basis 

 

(c) managers know that they are responsible for managing relevant risks 
and are provided with relevant information on risk management 
initiatives 

 

(d) provision is made for losses that might result from the risks that remain 

 

(e) acceptable levels of risk are determined and insured against where 
appropriate 

 

(f) the Council has identified business continuity plans for implementation 
in the event of disaster that results in significant loss or damage to its 
resources. 

 

E.1.2 The Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services is responsible for: 
 

(a) preparing and promote the Council’s risk management strategy and to 
effect corporate insurance cover, through external insurance and 
internal funding, and to negotiate all claims in consultation with other 
officers, where necessary. 

 

(b) The  Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services is responsible for 
developing risk management controls in conjunction with other Directors 
and Senior Managers who must also take responsibility for risk 
management, having regard to advice from the Chief Officer and 
Director of Corporate Services and other specialist officers. 

 

E.1.3 Directors must ensure there are regular reviews of risk within their 
directorates in accordance with the risk management strategy and they must 
notify the Section 151 Officer promptly of all new risks, properties or vehicles 
that require insurance and of any alterations affecting existing insurances. 

 

E.1.4 Senior Managers: 
 

(a) will notify the Section 151 Officer immediately of any loss, liability or 
damage that may lead to a claim against the Council, together with any 
information or explanation required by the Section 151 Officer or the 
Council’s insurers. 

Page 77 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

16 
 

 

(b) must notify the Section 151 Officer and the Head of Legal Services on 
the terms of any indemnity that the Council is requested to give, and not 
to enter into such indemnity without specific approval. 

 

(c) Directors and Senior Managers must ensure that employees, or anyone 
covered by the Council’s insurances, do not admit liability or make any 
offer to pay compensation that may prejudice the assessment of liability 
in respect of any insurance claim. 

 
E.2 INTERNAL CONTROLS 
 
Why is this important? 
 
The Council is a complex organisation and beyond the direct control of individuals.  It 
therefore requires internal controls to manage and monitor progress towards strategic 
objectives and statutory obligations. 
 
The Council faces a wide range of financial, administrative and commercial risks, both 
from internal and external factors, which threaten the achievement of its objectives.  
Internal controls are necessary to manage the risks. 
 
The system of internal controls is established in order to provide measurable 
achievement of: 
 

(a) efficient and effective operations 
 
(b) reliable financial information and reporting 
 
(c) compliance with laws and regulations 
 
(d) risk management 

 
Key controls 
 
The key controls and control objectives for internal control system are: 
 

(a) key controls should be reviewed on a regular basis and the Council 
should make a formal statement annually to the effect that it is satisfied 
that the systems of internal control are operating effectively 

 
(b) managerial control systems, including defining policies, setting 

objectives and plans, monitoring financial and other performance and 
taking appropriate anticipatory and remedial action.  The key objective 
of these systems is to promote ownership of the control environment by 
defining roles and responsibilities 

 
(c) financial and operational control systems and procedures, which include 

physical safeguards for assets, segregation of duties, authorisation and 
approval procedures and information systems 

Page 78Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

17 
 

 
(d) an effective internal audit function that is properly resourced. It should 

operate in accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and 
the principles contained in the CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Internal 
Audit in Local Government in the United Kingdom and with any other 
statutory obligations and regulations. 

 

E.2.1 The Section 151 Officer will assist the Council to put in place an appropriate 
control environment and effective internal controls, which provide reasonable 
assurance of effective and efficient operations, financial stewardship, probity 
and compliance with laws and regulations. 

 

E.2.2 Directors will manage processes to check that established controls are being 
adhered to and to evaluate their effectiveness, in order to be confident in the 
proper use of resources, achievement of objectives and management of 
risks. 

 

E.2.3 Directors and Senior Managers will: 
 

(a) review existing controls in the light of changes affecting the Council and 
to establish and implement new ones in line with guidance from the 
Section 151 Officer.  Directors should also be responsible for removing 
controls that are unnecessary or not cost or risk effective – e.g. because 
of duplication. 

 
(b) ensure staff have a clear understanding of the consequences of lack of 

control. 
 
E.3 INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
Why is this important? 
 
The requirement for an internal audit function for local authorities is implied by section 
151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which requires that authorities “make 
arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs”.  The Accounts 
and Audit Regulations 2015, regulation 5, more specifically require that “a relevant 
authority must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its 
risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 
internal auditing standards or guidance.” 
 
Accordingly, internal audit is an independent and objective appraisal function 
established by the Council for reviewing the system of internal control.  It examines, 
evaluates and reports on the adequacy of internal control as a contribution to the 
proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources. 
 

E.3.1 The key controls for internal audit are: 
 

(a) that it is independent in its planning and operation 
 

Page 79 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

18 
 

(b) the Chief Audit Executive has direct access to the Head of Paid Service, 
all levels of management and directly to elected Members 
 

(c) internal auditors comply with the CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Internal 
Audit in Local Government in the United Kingdom. 

 

E.3.2 The Section 151 Officer will ensure that internal auditors have the authority 
to: 

 
(a) access Council premises at reasonable times 
 
(b) access all assets, records, documents, correspondence and control 

systems 
 
(c) receive any information and explanation considered necessary 

concerning any matter under consideration 
 
(d) require any employee of the Council to account for cash, stores or any 

other Council asset under his/her control 
 
(e) access records belonging to third parties, such as contractors, when 

required 
 
(f) directly access the Head of Paid Service, the Cabinet and Audit Board. 

 

E.3.3 The Audit Manager will also: 
 

(a)  recommend the strategic and annual audits plans and take account of 
the characteristics and relative risks of the activities involved, for 
approval by the Audit Board as appropriate. 
 

(b) ensure that effective procedures are in place to investigate promptly any 
fraud or irregularity. 

 

E.3.4 Directors and Senior Managers will: 

 
(a)  ensure that internal auditors are given access at all reasonable times to 

premises, personnel, documents and assets that the auditors consider 
necessary for the purposes of their work. 
 

(b) ensure that auditors are provided with any information and explanations 
that they seek in the course of their work. 
 

(c) consider and respond promptly to recommendations in audit reports in 
accordance with the audit protocol. 
 

(d) ensure that any agreed actions arising from audit recommendations are 
carried out in a timely and efficient fashion. 
 

Page 80Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

19 
 

(e) notify the Section 151 Officer, the Chief Officer and Director of Corporate 
Services and the Audit Manager immediately of any suspected fraud, 
theft, irregularity, improper use or misappropriation of the Council’s 
property or resources.  Pending investigation and reporting, the Manager 
should take all necessary steps to prevent further loss and to secure 
records and documentation against removal or alteration. 
 

(f) ensure that new systems for maintaining financial records, or records of 
assets, or changes to systems, are discussed with and agreed by the 
Section 151 Officer prior to implementation. 
 

 
E.4 EXTERNAL AUDIT 
 
Why is this important? 
 
The Council’s accounts are scrutinised by external auditors, who must be satisfied that 
the statement of accounts ‘presents fairly’ the financial position of the Council and its 
income and expenditure for the year in question and complies with the legal 
requirements. 
 

E.4.1 Our current external auditors were appointed by the Audit Commission 
however future auditors will be appointed by the Council in line with the 
procedures specified in the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.   

 

E.4.2 The Section 151 Officer will: 
 

(a) Ensure that external auditors are given access at all reasonable times to 
premises, personnel, documents and assets that the external auditors 
consider necessary for the purposes of their work. 
 

(b) To ensure there is effective liaison between external and internal audit. 
 

(c) To work with the external auditor and advise the General Assembly of 
the Council, Audit Board, Cabinet and Directors on their responsibilities 
in relation to external audit. 

 

E.4.3 Directors and Senior Managers will ensure that external auditors are given 
access at all reasonable times to premises, personnel, documents and 
assets which the external auditors consider necessary for the purposes of 
their work. 

 

E.4.4 Directors and Senior Managers will ensure that all records and systems are 
up to date and available for inspection. 

  

Page 81 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

20 
 

 
E.5 PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 
 
Why is this important? 
 
The Council will not tolerate fraud and corruption in the administration of its 
responsibilities whether from inside or outside the Council. 
 
The Council’s expectation of propriety and accountability is that Members and staff at 
all levels will lead by example in ensuring adherence to legal requirements, rules, 
procedures and practices. 
 
The Council also expects that individuals and organisations (e.g. suppliers, 
contractors, service providers) with whom it comes into contact will act towards the 
Council with integrity and without thought or actions involving fraud and corruption.  
 

E.5.1 The key controls regarding the prevention of financial irregularities are that:  
 

(a) the Council has an effective Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy and 
maintains a culture that will not tolerate fraud or corruption 
 

(b) all Members and staff act with integrity and lead by example 
 

(c) high standards of conduct are promoted amongst members by the Audit 
Board 
 

(d) the maintenance of registers of hospitality (Members and Officers) in 
which any hospitality or gifts accepted must be recorded 
 

(e) the maintenance of registers of interest (Members and Officers) 
 

(f) whistle-blowing procedures are in place and operate effectively  
 

E.5.2 The Section 151 Officer will: 

 
(a) develop and maintain an Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy and 

Whistleblowing Policy. 
(b) be responsible for anti-money laundering policies and practices as the 

anti-money laundering officer 
(c) maintain adequate and effective internal control arrangements. 
(d)  ensure that all suspected irregularities are reported to the Audit 

Manager and the Head of Paid Service, as appropriate. 
 

E.5.3 Directors and Senior Managers will: 
 

(a) ensure that all suspected irregularities are reported to the Audit Manager 
Section 151 Officer and the Head of Paid Service. 

 

Page 82Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

21 
 

(b)  instigate the Council’s disciplinary procedures or reference to the 
Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer (for breaches of the Member 
Code of Conduct) where the outcome of an audit investigation indicates 
improper behaviour. 

 
(c)  ensure that where financial impropriety is discovered, the Section 151 

Officer is informed, and where sufficient evidence exists to believe that 
a criminal offence may have been committed, the police are called in to 
determine with the Crown Prosecution Service whether any prosecution 
will take place. 

 
(d)  maintain any specific registers of hospitality, where relevant. 

 
E.6 ASSETS - SECURITY 
 
Why is this important? 
 
The Council holds assets in the form of property, vehicles, equipment, furniture and 
other items worth millions of pounds. It is important that assets are safeguarded and 
used efficiently in service delivery, and that there are arrangements for the security of 
both assets and information required for service operations. An up-to-date asset 
register is a prerequisite for proper fixed asset accounting and sound asset 
management. 
 

E.6.1 The key controls for the security of resources such as land, buildings, fixed 
plant machinery, equipment, software and information are: 

 
(a) resources are used only for the purposes of the Council and are properly 

accounted for 
 
(b) resources are available for use when required 
 
(c) resources no longer required are disposed of in accordance with the law 

and the regulations of the Council so as to maximise benefits 
 
(d) an asset register is maintained for the Council and assets are recorded 

when they are acquired by the Council and this record is updated as 
changes occur with respect to the location and condition of the asset  

 
(e) all staff are aware of their responsibilities with regard to safeguarding the 

Council’s assets and information, including the requirements of the Data 
Protection Act 2018, UK GDPR and software copyright legislation 

 
(f) all staff are aware of their responsibilities with regard to safeguarding the 

security of the Council’s computer systems, including maintaining 
restricted access to the information held on them and compliance with 
the Council’s computer e-mail and internet security policies. 

 
 

Page 83 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

22 
 

E.6.2 The Section 151 Officer will ensure that an asset register is maintained in 
accordance with good practice for property, plant and equipment .  The 
function of the asset register is to provide the Council with information about 
fixed assets so that they are: 
 
(a) Safeguarded 
 
(b) used efficiently and effectively 
 
(c) adequately maintained 

 

E.6.3 The Section 151 Officer will also receive the information for accounting, 
costing and financial records from each Director and ensure that assets are 
valued in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting. 

 

E.6.4 The relevant Director will maintain a property database in a form approved 
by the Section 151 Officer for all land and property currently owned or 
tenanted by the Council. 

 

E.6.5 Where land or buildings are surplus to requirements, a recommendation for 
sale should be made to the Section 151 Officer. 

 

E.6.6 Directors and Senior Managers are responsible:   
 

a) To ensure that lessees and other prospective occupiers of Council land do not  
take possession or enter the land until a lease or other contractual agreement 
has been established. 

 
b) To ensure the proper security of all buildings and other assets under their 

control. 
 

c) To ensure that any health and safety issues arising from Council owned 
property are brought to the attention of the Property Services Manager or the 
Housing Maintenance Manager if relating to Housing Stock.  

 
d) To ensure that no Council asset is subject to a personal use by an employee 

without proper authority. 
 

e) To ensure the safe custody of vehicles, equipment, furniture, stock stores and 
other property belonging to the Council. 

 
f) To ensure that the section maintains a register (inventory) of moveable assets 

in accordance with arrangements defined by the Section 151 Officer. 
 

g) To ensure that assets are identified, their location recorded and that they are 
appropriately marked and insured. 

 
h) To ensure cash holdings on premises are kept to a minimum. 

Page 84Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

23 
 

 
i) To ensure that keys to safes and similar receptacles are kept secure at all times; 

loss of any such keys must be reported to the Section 151 Officer as soon as 
possible. 

 
j) To record all disposal or part exchange of assets that should normally be by 

competitive tender or public auction, unless the Section 151 Officer agrees 
otherwise. 

 
k) To arrange for the valuation of assets for accounting purposes to meet 

requirements specified by the Section 151 Officer. 
 

l) To ensure that all employees are aware that they have a personal responsibility 
with regard to the protection and confidentiality of information, whether held in 
manual or computerised records.  Information may be sensitive or privileged, 
or may possess some intrinsic value, and its disclosure or loss could result in a 
cost to the Council in some way. 

 
E.7 INVENTORIES 
 

E.7.1 Directors and Senior managers will: 

 

a) Maintain inventories of moveable assets and record an adequate 
description of furniture, fittings, equipment, plant and machinery above 
the value of £1,000. See Financial Guide on intranet for further details. 

 

b) Carry out an annual check of all items on the inventory in order to verify 
location, review conditions and to take action in relation to surpluses or 
deficiencies, annotating the inventory accordingly.  Attractive and 
portable items such as computers, cameras and video recorders should 
be identified with security markings as belonging to the Council. 

 
Make sure that property is only used in the course of the Council’s business, unless 

the Director concerned has given permission otherwise.  

Page 85 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

24 
 

 
E.8 STOCKS AND STORES 
 

E.8.1 Directors and Senior managers will: 
 

a) Make arrangements for the care and custody of stocks and stores in the 
directorate. 

 

b) Ensure stocks are maintained at reasonable levels and are subject to a 
regular independent physical check. All discrepancies should be 
investigated and pursued to a satisfactory conclusion. 

 

c) Investigate and recommend removal from the Council’s records (i.e. 
write off) discrepancies as necessary, or to obtain Cabinet approval in 
line with delegation regarding the writing off of debt. 

 

d) Seek Cabinet approval to the write-off of redundant stocks and 
equipment in excess of a predetermined sum. 

 
E.9 ASSEST DISPOSAL 
 
Why is this important? 
 
It would be uneconomic and inefficient for the cost of assets (for example, buildings 
and major items of plant and equipment or vehicles) to outweigh their benefits. 
Obsolete, non-repairable or unnecessary resources should be disposed of in 
accordance with the law and the rules of the Council. 
 

E.9.1 Assets for disposal are identified and are disposed of at the most appropriate 
time, and only when it is in the best interests of the Council, and best price is 
obtained, bearing in mind other factors, such as environmental issues.  For 
items of significant value, disposal should be by competitive tender or public 
auction. 

 

E.9.2 These procedures protect staff involved in the disposal from accusations of 
personal gain. 

 

E.9.3 Land disposals must comply with the Strategic Asset Management Plan. 
 

E.9.4 The Section 151 Officer will issue guidelines representing best practice for 
disposal of assets and ensure appropriate accounting entries are made to 
remove the value of disposed assets from the Council’s records and to 
include the sale proceeds, if appropriate. 

 

Page 86Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

25 
 

E.9.5 Directors and Senior Managers will arrange for the disposal of surplus or 
obsolete materials, stores or equipment, in accordance with agreed 
procedures and will ensure that income received for the disposal of an asset 
is properly banked and coded. 

 
 
 
E.10 TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND BANKING 
 
Why is this important? 
 
Many millions of pounds pass through the Council’s books each year, leading to the 
establishment of internal codes of practice.  These aim to provide assurances that the 
Council’s money is properly managed in a way that balances risk with return, but with 
the overriding consideration being given to the security of the Council’s capital sum. 
 
Key controls 
 

E.10.1 The key controls for Treasury Management are that the Council’s borrowings 
and investments comply with the Treasury Management in the Public 
Services: Code of Practice and with the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy as approved by the Council. 

 

E.10.2 The Council’s Treasury Management Panel must oversee the Treasury 
Management Function in accordance with its terms of reference. 

 

E.10.3 The Section 151 Officer will: 
 

a) Arrange the borrowing and investments of the Council in such a manner 
as to comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 
and the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement. 
 

b) Report (at least) twice a year on treasury management activities to the 
Cabinet including a year-end report.  
 

c) Operate bank accounts as are considered necessary – opening or 
closing any bank account will require the approval of the Section 151 
Officer and Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services 

 
d) Ensure that all investments of money are made in the name of the 

Council or in the name of approved nominees. 
 

e) Ensure that all securities that are the property of the Council or its 
nominees and the title deeds of all property in the Council’s ownership, 
are held in the appropriate custody. 

 
f) Effect all borrowings in the name of the Council. 

 
g) Act as the Council’s registrar of stocks, bonds and mortgages and to 

maintain records of all borrowing of money by the Council.  

Page 87 Agenda Item 15

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2011-edition-cdrom
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2011-edition-cdrom


DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

26 
 

 

E.10.4 Maximum limits for cash holdings and guidance around record keeping will 
be agreed with the Section 151 Officer. Limits will not be exceeded without 
his/her express permission. 

 

E.10.5 Directors and Senior Managers will: 

 
a) ensure that loans are not made to third parties and that interests are not 

acquired in companies, joint ventures or other enterprises without the 
approval of the Section 151 Officer. 

 
b) Only use cash for transactions when approved by the Section 151 

Officer. 
 

E.11 STAFFING 
 
Why is this important? 
 
In order to provide the highest level of service, it is crucial that the Council recruits and 
retains high calibre, knowledgeable staff, qualified to an appropriate level. 
 

E.11.1 The key controls for staffing are: 
 

a) an appropriate workforce strategy  
 

b) procedures are in place for forecasting staffing requirements and cost 
 

c) controls are implemented that ensure that staff time is used efficiently 
and to the benefit of the Council 
 

d) checks are undertaken prior to employing new staff to ensure that they 
are appropriately qualified, experienced and trustworthy. 
 

e) Controls are in place to ensure that only properly authorised 
appointments are made 

 

E.11.2 The Section 151 Officer will: 
 

a) Ensure that budget provision exists for approved staffing levels. 
 

b) Act as an advisor to Directors and Senior Managers on areas such as 
national insurance and pension contributions, as appropriate. 

 

E.11.3 Directors and Senior Managers will: 
 

a) ensure that the staffing budget is an accurate forecast of staffing levels 
and is equated to an appropriate revenue budget provision (including on-
costs and overheads). 

 

Page 88Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

27 
 

b) monitor staff activity to ensure adequate control over such costs as 
sickness, overtime, training and temporary staff. 

 
c) ensure that the staffing budget is not exceeded and that it is managed to 

enable the agreed level of service to be provided. 
 
d) ensure that the Section 151 Officer are immediately informed if the 

staffing budget is likely to be materially overspent. 
 

F. FINANCIAL SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 
 
F.1 CONTROL OF SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 
 
Why is this important? 
 
Directorates have many systems and procedures relating to the control of the 
Council’s assets, including procurement, costing and management systems.  
Directorates are predominantly reliant on computers for their financial management 
information.  The information must therefore be accurate and the systems and 
procedures sound and well administered.  They should contain controls to ensure that 
transactions are properly processed and errors detected promptly. 
 
The Section 151 Officer has a professional responsibility to ensure that the Council’s 
financial systems are sound and should therefore be notified of any new developments 
or changes. 
 

F.1.1 The key controls for systems and procedures are: 
 

a) basic data exists to enable the Council’s objectives, targets, budgets and 
plans to be formulated 
 

b) performance is communicated to the appropriate managers on an 
accurate, complete and timely basis 
 

c) early warning is provided of deviations from target, plans and budgets 
that require management attention 
 

d) operating systems and procedures are secure 
 

F.1.2 The Section 151 Officer will:  
 

a) issue advice, guidance and procedures for officers and others acting on 
the Council’s behalf 
 

b) determine the accounting systems, form of accounts and supporting 
financial records  
 

c) establish arrangements for audit of the Council’s financial affairs 
 

d) approve any new financial systems to be introduced 

Page 89 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

28 
 

 
e) approve any changes to be made to existing financial systems. 

 

F.1.3 Directors will:  
 

a) establish a scheme of delegation identifying officers authorised to act 
upon their behalf in respect of payments, income collection and 
procurement, including variations, and showing the limits of their 
authorisation. 

 
b) supply lists of authorised officers, with specimen signatures and 

delegated limits, to the Section 151 Officer, together with any subsequent 
variations. 

 
c) ensure that effective contingency arrangements, including back-up 

procedures, exist for computer systems.  Wherever possible, back-up 
information should be securely retained in a fire proof location, preferably 
off site or at an alternative location within the building. 

 
d) To ensure there is a documented and tested disaster recovery plan to 

allow information system processing to resume quickly in the event of an 
interruption. 

 

F.1.4 Directors and Senior Managers will: 
 

a) ensure that accounting records are properly maintained and held 
securely. 
 

b) ensure that vouchers and documents with financial implications are not 
destroyed, except in accordance with arrangements approved by the 
Section 151 Officer. 
 

c) ensure that a complete management trail, allowing financial transactions 
to be traced from the accounting records to the original document, and 
vice versa, is maintained.  

 
d) To incorporate appropriate controls to ensure that, where relevant: 

 

 all input is genuine, complete, accurate, timely and not previously 
processed 

 

 all processing is carried out in an accurate, complete and timely 
manner 

 

 output from the system is complete, accurate and timely. 
 

e) To ensure that, where practical, the organisational structure provides an 
appropriate segregation of duties to provide adequate internal controls 
and to minimise the risk of fraud or other malpractice. 
 

Page 90Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

29 
 

 
f) To ensure that systems are documented and staff trained in operations. 

 
g) To consult with the Section 151 Officer before changing any existing 

system or introducing new systems. 
 

h) To ensure that, where appropriate, computer systems are registered in 
accordance with data protection legislation and that staff are aware of 
their responsibilities under the legislation. 

 
i) To ensure that relevant standards and guidelines for computer systems 

issued by the relevant Director are observed. 
 

j) To ensure that computer equipment and software are protected from loss 
and damage through theft, vandalism, etc. 

 
k) To comply with the copyright designs and patents legislation and, in 

particular, to ensure that: 
 

 only software legally acquired and installed by the Council is used 
on its computers 

 

 staff are aware of legislative provisions 
 
F.2 INCOME 
 
Why is this important? 
 
Income can be a vulnerable asset and effective income collection systems are 
necessary to ensure that all income due is identified, collected, receipted and banked 
properly.  It is preferable to obtain income in advance of supplying goods or services 
as this improves the Council’s cashflow and also avoids the time and cost of 
administering debts. 
 

F.2.1 The key controls for income are: 
 

a) all income due to the Council is identified and charged correctly 
 

b) all income is collected from the correct person, at the right time, using the 
correct procedures and the appropriate recording equipment 

 
c) all money received by an employee on behalf of the Council is paid 

without delay to the Section 151 Officer or, as he/she directs, to the 
Council’s bank account, and properly recorded.  The responsibility for 
cash collection should be separated from that: 
 

 for identifying the amount due 
 

 for reconciling the amount due to the amount received 
 

Page 91 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

30 
 

d) effective action is taken to pursue non-payment within defined timescales 
 

e) formal approval for debt write-off is obtained 
 

f) appropriate write-off action is taken within defined timescales 
 

g) appropriate accounting adjustments are made following write-off action 
 

h) all appropriate income documents are retained and stored for the defined 
period in accordance with the document retention schedule 
 

i) money not allocated and deposited is reconciled to the bank account by 
a person who is not involved in the collection or banking process. 

 

F.2.2 The Section 151 Officer will: 
 

a) agree arrangements for the collection of all income due to the Council 
and to approve the procedures, systems and documentation for its 
collection. 

 
b) ensure that appropriate accounting adjustments are made following write-

off action. 
 

F.2.3 The Section 151 Officer will: 
 

a) agree the write-off of bad debts up to £10,000 in each case and to refer 
larger sums to the Cabinet.  
 

b) obtain the approval of the Cabinet in consultation with the relevant 
Director for writing off debts in excess of £10,000. 

 

F.2.4 Directors and Senior Managers will: 
 

a) establish charges for the supply of goods or services, including the 
appropriate charging of VAT. 

 
b) separate the responsibility for identifying amounts due and the 

responsibility for collection, as far as is practicable. 
 

c) establish and initiate appropriate recovery procedures, including legal 
action where necessary, for debts that are not paid promptly. 
 

d) issue official receipts or to maintain other documentation for income 
collection. 

 
e) hold securely receipts, tickets and other records of income for the 

appropriate period. 
 

Page 92Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

31 
 

f) lock away all income to safeguard against loss or theft, and to ensure the 
security of cash handling.  Cash handling should be minimised and the 
Section 151 Officer must approve any new arrangements. 

 
g) ensure that income is paid fully and promptly into the appropriate Council 

bank account in the form in which it is received. Appropriate details should 
be recorded on to paying-in slips to provide an audit trail.  

 
h) raise accounts promptly for work done, goods supplied, services 

rendered or other amounts due.  
 

i) ensure that sums due to the Council are recorded correctly, monitor 
recovery of income and flag up areas of concern to the Section 151 
Officer.  Directors have a responsibility to assist the Section 151 Officer 
in collecting debts that they have originated, by providing any further 
information requested by the debtor, and in pursuing the matter on the 
Council’s behalf. 

 
j) recommend to the Section 151 Officer all debts to be written off up to 

£5,000 and to keep a record of all sums written off.  Once raised, no bona 
fide debt may be cancelled, except by full payment or by its formal writing 
off.  A credit note to replace a debt can only be issued to correct a factual 
inaccuracy or administrative error in the calculation and/or billing of the 
original debt. 

 
k) obtain the approval of the Section 151 Officer and where appropriate 

Cabinet, when writing off debts in excess of £5,000. 
 

l) notify the Section 151 Officer of outstanding income relating to the 
previous financial year as soon as possible after 31 March in line with the 
timetable determined by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
F.3 PROCURING AND PAYING FOR WORK, GOODS AND SERVICES 

 
Why is this important? 

 
Public money should be spent with demonstrable probity and in accordance with the 
Council’s policies.  Authorities have a statutory duty to achieve best value in part 
through economy and efficiency.  The Council’s procedures should help to ensure that 
services obtain value for money from their purchasing arrangements. 
 

F.3.1 Every officer and Member of the Council has a responsibility to declare any 
links or personal interests that they may have with purchasers, suppliers 
and/or contractors if they are engaged in contractual or purchasing decisions 
on behalf of the Council, in accordance with relevant codes of conduct. 

 

Page 93 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

32 
 

F.3.2 Official orders must be in a form approved by the Section 151 Officer.  Official 
orders must be issued for all work, goods or services to be supplied to the 
Council, except for supplies of utilities, periodic payments such as rent or 
rates, petty cash purchases or other exceptions specified by the Section 151 
Officer. 

 

F.3.3 The normal method of payment to suppliers will be by BACS transfer. 
Payment by cheque will only be agreed in exceptional circumstances.  The 
use of direct debit requires the prior agreement of the Section 151 Officer. 

 

F.3.4 The key controls for ordering and paying for work, goods and services are: 
 

a) all goods and services are ordered only by appropriate persons and are 
correctly recorded 
 

b) all goods and services will be ordered in accordance with the Council’s 
Contract Standing Orders and procurement procedures 
 

c) goods and services received are checked to ensure they are in 
accordance with the order 
 

d) payments are not made unless goods have been received by the Council 
to the correct price, quantity and quality standards 
 

e) all payments are made to the correct person, for the correct amount and 
are properly recorded, regardless of the payment method 
 

f) all appropriate evidence of the transaction and payment documents are 
retained and stored for the defined period, in accordance with the 
document retention schedule 
 

g) all expenditure, including VAT, is accurately recorded against the right 
budget and any exceptions are corrected 
 

h) in addition, processes must be in place to ensure the security and integrity 
of data transferred in e-business/e-commerce and electronic purchasing 
transactions 

 

F.3.5 The Section 151 Officer will: 
 

a) ensure that all the Council’s financial systems and procedures are sound 
and properly administered. 
 

b) approve any changes to existing financial systems and to approve any 
new systems before they are introduced. 
 

c) approve the form of official orders and associated terms and conditions. 
 

Page 94Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

33 
 

d) To make payments from the Council’s funds on the budget holder’s 
authorisation that the expenditure had been duly incurred in accordance 
with Financial Regulations and Standing Orders (including Contract 
Standing Orders). 
 

e) To make payments, whether or not provision exists within the estimates, 
where the payment is specifically required by statute or is made under a 
court order. 
 

f) To make payments to contractors on authorisation of a contract 
certificate, which must include details of the value of work, retention 
money, amounts previously certified and amounts now certified. 
 

g) To provide advice and guidance on making payments by the most 
economical means. 
 

h) To ensure that a budgetary control system is established that enables 
commitments incurred by placing orders to be shown against the 
appropriate budget allocation so that they can be taken into account in 
budget monitoring reports. 

 

F.3.6 Directors and Senior Managers will: 
 

a) ensure that goods and services are procured in accordance with these 
Financial Regulations and Contract Standing Orders using systems and 
procedures approved by the Section 151 Officer. 
 

b) ensure that purchase orders are only used for goods and services for the 
Council.  Individuals must not use official orders to obtain goods or 
services for their private use. 
 

c) ensure that only authorised staff originate orders and that an up-to-date 
list of authorised staff are maintained, including specimen signatures 
identifying in each case staffs’ authorised limits.  The authoriser of the 
order should be satisfied that the goods and services ordered are 
appropriate and needed, that there is adequate budgetary provision and 
that quotations or tenders have been obtained if necessary. Best value 
principles should underpin the Council’s approach to procurement.  Value 
for money should always be achieved. 

 
d) ensure that goods and services are checked on receipt to verify that they 

are in accordance with the order.  This check should, where possible, be 
carried out by a different officer from the person who authorised the order.  
Appropriate entries should then be made in inventories or stores records. 

 
e) ensure that all appropriate payment records are retained and stored for 

the defined period, in accordance with the Data Retention and Disposal 
Policy and Schedule. 

 

Page 95 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

34 
 

f) ensure that a two stage process as below is adopted to authorise any 
invoice for payment and that the two stages are authorised by separate 
officers. 

 
Stage 1  
 
The first stage of the authorisation process, either online or by signing the “Goods 
received” or “checked and coded” boxes on the relevant form, means confirmation 
that: 

 

 the goods works or services have been received and are of the required 
quantity and quality and fit for the purpose intended 

 

 that the invoice has not previously been paid 
 

 that expenditure has been charged against the correct budget 
 

 that prices are arithmetically correct and accord with quotations, tenders, 
contracts or catalogue prices, or are otherwise reasonable 

 

 where VAT is included, it is correct and in the required format  
 

 that discounts have been taken where available 
 

 that if the invoice is in payment for non-consumable moveable assets 
valued at over £500, an entry has been made on the relevant inventory 

 
Stage 2  
 
The second stage of the authorisation process, either online or by signing the “certified 
by” box on the relevant form, means confirmation that: 
 

 The invoice has passed through the stage 1 process 
 

 That any Contract Standing Order or Financial Regulation relevant to the 
purchase of the goods or services has been complied with e.g. rules for 
quotations and/or tenders. 

 

 The expenditure has been correctly authorised and budget provision 
exits. 

 

 ensure that payments are only made following receipt of a formal invoice, 
and that no payment is made on a photocopy or statement.  

 

 ensure that the directorate obtains best value from purchases by taking 
appropriate steps to obtain competitive prices for goods and services of 
the appropriate quality, having regard to the Procurement Guide. The 
financial thresholds for procurement are specified in Contract Standing 
Order 7. 

Page 96Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

35 
 

 

F.3.7 Whilst there is a general presumption in favour of open competition, there will 
be some circumstances where it may not be appropriate. In such 
circumstances the requirements of Contract Standing Order 13 should be 
followed 

 

F.3.8 If a contractor or consultant is responsible for procuring goods or services on 
behalf of the Council then they must abide by the Council’s Contract Standing 
Orders and Procurement Guide. Directors and Spending Officers responsible 
for the appointment of contractors or consultants are required to bring this to 
their attention where relevant. 

 

F.3.9 Directors will: 
 

a) Provide a list of staff approved to authorise invoices to the Section 151 
Officer.  This will include names of authorising officers together with 
specimen signatures and details of expenditure limits. 

 
F.4 PAYMENTS TO EMPLOYEES AND MEMBERS 
 
Why is this important? 
 
Staff costs are the largest item of expenditure for most Council services.  It is therefore 
important that payments are accurate, timely, made only where they are due for 
services to the Council and that payments accord with individuals’ conditions of 
employment.  It is important that all payments are accurately recorded and accounted 
for, and that Members’ allowances are authorised in accordance with the Members’ 
Allowances Scheme adopted by the General Assembly of the Council. 
 

F.4.1 The key controls for payments to employees and Members are: 
 

a) proper authorisation procedures are in place and that there is adherence 
to corporate timetables for: 

 starters 

 leavers 

 variations 

 additional payments 
 

b) frequent reconciliation of payroll expenditure against approved budget 
and bank account 
 

c) all appropriate payroll documents are retained and stored for the defined 
period in accordance with the Data Retention and Disposal Policy and 
Schedule. 
 

d) Inland Revenue regulations are complied with. 
 
 

 

Page 97 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

36 
 

F.4.2 The Section 151 Officer will: 
 

a) Arrange for the secure and reliable payment of salaries wages, or other 
emoluments to employees, in accordance with procedures prescribed by 
him/her, on the due date. 
 

b) record and make arrangements for the accurate and timely payment of 
tax, pension and other deductions. 

 
c) make arrangements for payment of all travel and subsistence and other 

claims. 
 

d) make arrangements for paying Members’ allowances in accordance with 
the scheme approved by the Council. 

 
e) ensure that there are adequate arrangements to meet any pension 

administration timescales set by Kent County Council.  
 

f) ensure appointments are made in accordance with the regulations of the 
Council and approved establishments, grades and scale of pay and that 
adequate budget provision is available. 

 
g) To ensure that adequate and effective systems and procedures are 

operated, so that: 
 

 payments are only authorised to bona fide employees 

 payments are only made where there is a valid entitlement 

 conditions and contracts of employment are correctly applied 

 employees’ names on the payroll are checked at regular intervals 
to verify accuracy and completeness 

 

F.4.3 Senior Managers will: 
 

 
a) ensure that payroll transactions are processed only through the payroll 

system.  Directors should give careful consideration to the employment 
status of individuals employed on a self-employed consultant or 
subcontract basis.  The Inland Revenue applies a tight definition for 
employee status, and in cases of doubt, advice should be sought from 
Financial Services (payroll). 

 
b) certify travel and subsistence claims, overtime and other allowances.  

Certification is taken to mean that journeys were authorised and 
expenses properly and necessarily incurred, and that allowances are 
properly payable by the Council, ensuring that cost-effective use of travel 
arrangements is achieved.  Due consideration should be given to tax 
implications and that the Section 151 Officer is informed, where 
appropriate. 

 

Page 98Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

37 
 

F.4.4 Members should: 
 

a) submit claims for any allowances, that require the completion of a claim 
form e.g. travel and subsistence allowances, on a monthly basis and, in 
any event, within one month of the year end. 

 
G. TAXATION 
 
Why is this important? 
 
Like all organisations, the Council is responsible for ensuring its tax affairs are in order. 
Tax issues are often very complex and the penalties for incorrectly accounting for tax 
are severe. It is therefore very important for all officers to be aware of their role.  
 
G.1 Key controls for taxation are: 
 

a) budget managers are provided with relevant information and kept up to 
date on tax issues 
 

b) budget managers are instructed on required record keeping 
 

c) all taxable transactions are identified, properly carried out and 
accounted for within stipulated timescales 
 

d) records are maintained in accordance with instructions 
 

e) returns are made to the appropriate authorities within the stipulated 
timescale. 

 
G.2 The Section 151 Officer will: 
 

a) Complete all HMRC returns regarding PAYE. 
 
b) Complete a monthly return of VAT inputs and outputs to HMRC. 

 
c) Provide details to the HMRC regarding the construction industry tax 

deduction scheme. 
 

d) Maintain up-to-date information for Council employees on taxation 
issues in the Financial Guide. 

 
G.3 Directors and Senior Managers will: 
 

a) ensure that the correct VAT liability is attached to all income due and that 
all VAT recoverable on purchases complies with HMRC regulations, 
seeking advice when necessary. 

 
b) ensure that, where construction and maintenance works are undertaken, 

the contractor fulfils the necessary construction industry tax deduction 
requirements. 

Page 99 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

38 
 

 
c) ensure that all employment appointments are carried out using the 

approved procedures.  
 

d) follow the guidance on taxation issued in the Financial Guidance Manual. 
 

e) Obtain the approval of the Director of Corporate Services before the 
appointment of anyone classed as self-employed or someone from an 
agency. 

 
H. EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
 
H.1 PARTNERSHIPS 
 
Why is this important? 
 
Increasingly, local authorities are working in partnership to deliver services  It is 
important that the financial arrangements around partnerships are clearly defined and 
liabilities and risks are made explicit. 
 

H.1.1 Financial matters relating to arrangements whereby one council administers 
funds jointly on behalf of itself and others will be subject to the financial 
standing orders and rules of the administering council, subject to the Section 
151 Officer considering these to be satisfactory. 

 

H.1.2 Directors and Senior Managers will ensure that they follow the guidance in 
the Council’s Code of Practice for Effective Partnership Working when 
entering into any partnership arrangement. 

 

H.1.3 Directors and Senior Managers will maintain a record of all contracts entered 
into with partner  bodies in accordance with procedures specified by the 
Section 151 Officer. 

 

H.1.4 Directors and Senior Managers will ensure that, before entering into 
agreements with external bodies, the risk provisions in relation to the Code 
of Practice for Effective Joint Working Arrangements are complied with.  

 

H.1.5 Directors and Senior Managers will ensure that such agreements and 
arrangements do not impact adversely upon the services provided by the 
Council. 

 

H.1.6 Directors and Senior Managers will ensure that all agreements and 
arrangements are properly documented and that the appropriate governance 
arrangements have been approved by the relevant Director. 

 

H.1.7 Directors and Senior Managers will provide appropriate information to the 
Head of Finance to enable a note to be entered into the Council’s Statement 
of Accounts concerning material items. 

 

Page 100Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

39 
 

H.1.8 Senior Managers are responsible for ensuring that appropriate approvals are 
obtained from a Director before any negotiations are concluded in relation to 
partnership arrangements with external bodies. 
 

H.2 EXTERNAL FUNDING 
 
Why is this important? 
 
Funding from external agencies will remain an important potential source of income 
for the Council.  Such opportunities need to be maximised whilst ensuring that the 
Council can meet any obligations, which may be placed on it. 
 

H.2.1 The Key controls for external funding are: 

 

a) to ensure that key conditions of funding and any statutory requirements 
are complied with and that the responsibilities of the accountable body 
are clearly understood. 

 

b) to ensure that funds are acquired only to meet the priorities approved in 
the policy framework by the General Assembly of the Council and the 
Corporate Plan. 

 

c) to ensure that any match-funding requirements are given due 
consideration prior to entering into long-term agreements and that future 
revenue budgets reflect these requirements. 

 

d) to ensure that when external funding is provided for a limited period only, 
that the implications of losing the funding is disclosed to Members. 

 

 

H.2.2 The Section 151 Officer will ensure that all funding notified by external bodies 
is received and properly recorded in the Council’s accounts. 

 

H.2.3 The Section 151 Officer will ensure that the match-funding requirements are 
considered prior to entering into the agreements and that future revenue 
budgets reflect these requirements. 

 

H.2.4 The Section 151 Officer will ensure that all specified audit requirements are 
met. 

 

H.2.5 The appropriate Senior Manager will ensure that all claims for funds are 
made by the due date. 

 

H.2.6 The appropriate Senior Manager will ensure that the project progresses in 
accordance with the agreed project timetable and that all expenditure is 
properly incurred and recorded. 

 

Page 101 Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

40 
 

H.2.7 Terms and conditions for external funding must be agreed by the relevant 
Director, in consultation with the Head of Legal Services and the Section 151 
Officer. 

 
H.3 WORK FOR THIRD PARTIES 
 
Why is this important? 
 
Current legislation enables the Council to provide a range of services to other bodies. 
Such work may enable a unit to maintain economies of scale and existing expertise.  
Arrangements should be in place to ensure that any risks associated with this work is 
minimised and that such work is intra vires. 
 
Key controls 
 
The key controls for working with third parties are: 
 
(a) To ensure that proposals are costed properly in accordance with guidance 
provided by the Section 151 Officer 
 
(b) To ensure that contracts are drawn up using guidance provided by the Section 
151 Officer and Head of Legal Services and that the formal approval processes are 
adhered to 
 
(c) To ensure guidance is issued for the financial aspects of third party contracts 
 
 

H.3.1 The Section 151 Officer will issue guidance with regard to the financial 
aspects of third party contracts. 

 

H.3.2 Directors and Senior Managers will: 
 

a) ensure that the approval of the Cabinet or Officers under 
delegated authority is obtained before any negotiations are 
concluded to work for third parties. 

 
b) maintain a register of all contracts entered into with third parties 

in accordance with procedures specified by the Section 151 
Officer. 

 
c) ensure that appropriate insurance arrangements are made. 

 
d) ensure that the Council is not put at risk from bad debts arising 

from the arrangements. 
 

e) ensure that no contract is subsidised by the Council. 
 

f) ensure that, wherever possible, payment is received in advance 
of the delivery of the service. 

Page 102Agenda Item 15



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

41 
 

 
g) ensure that the unit has the appropriate expertise to undertake 

the contract. 
 

h) ensure that such contracts do not impact adversely upon the 
services provided for the Council. 

 
i) ensure that all contracts are properly documented and monitored. 

 
j) provide appropriate information to the Section 151 Officer to 

enable a note to be entered into the statement of accounts. 
 

 
 

Page 103 Agenda Item 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 104



 

1 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 22 July 2021 at 7.00 pm  
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman) 
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE 
Councillor A R Lloyd 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells 
 

ALSO PRESENT: Sarah Martin  - Chief Officer & Director of Corporate    
Services 
Peter Dosad       -  Director of Housing & Public Protection 
Caroline Hicks    -  Director of Growth & Community 
Alan Twyman      - Democratic Services Manager 
 

  
 

25. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Councillor Brown. 
 
The Cabinet sent their congratulations to Councillor Oliver for his recent 
marriage to Kyle. 
 

26. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

27. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET 
HELD ON 24 JUNE 2021  
 
The Cabinet considered the minutes of the meeting held on 24 June 2021. 
 

28. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

29. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 19 JULY 2021  
 
The Cabinet received the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel B 
held on 19th July 2021 and had regard to the Panel’s views throughout the 
meeting. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel B held on 19th July 
2021 be noted. 
 

Page 105 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 22 JULY 2021 

 

2 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

30. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES  
 
There were no references from other committees. 
 

31. DRAFT FIT AND PROPER PERSON FEES POLICY - THE MOBILE HOMES 
(REQUIREMENT FOR MANAGER OF SITE TO BE A FIT AND PROPER 
PERSON)(ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2020  
 
The Cabinet received a report which reminded Members that the Cabinet had 
approved the Council’s Fit and Proper Person Determination Policy at its last 
meeting on the 24 June 2021 (Minute No. 9/21 refers). That Policy had set out 
the matters and considerations taken into account for assessing and 
determining applications for a fit and proper person test for the owners and 
site managers of relevant mobile home sites. Site owners had three months 
from the 1 July 2021, up until and including 30 September 2021, to submit 
completed applications to local authorities.  
 
 
The Council may charge fees in respect of the new fit and proper person test 
function and must prepare and publish a fees policy before it can charge a 
fee. Where the fees policy is revised, the Council must publish the revised 
policy and act in accordance with that policy. It was therefore proposed that 
application fees should introduced from 1 October 2021, thereby incentivising 
applicants to apply within the permitted three month timeframe. 

 
The Cabinet considered the draft Fit and Proper Person Test Fees Policy, 
attached at Appendix A to the report, to provide for a robust and consistent 
approach to the process. The draft Fees Policy set out the following: 

 

 the fees payable for applications for an entry on the register;  

 the matters and appropriate costs taken into account in setting each 
type of fee; 

 the method of apportionment of those costs in setting those fees; and 

 such other matters as the Council considers to be relevant. 
 

The hourly rate for undertaking a fit and proper person assessment and/or 
checks to be included on the fit and proper person register was included in 
Appendix 1 of the Fees Policy. It was proposed that the total fee for 
processing an application for a relevant person to be included on the fit and 
proper person register should be £255, subject to annual review. This fee 
would not be refunded where an application for inclusion in the register was 
rejected. 

 
 RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the draft Fit and Proper Person Fees Policy, attached at Appendix A 
to the report, be approved; and 

 
2. That the Director of Housing and Public Protection be granted delegated 

authority to approve any in-year revisions to the Fit and Proper Person 
Fees Policy, as required, subject to publication of the revised Policy. 

Page 106Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 22 JULY 2021 

 
 

3 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
 

 
32. CONSULTATION ON LONDON BOROUGH OF BEXLEY LOCAL PLAN 

REGULATION 19 PROPOSED SUBMISSION VERSION  
 
The Cabinet was informed that the London Borough of Bexley was currently 
consulting on the proposed submission version of the next iteration of the 
Bexley Plan, which set out where development would be located within the 
Borough up to 2038. The Plan described the spatial strategy for Bexley and 
the policies that it intended to apply to deliver housing, economic 
development, an integrated and sustainable transport system and transport 
infrastructure, and commitment to protect the Green Belt. The Council’s 
proposed submission, attached at Appendix B to the report, was broadly 
supportive of the contents of the Bexley Local Plan and noted the importance 
of the area of Green Belt between the two boroughs and shared transport 
concerns. The report also noted that authorities had a duty to co-operate with 
each other on strategic matters which crossed administrative boundaries, that 
meetings had taken place between officers of both authorities throughout the 
Local Plan production process and that both parties were working towards the 
production of a statement of common ground in advance of the submission of 
the Bexley and Dartford Local Plans later in the year. 
 
The Chairman noted the comments made by the Chairman of Cabinet 
Advisory Panel B and his wish for Dartford’s response on the consultation on 
the Bexley Local Plan to be amended to highlight his concerns about further 
development impacting on the M25 junction at Bob Dunn Way, which already 
suffered from heavy traffic congestion, which would be worsened by the 
planned construction of a commercial warehouse in the area. 
 
The Director of Growth & Community explained that the Council’s officers had 
worked closely with their counterparts from Bexley and that changes had 
been made to the proposed Local Plan in response to comments made by 
DBC. However Bexley had to deliver the requirements contained in the 
London Plan. Most of the development would be in the west of the borough of 
Bexley and could impact upon traffic flows between the two boroughs. It was 
noted that the Local Plan had respected the integrity of Dartford marshes. 
 
The Chairman did not feel that the response to the consultation should be 
amended on the basis of concerns about a particular application. He 
suggested instead that a side-letter should accompany the response and 
should thank Bexley for their co-operation and the changes made during the 
consultation process but also drawing attention to Dartford’s sensitivity to 
 traffic that could be generated to the east of their schemes which could 
impact on the junction with the M25. He noted reference in the Plan to 
Dartford Borough Council supporting the extension of Crossrail but explained 
that this is a long term project with a number of issues still to be worked 
through. 
 

RESOLVED: 

Page 107 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 22 JULY 2021 

 

4 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
That the Council’s response to the Bexley Proposed Submission Local Plan, 
set out in Appendix B to the report, be endorsed.     
 

33. AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN  
 
The Director of Housing & Public Protection presented a report which detailed 
recent data collected relating to Air Quality in the Borough. The report 
explained the different content and sources of air pollution, including what 
constituted ‘background pollution’ and localised sources of air pollution. It also 
explained the measures in place to assess air pollution across the borough 
and the operation of the four ‘Air Quality Management Areas’ (AQMA’s) in the 
Borough where pollutants had been found to exceed required legal levels. 
The location of air quality monitoring stations were described along with 
details of data collected by the Council. It was noted that levels of NO2 had 
decreased at the majority of the 55 monitoring sites across the borough in 
2019, and that the 7 sites which breached the annual objective level were 
located in the AQMA’s. Levels of PM10 had also remained well below 
objective levels and there had been a downward trend in air pollution since 
2013.  
 
Where a local authority had established an AQMA it had a statutory duty to 
produce an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) detailing measures to improve air 
quality. Whilst the AQAP’s produced by the Council in 2001 and 2009 had 
served the borough well, many of the measures included in the plans had 
been implemented. It was felt to be sensible to revisit and update the plans, in 
line with the Council’s priorities to address these issues and to create cleaner 
and greener places to live and work. The report detailed the steps necessary 
to produce a new AQAP. This had included carrying out a review of air quality 
and the local sources of pollution. In addition to this work, it was proposed to 
revoke AQMA4 (Bean Interchange) as air quality had improved significantly at 
the Bean AQMA and because, as a result of Highways England 
improvements at the road junction, the residential properties that existed 
when the AQMA had originally been declared, were no longer present.  It was 
intended to re-locate the monitoring station. 
 
In response to a question, the Director of Housing stations & Public Protection 
gave details of the locations of the testing stations and explained how data 
was collected from other sites across the borough on a regular basis and 
reported as part of the data collected for London. 
 
The Vice-Chairman asked whether there were any concerns about air quality 
across the borough. The Director of Housing & Public Protection explained 
that air quality was a priority for the Council but levels of pollutants were 
generally falling across the borough, but it was important to monitor this 
continuously and to target any particular areas of concern through 
mechanisms such as the Planning process. Most of the issues around poor 
air quality were related to traffic, speed flows and engine stress and there 
were measures that could mitigate these.  
 
 RESOLVED: 

Page 108Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 22 JULY 2021 

 
 

5 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
1. That Cabinet notes the report contents, air quality findings and associated 

work; and     
 
2. That, following A2 road junction improvement works and the subsequent 

removal of residential properties at the Bean Interchange, Cabinet 
authorises the Environmental Health Manager to revoke AQMA 4 (Bean 
Interchange) under section 83(2)(b) of the Environment Act 1995, for the 
reasons outlined in paragraphs 3.33 to 3.36 of the report. The 
Environmental Health Manager will then oversee the re-installation of the 
monitoring station at an appropriate location, once the works have been 
completed.   

 
34. REVIEW OF THE SCHEME OF DELEGATIONS TO OFFICERS  

 
The Cabinet received an update on the Scheme of Delegations to Officers. 
Members were reminded that legislation permitted the delegation of the 
respective functions of the Council and Executive to officers. The delegation 
of functions to officers reduced the amount of detailed decision making 
required to be carried out directly by the General Assembly of the Council and 
by the Cabinet, enabling those bodies to focus on strategic policy issues, 
major matters of substance and maintaining oversight of the Council’s 
activities. The Scheme of Delegations detailed the parameters of the 
delegations and who could exercise the delegations. To ensure that the 
Scheme of Delegations remained fit for purpose an annual review was carried 
out by the Head of Legal Services, in conjunction with Directors and Heads of 
Service. However, in view of recent organisational change, and the fact that 
the delegations had not been considered by the Cabinet and GAC for some 
time, it was considered appropriate to present the updated Scheme of 
Delegations to them for approval. 
 
The Chairman said that, although Dartford was a Member-led authority,  it 
made sense that routine and operational decisions were delegated to officers. 
The Scheme of Delegations to Officers had worked well and the delegations 
were sensible, rational and appropriate.  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet, in pursuance of powers under Sections 14(3)(b) & (5) of the 
Local Government Act 2000 and all other powers enabling, continues to 
delegate to Officers, to the extent of its respective powers, the Cabinet 
functions referred to in the Preamble to the Scheme of Delegations to Officers 
and the Sub-delegations, at Appendices A and B to the report and contained 
in the addendum.  
 

35. CAPITAL PROGRAMME INCLUDING PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS - 
OUTTURN 2020/21  
 
The Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services presented a report which 
detailed the final pre-audit figures for the 2020/21 Capital Programme, the 

Page 109 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 22 JULY 2021 

 

6 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

capital resources that were used to fund it and those that remained available 
to fund future investment. There had been an underspend of £1.7M on 
Council housing projects, which was mainly due to COVID and a national 
shortage of building materials, but it was proposed to carry forward most of 
the underspend to 2021/22. There had also been an underspend of £2.89M 
on the General Fund for the reasons outlined in the report, of which some 
£2.18M was due to delays to town centre transport and public realm 
improvements because of the need to re-tender the works.     
 
Attention was drawn to the addendum to the report, which had been circulated 
electronically and published on the Council’s web site, which contained a 
revised Appendix C and the revised recommendations contained in the 
addendum.  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That Cabinet notes the draft outturn for the capital programme for 2020/21; 

 
2. That Cabinet notes the draft outturn position for 2020/21 on capital 

resources, and the balance available to be carried forward into 
2021/22; 

 
3. That the residual capital budget requirement necessary to complete the 

2020/21 projects, as set out in revised Appendix C to the addendum to 
the report be noted; 
 

4. That the General Assembly of the Council be recommended to carry 
forward the total capital budgets into 2021/22 as set out in the revised 
Appendix C to the Addendum; and 

 
5. That Cabinet note the outturn position on the capital prudential Indicators 

as shown in Appendix D. 
 

36. REVENUE OUTTURN 2020/21  
 
The Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services presented a report which 
detailed the final pre-audit 2020/21 figures for the General Fund and Housing 
Revenue Accounts, including the reasons for any significant variances 
compared to the probable outturn. Overall it was projected that there would be 
an underspend of £1.5M.The Council had received considerable sums of 
COVID support during the year, some of which had not been spent during the 
year but had been placed into reserves to be rolled forward. It was also 
reported that the Council’s income from external fund investments had been 
higher than anticipated. Continuing pressure on the temporary 
accommodation budget was noted. 
 
The Chairman noted the impact of shut-downs and restrictions during the year 
and that expectation that certain income streams would recover during the 
post COVID recovery period. He also reported the opening of 3 new purpose 
built bungalows for the disabled at   Mead Crescent as part of the Council’s 
new build programme. 

Page 110Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 22 JULY 2021 

 
 

7 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the 2020/21 outturn for the General Fund and Housing Revenue 
Accounts, together with the reasons for significant variances compared to 
probable outturn, be noted. 
 

37. ANNUAL TREASURY REPORT 2020/21  
 
The Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services presented the Annual 
Treasury Report which detailed the outturn position, subject to audit, of the 
Council’s investments and borrowing for the 2020/21 financial year, as well as 
advising Members of the outturn position of the Council’s treasury indicators. 
There had been a change to Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) borrowing 
rules to prohibit borrowing to purchase ‘investment assets primarily for yield’ 
but this would not impact the Council as it did not borrow from the PWLB for 
that purpose. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder commended the work of the Finance team and 
the Council’s external treasury advisor, Arlingclose. He noted that the Council 
had been well served by its prudent approach to treasury management and 
that the £87M loan the Council had taken out to buy itself out of the negative 
subsidy on housing had been reduced to £47M, with a further £5M to be 
repaid next year, and that the Housing Revenue Account was in good shape. 
He believed that the Council’s investment strategy was delivering good results 
and saw  no reason to change this at the current time.    
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the Cabinet notes the outturn for the Council’s treasury management 
operations for 2020/21, subject to audit; and 
 
2. That the Cabinet notes the outturn for the Council’s treasury indicators.  
 

38. REVENUE MONITORING 2021/22  
 
The Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services provided an update on 
current financial performance against the 2021/22 General Fund and Housing 
Revenue Account to date and confirmed that it was expected that services 
would be delivered within the overall budget. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account monitoring update, 

attached at Appendix A to the report, be noted; and 
 
2. That the key General Fund income streams at Appendix B to the report be 

noted. 
 
 

Page 111 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 22 JULY 2021 

 

8 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

39. CAPITAL MONITORING 2021/22  
 
The Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services introduced a report which 
detailed the progress to date on the schemes in the approved Capital 
Programme and the latest position on capital resources. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance noted the intention to install a new 
boiler at the Orchard Theatre and felt that this could be an opportunity to 
introduce a ‘green’ solution to demonstrate the Council’s ‘green’ credentials 
and to provide leadership. The Director of Housing & Public Protection 
explained that the Council had recently secured a decarbonisation grant to 
fund works at the Civic Centre and other buildings and was now looking at 
submitting a further application to the same fund for the Orchard boiler 
replacement.  
 
The Chairman noted that there had been some initial work carried out on the 
refurbishment of play spaces and stressed the importance that these should 
be inclusive play areas, accessible by everyone.   
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet notes the progress to date on the 2021/22 Capital 
Programme and the budget and resources detailed in Appendices A and B to 
the report. 
 
 

The meeting closed at 7.47 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 

Page 112Agenda Item 16



1 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 23 September 2021 at 
7.00 pm  

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman) 
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells 
 

ALSO PRESENT: Sarah Martin, Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services 
Peter Dosad, Director of Housing & Public Protection 
Caroline Hicks, Director of Growth & Community 
Sonia Collins, Head of Planning Services 
Alan Twyman, Democratic Services Manager      
 

 
40. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Councillor Lloyd. 
 

41. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

42. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 22 JULY 
2021  
 
The Cabinet considered the minutes of the meeting held on 22 July 2021. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 22 July 2021 be 
confirmed as an accurate record. 
 

43. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

44. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF CABINET ADVISORY PANEL A HELD ON 
20 SEPTEMBER 2021  
 
The Chairman noted that no Members of the Labour Group had been able to 
attend the Cabinet Advisory Panel and said that if any Member of the Group 
wished to discuss anything contained in the agenda they should contact the 
appropriate Cabinet Member who would be happy to help. 
 

Page 113 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 

2 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel A 
held on 20 September 2021 and had regard to the Panel’s views throughout 
the meeting. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel A held on 20 
September 2021 be noted. 
 

45. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES  
 
There were no references from other committees. 
 

46. POLICY FOR PUBLICISING ENVIRO-CRIMES, ASBO'S, VERDICTS AND 
SENTENCES  
 
The Director of Housing & Public Protection presented a report which 
proposed the introduction of a policy to support and enhance the Council’s 
regulatory and enforcement activities. The report explained that the Council 
had a number of teams delivering regulatory and enforcement functions which 
protected the public, public funds, the environment and groups such as 
consumers, residents, tenants, workers and businesses. It also had a wide 
range of responsibilities and powers in relation to anti-social behaviour, mainly 
within three distinct service areas; Community Safety, Environmental Health, 
and Housing Services. The Council’s teams worked together closely and the 
Council actively pursued fraud and criminal offences. It was felt however that 
these regulatory and enforcement activities would be further supported and 
enhanced if a Council-wide policy was developed which provided guidance on 
the publication of environmental crime, criminal behaviour orders, verdicts and 
sentences via the Council’s media channels. This approach would support the 
proactive work undertaken by the Council and also act as a deterrent to 
potential future offenders. The policy also set out the parameters for 
publicising such matters, to ensure that any decisions to publicise activities 
would be for a legitimate purpose, be necessary and proportionate, and that 
the handling of data would be in accordance with legislation and the Council’s 
policies for data handing, equalities and diversity.  The policy would improve 
the effectiveness, transparency and accountability of enforcement activities 
and also assist with preventing and detecting crime, identifying offenders and 
discouraging offending and re-offending. The policy would also be supported 
by a Communications & Media Protocol for Investigating Officers.  
 
The Chairman welcomed the introduction of the policy but was concerned 
about the wording of paragraph 6.3 of the policy which stated that ‘in order for 
the publication of the image to be necessary in pursuit of a legitimate purpose, 
all other reasonable means of tracing or identifying the suspect must have 
failed.’ He felt that this was too high a threshold and suggested that the 
second part of the sentence should be reworded as follows ‘when other 
reasonable means of identifying and tracing the suspect have been carried 
out.’ He felt that this was more realistic and achievable.  
 

Page 114Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 
 

3 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Safety also questioned the 
wording of the disclaimer, detailed in paragraph 5.7.4(e) of the policy, which 
sought to preclude the storage, recording, republishing or other processing of 
details of sentencing outcomes published on the Council’s web site without 
the explicit agreement of the Council. He pointed out that it would be 
impossible for the Council to enforce this and that once material had been 
published on social media it was frequently shared and retweeted. The 
Chairman agreed and said that, whilst the Council could delete material from 
its own social media channels whenever it wished, it could not control or 
delete anything that had been shared or forwarded from that post as it 
effectively lived forever on social media. He felt that if this was not a legal 
requirement this should be removed from the disclaimer. The Director of 
Housing & Public Protection said that he would raise both of these issues with 
the Head of Legal Services. 
 
The Chairman noted the discussion that had taken place at the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel, which had supported the introduction of the policy. He noted 
the suggestion that the Council should publish a timeline of live cases on its 
web site and he felt that this could be explored further down the line once the 
policy had been implemented, where the Council determined that the issue 
was significant.      
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Policy for Publicising Environmental Crime, Criminal Behaviour 
Orders, Verdicts and Sentences, set out in Appendix A to the report, be 
endorsed.  
 

47. COMMUNICATIONS AND MEDIA PROTOCOL FOR INVESTIGATING 
OFFICERS  
 

The Director of Housing & Public Protection explained that a Communications 
& Media Protocol for Investigating Officers had been developed to underpin the 
new Policy for Publicising Environmental Crime, Criminal Behaviour Orders, 
Verdicts and Sentences. The report detailed how the Protocol would ensure 
that the Council communicated effectively with residents on its regulatory and 
enforcement activities and would provide guidance to investigating Officers 
across Council departments on their communications relating to their regulatory 
and enforcement activities, thereby ensuring that these were lawful, well-
coordinated, effectively managed and responsive to the diverse information 
needs of the Council and the public. The Protocol provided a guide and set of 
principles to work by, which had been written with the aim of protecting the 
reputation of the Council in publicising environmental crime, criminal behaviour 
orders, verdicts and sentences, and providing it with the framework to deliver 
much improved communications to the public on its regulatory and enforcement 
activities. The Protocol would also ensure that any instruction to the 
Communications Team to publicise an image, environmental crime, criminal 
behaviour orders and verdicts and sentences, including sharing with the media, 
would be for a legitimate purpose, and be necessary and proportionate. 
 

Page 115 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 

4 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 RESOLVED: 
 

That the Communications & Media Protocol for Investigating Officers, 
attached at Appendix A to the report, be endorsed. 
 

48. DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE - PARKING STUDY - OBJECTIVES AND 
APPROACH  
 
The Head of Planning Services introduced a report which detailed parking 
pressures on the roads around Dartford Town centre arising from town centre 
activities, development and commuter parking. To address this a more 
integrated approach was required to address on-street and off-street parking, 
as well as parking for new development and to look beyond purely reactive 
measures. In order to fully understand the parking issues it was proposed to 
carry out a comprehensive parking study of the Town Centre and its environs. 
The area for study had been determined by identifying a radius of 10 minute 
walking time from Dartford railway station and extending the area to the 
nearest ‘natural boundary’. In view of the scale and diverse nature of this area 
it was proposed to break the area down into sub-zones, in consultation with 
local ward Members, to be prioritised for detailed analysis, investigation and 
consultation with stakeholders and residents. The initial study would examine 
on-street parking and an evaluation of the current on-street parking controls 
and enforcement. The challenge was to find a balance between the needs of 
residents, businesses and visitors, and to minimise the impact of commuter 
parking on local residents, whilst being mindful of any potential displacement 
of parking pressures. 
 
The area under review contained a total of 106 roads and over 8,000 
properties, including the High Street and the core of the Town Centre. Should 
parking controls be deemed to be necessary, if supported by residents, it was 
likely that each sub-area/zone would have its own individual consultation, with 
parking permits being issued in appropriate streets within that zone only, in 
order to stop inter-zone commuting. The report outlined the scope, 
methodology and stages of the proposed study and the Cabinet was asked to 
agree the identified provisional study area and arrangements for consultation 
with ward Members, Officers and Kent County Council Highways. A further 
report would then be submitted to Cabinet with regard to priority areas for 
further work and more detail on the consultation stage and survey work. 
 
The Chairman noted that in the past it had only been possible to examine one 
or two parking schemes a year due to a lack of resource, and despite an 
increase in that resource, the study needed to be realistic and achievable. 
Ward Member support had always been important in taking parking schemes 
forward and he welcomed the proposed involvement of Ward Members in the 
study. He felt that it was important that Members recognised that they must be 
partners in the consultation study and should work with officers to ensure that 
they did not make promises to residents that were undeliverable and which 
could be thrown back at the Council as a result. He also felt that there should 
be clear and specific criteria of the circumstances where schemes would be 
progressed and when they would not be pursued arising from the study.  
 

Page 116Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 
 

5 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Safety explained how the parking 
consultation in Bow Arrow Lane had been driven by the local Ward Members 
who had sent out letters in their own name, but printed by the Council, and 
had delivered these themselves. The Council would then follow up by 
delivering consultation leaflets. It was felt that this could provide a good model 
for the wider study.  
 
The Cabinet noted the comments made at the Cabinet Advisory Panel but did 
not support extending the study area to the A282. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the provisional area for the Parking Study be agreed, as identified in 

Appendix A to the report, and the work on identification of the priority areas 
be undertaken, as set out in paragraph 7.2 of the report; and  

 
2. That a further report be presented to the Cabinet in due course setting out: 
 

(i)   the results of the Identification Stage; 
(ii)  the recommended priorities for consultation and further investigation; &  
(iii) details of the proposed Stage 1 informal consultation and the area(s) 

that this will relate to.  
  
 

49. REVISION TO PART 1 OF THE APPROVED SCHEME OF DELEGATIONS 
TO OFFICERS: 1-4-1 RIGHT-TO-BUY REPLACEMENT SCHEME 
DELEGATIONS  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which proposed increasing the financial 
threshold for the delegated authority of the Director of Housing & Public 
Protection applying to the 1-4-1 Right-to-Buy Replacement Scheme property 
sales and purchases, from £300,000 to £500,000.The Director of Housing & 
Public Protection explained that the current financial limit of £300,000 was 
impacting on the Council’s ability to purchase larger houses on the open 
market due to rising property prices both nationally and locally, whilst there 
was a shortage of available 3 and 4 bedroom properties to rent within the 
Council’s housing stock to meet the needs of larger families. Raising the 
financial threshold would better place the Council to acquire larger family 
homes for Council housing should they become available to purchase. 
 
The Chairman said that it was not only the rising property prices that had 
been problematic but also the valuations assigned to some of the properties. 
The Director of Housing & Public Protection said that there was now a better 
understanding of the local housing market which was addressing this.  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That, for the reasons referred to in paragraphs 3.3 and 3.5 of the report, the 
financial threshold relating to the 1-4-1 Right-to Buy Replacement Property 

Page 117 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 

6 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

Sales and Purchases delegation, within which the Director of Housing & 
Public Protection is authorised to act, be increased to £500,000. 
  
 

50. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING: SITE 1 - NORTHFLEET WEST SUB-
STATION (PHASE 2C) AND SITE 2 - STONE LODGE DEVELOPMENT 
COMPLEX ACCESS ROAD  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which sought approval for the names of two 
new roads for the next phase of the Northfleet West Sub-station and the main 
access to the Stone Lodge Development Complex. The proposed names had 
been submitted for consultation to Council Members, the Emergency 
Services, Royal Mail and the developer, who were happy with them, and 
complied with the Council’s policy on Street Naming. Suitable suffixes would 
be chosen once the final road names had been approved. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the single new rad name for the next phase of the Northfleet West 

Sub-station development be approved as Rixson; and  
 
2. That the single new road name for the access way to the Stone Lodge 

Development Complex be approved as Stone Lodge.   
 

51. OMBUDSMAN ANNUAL REVIEW LETTER  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which presented the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter 2021 relating to complaints 
against the Council and decisions made by the Ombudsman for the year 
ending 31 March 2021, statistics as to the outcomes of investigations, and the 
Housing Ombudsman’s Landlord Performance Data for 2019/20. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual Review 

Letter 2021, at Appendix A to the report, and the corresponding data tables 
at Appendix B to the report, be noted; and 

 
2. That the Housing Ombudsman’s Landlord Performance Data 2019/20, at 

Appendix C to the report, be noted. 
 

52. COMMITTEE MINUTES  
 
The Cabinet received the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing 
Board held on 14 July 2021 and of the meeting of the Policy Overview 
Committee held on 20 July 2021. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 118Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 
 

7 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meetings of the Strategic Housing Board held on 14 
July 2021 and of the Policy Overview Committee held on 20 July 2021 be 
noted. 
 
 

The meeting closed at 7.38 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 
 

Page 119 Agenda Item 16



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 120Agenda Item 16



1 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 28 October 2021 at  
7.10 pm  

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman) 
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor A R Lloyd 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells 
 

ALSO PRESENT: Sarah Martin, Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services 
Peter Dosad, Director of Housing & Public Protection 
Sonia Collins, Head of Planning Services 
Alan Twyman, Democratic Services Manager 
 

 
53. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
The Chairman expressed his deepest sadness on the recent passing of 
Councillor Ann Allen who had been a Member of the Borough Council, Kent 
County Council and Wilmington Parish Council for many years as well as a 
long standing Member of the Cabinet. He paid tribute to Councillor Allen and 
her support for many local people and organisations and for her contribution 
to the life of Dartford and Kent. He sent his deepest sympathies and 
condolences to her family and friends. The Cabinet observed a moment of 
reflection. 
 
The Cabinet also sent their condolences. 
 
There were no apologies for absence.   
 

54. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

55. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 23 
SEPTEMBER 2021  
 
The Cabinet considered the minutes of its meeting held on 23 September 
2021. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 23 September 2021 be 
confirmed as an accurate record. 
 

56. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 

Page 121 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 28 OCTOBER 2021 

 

2 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
57. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL B 

HELD ON 25 OCTOBER 2021  
 
The Cabinet received the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel B 
held on 25 October 2021 and had regard to the Panel’s views throughout the 
meeting. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel B held on 25 
October 2021 be noted. 
 

58. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES  
 
There were no references from other committees. 
 

59. DRAFT TENANCY STRATEGY AND TENANCY POLICY  
 
The Director of Housing & Public Protection introduced a report which 
presented a new draft Tenancy Policy and new Tenancy Strategy for 
approval. The report explained that the Localism Act 2011 placed a statutory 
duty on local authorities to produce a Tenancy Strategy setting out the 
matters to which registered providers of social housing in their area should 
have regard when formulating their Tenancy Policies. The Council’s Tenancy 
Strategy had been adopted in 2012 followed by the Tenancy Policy in 2013 
and had been reviewed periodically.  The Tenancy Policy also set out the 
Council’s approach to the types of tenancies it will grant and other tenancy 
management policies. 
 
On the 24 June 2021, the Cabinet approved the ending of the use of flexible 
(fixed term) tenancies for new and existing Council tenants as the anticipated 
benefits of that type of tenancy had not materialised. As a result all current 
flexible tenancies were to be replaced by a lifetime tenancy which was the 
Council’s new preferred form of tenancy and all new tenancies would be 
offered on this basis. The revised Tenancy Strategy and Tenancy Policy had 
been developed to reflect this change in the policy framework and had been 
consulted with key stakeholders, including the Tenant and Leaseholders 
Forum. 
 
The Chairman noted that the Cabinet Advisory Panel had made a number of 
comments, including concerns about tenants whose income might increase 
beyond the qualifying threshold, but whom would still have a secure tenancy 
whilst others in housing need remained on the waiting list. He understood 
these concerns and cited a number of high profile cases in other areas where 
entitlement to social housing had been abused. However he explained that 
the Council was an organisation that respected residents’ entitlement to 
dignity in their homes and to the certainty that lifetime tenancies provided. He 
also recognised that it would be impractical to conduct regular reviews of 
tenant’s incomes and that the Council did not have the necessary powers to 
do so effectively. 

Page 122Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 28 OCTOBER 2021 

 
 

3 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance wondered whether there might be a 
case for having tiered rental charges which could rise to near market rental 
charges for tenants on higher incomes and also asked if resources that had 
previously been devoted to assessing tenants’ incomes would be redeployed. 
He also regretted that there was no ability for Councils to ascertain 
declarations of earnings, unlike the situation with mortgage applications.  
 
The Director of Housing & Public Protection said that it was not legal to tier 
rental charges for social housing in this way and that very little resource had 
been devoted to assessing income as the Council had no powers to do so 
and had to rely on the honesty of the tenant  in disclosing income. When the 
decision to use flexible tenancies had been taken it was envisaged that 
legislation would be made to give authorities powers to assess incomes but 
this had never happened.    
 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the draft Tenancy Strategy, attached at Appendix A to the report, be 
approved; and 
 
2. That the draft Tenancy Policy, attached at Appendix B to the report, be 
approved.  
 

60. ACCEPTANCE OF TENDER - MANAGEMENT OF HOUSING REVENUE 
ACCOUNT GARAGE PORTFOLIO  
 
The Director of Housing & Public Protection presented a report which 
explained that, following an audit recommendation in respect of the Council’s 
garage management service in August 2020, a review had been held on the 
utilisation of assets and how to improve the current garage occupancy rate. 
The Council owned 1225 garages located at over 70 sites, ranging from a 
single garage to more than 50 garages in a block. Originally garages were 
provided as part of the development of the Council’s housing estates for use 
by its tenants but the changing pattern of tenure meant that the majority of the 
garages were now let to private tenants and that the letting of garage units 
was independent of the allocation of Council housing. Garage units were no 
longer sold due to ongoing management difficulties associated with mixed 
tenure garage sites. It was also unlikely that any of the remaining garage sites 
could be developed for housing due to various site constraints. The Cabinet 
had therefore agreed in October 2020 that the management of the Council’s 
garage portfolio should be tendered. The service had been tendered in such a 
way that other housing landlords could use the Council’s framework tender 
process, which would then generate an income stream to the Council. The 
report outlined the procurement and evaluation process undertaken and 
although only one detailed tender had been received, the tenderer had scored 
highly in the quality evaluation of the tender and the tendered cost was 
considered to be reasonable and within budget parameters. The Dartford 
Tenants and Leaseholders Forum had been consulted and would also be 

Page 123 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 28 OCTOBER 2021 

 

4 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

included in contract monitoring arrangements. It was proposed to award the 
contract for a period of 4 years and the aim was to deliver a seamless service 
to current garage users.   
 
The Chairman noted that the Cabinet Advisory Panel had questioned why the 
management of the contract was being outsourced. He said that this was a 
specialised area and noted that the Council’s focus had been to provide high 
quality housing for residents.  
 
The Director of Housing & Public Protection explained that the garages were 
currently managed by officers drawn from different teams whose primary 
objectives were to provide quality housing. The garage stock had complex, 
mixed tenancy arrangements, with many units being in poor condition and 
with challenges around lighting and security. Establishing an in-house team to 
manage the stock was considered to be more costly than the cost of the 
management fee and it was felt that a specialist contractor could deliver a 
better outcome quickly. A framework had also been put in place which could 
be used by other authorities or providers which could generate a small income 
for the Council.    Whilst the Council would retain ownership of the stock and 
be responsible for costs associated with ownership, such as insurance, he 
confirmed that the management fee was performance driven. He also 
confirmed that whilst it was unlikely that any of the remaining garage sites 
would be suitable for residential development due to site constraints, the 
Council retained the ability to do so if an opportunity arose.   

 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

That, for the reasons detailed in the body of the report, the Council enters into 
a contract with Company A (as referred to in exempt Appendix A to the report) 
on terms to be agreed by the Head of Legal Services, for the management of 
the Housing Revenue Account Garage Portfolio, for 4 years, from 1 
December 2021. 
 

61. DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION PROJECT - PROJECT 
UPDATE  
 
The Head of Planning Services presented an update on the progress on the 
Dartford Town Centre project which began in 2018. The project, was initially 
to have been delivered in 4 phases, jointly funded by a grant from the Homes 
and Communities Agency and Local Growth Funding, but a further Phase 
(1(a) High Street) was added to the project scope in December 2018 and it 
was proposed to add a further phase, 3(a) Spital Street, subject to funding. 
Phase  1 of the project, Market Street, had been completed in December 
2020 and was already delivering regeneration benefits. 
 
The original project was to have been delivered by Summer 2021 but was 
interrupted by the global Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent materials supply 
issues related to the construction of Phases 1a and 2. These, and the 
proposed addition of Phase 3a Spital Street, meant that completion was now 
projected for early 2024.  

Page 124Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 28 OCTOBER 2021 

 
 

5 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

The prolongation of the completion date had arisen because the separate 
phases of the project were reliant on the preceding phase being complete 
before being able to commence construction – meaning that each phase-
related delay had a direct effect upon the whole-project completion. Across 
the sector, pricing by prospective contractors has been severely affected by 
industry-wide uncertainty, materials shortages and unprecedented increases 
in shipping costs – meaning that it was necessary to apply caveats and larger 
than normal levels of contingency  

The report detailed the current position with each phase of the project, 
including delays to the progress of phase 1(a) High Street and to beginning 
phase 2 Instone Road and Highfield Road Junction improvements, for the 
reasons explained in the report, including rising costs and disputes with the 
contractor which the Council was seeking to resolve. To ensure that the 
original scope of the project, and the desired expansion of the project to 
incorporate the transport, street works and public realm improvements in 
Spital Street, could be delivered it was proposed to draw down additional 
funding of £4.15M from Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funding, which 
was subject to a separate report on the agenda.  

The Chairman informed the Cabinet of the very positive feedback that he was 
getting from local people on the phases of work that had been completed. He 
noted the extraordinary factors that had resulted in some delays to the works 
and rises in costs arising from global price increases for materials and 
shipping. He noted that there were also some contractual issues to be 
resolved. He felt that the improvements to the town centre were a force for 
good and for change. He noted the concerns raised by the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel about underwriting further increases in costs but reminded Members 
that, unfortunately, sometimes costs did increase and that not all of the 
proposed increase in funding was as a result of increased costs but was partly 
the result of increasing contingency and adding further improvement works to 
the scope of the project. He explained the robust monitoring arrangements 
that were in place for the project. In terms of the extension to the scope of the 
project he felt that these improvements were worthwhile in their own right and 
would complete the end- to-end transformation of the town centre and would 
tie into the regeneration of the Westgate site. 

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Arts and Culture welcomed the improvements 
to the town centre and commented on the improved visual amenity around the 
route from Central Park across Market Street. The Chairman commented on 
the improved sight lines at the pedestrian crossing point, the reduced lanes of 
traffic flow and that people were becoming accustomed to the crossing 
arrangements. The Chairman felt that the design should introduce visual 
“signage” to indicate to young children in particular that they were leaving the 
security of the park and crossing a public highway.   

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance also welcomed the public realm 
improvements and the proposed extension of the scope of the project. 
However he felt that the current risks to timely completion of the project were 
high and wondered whether it might be better to delay the additional works 
until there were more certain conditions. The Head of Planning Services 

Page 125 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 28 OCTOBER 2021 

 

6 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

explained that the project was being closely managed and that part of the 
additional funding was based on contingency planning in order to mitigate the 
risks. 

The Chairman felt that delaying the further phases of the project would put a 
break on other regeneration projects in the town centre and that a delay might 
be unacceptable to the other funders of the project, who might withdraw 
funding or that the highways authority might choose to complete the project 
themselves to a more basic specification. The town centre works met the 
criteria for CIL funding and the Council had a pool of CIL funding available for 
strategic projects. However he recognised the concern about risk 
management and invited the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance to join the 
project monitoring group to provide him with reassurance that the project was 
being managed effectively. 

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Safety asked when the highway 
lighting improvements would be implemented as this was a matter of concern 
for residents. The Head of Planning Services confirmed that there were 
lighting improvements for each phase of the project and that these would go 
live as each phase progressed. She said that she would provide him with 
indicative dates for the lighting programme. The Chairman re-iterated the 
importance of having good lighting available on key routes to ensure that 
people felt safe when using them.     

 

 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That project progress on the various phases, as detailed in the body of the 

report, be noted; 

2. That the funding arrangements for Phase 1a as set out in paragraph 6.10 of 
the report, be noted; 

3. That for the reason detailed in paragraph 4.3 of the report, the need to 
apply caveats and larger than normal levels of contingency, be noted; 

4. That CIL funding in the estimated sum of £2.15M be requested, to ensure 
that the original scope and extent of the project (Phases 1, 2, 3 and 4) can 
be delivered, with the funding as set out in in Appendix D to the report; and 

5. That CIL funding in the estimated sum of £2.0M be requested, to 
incorporate the regeneration comprising transport, street works and public 
realm improvements to Spital Street as part of the project scope, in line 
with the funding estimates, set out in Appendix D to the report. 

 
62. DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION PROJECT - ALLOCATION 

OF COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) FUNDING  
 
The Head of Planning Services introduced a report which set out the context 
and assessment of a bid for the allocation of Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) funding for the Dartford Town Centre Regeneration Project. The report 
earlier in the agenda provided an update on the current progress of the 
project and outlined the additional works that had been included in the project 

Page 126Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 28 OCTOBER 2021 

 
 

7 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

scope. Since the introduction of CIL in 2014/15 the Council had received CIL 
receipts of £16.48M, of which £13.56M had been retained to fund strategic 
infrastructure projects. So far the Council had not allocated any of this 
retained funding towards a project. CIL regulations set out what the levy could 
be used to fund, which covered a broad range of infrastructure and facilities, 
which included those in the Dartford Town Centre Regeneration project. The 
Council had always recognised that the level of CIL funding from development 
was unlikely to fully fund all of the infrastructure improvements that might be 
expected as a result of development and that it would be necessary to 
prioritise the expedient use of CIL funding. A set of criteria for eligibility and 
prioritising CIL funding had therefore been produced and the Dartford Town 
Centre Regeneration Project had been assessed against these criteria. The 
project met the eligibility criteria for CIL funding, being a recognised form of 
infrastructure with a significant level of funding already having been secured. 
The bid for £4.152M CIL funding represented 22% of the current cost of the 
project and was being sought to cover additional costs, arising from increased 
costs of materials and delays, mainly associated with the pandemic, and also 
to cover the widening of the scope of the project. The allocation of this funding 
was viable from the current CIL receipts retained for strategic infrastructure 
projects and there were currently no other calls on this funding. 
 
The Chairman noted the comments made by the Cabinet Advisory Panel 
regarding the allocation of CIL for unparished parts of the borough and noted 
that, although this had been collected, a mechanism was needed to identify 
suitable projects for its use. The Head of Planning Services explained that it 
was intended to use the criteria and framework to assess future CIL funding 
bids and that this would be developed further for the allocation of the 
unparished CIL. 
 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the level of CIL receipts at Appendix A to the report, held by the 

Council, as of 31 March 2021 and the amount available for funding 
strategic infrastructure projects, be noted; 

2.  That the Framework at Appendix B to the report used to assess the bid 
for the allocation of CIL funding be agreed for future use for other 
strategic infrastructure projects that come forward for CIL funding; and 

3.  That the allocation of £4.152m of CIL funding for the Dartford Town Centre 
Regeneration Project, be agreed. 

 
63. DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE PARKING STUDY - OUTCOME OF 

IDENTIFICATION STAGE AND SUB-ZONE PRIORITIES  
 
The Head of Planning Services presented a report detailing the results of the 
identification stage for the Dartford Town Centre Parking Study. This followed 
the report to Cabinet on 24 September 2021 which had outlined the scope 
and methodology for the parking study. Since that meeting there had been 
meetings with local ward Members in wards within the study area or adjacent 

Page 127 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 28 OCTOBER 2021 

 

8 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

areas to seek their views on the study boundary and sub-zones and to draw 
upon their knowledge of complaints or feedback from local residents on 
parking issues. There had also been meetings with other key stakeholder 
Council departments. These meetings had helped to establish the priority for 
progressing the study in each of the sub-zones and had also resulted in some 
changes to sub-zone boundaries.  
 
The conclusions derived from these meetings were that the majority of 
requests for parking controls by residents and complaints of long term non-
residential parking were more concentrated within the sub-zones located east 
and west of the Station and High Street. The majority of complaints received 
about parking issues had been from Anne of Cleves Road, located to the west 
of the Town Centre. The parking team had already started to investigate the 
parking issues there prior to the initiation of the more comprehensive Parking 
Study.  It was therefore recommended that the first zone to be consulted on 
should be that covering the area west of the Town Centre, including Anne of 
Cleves Road, extending south to Baker Crescent, followed by the zone 
located east of the Town Centre, in Newtown, followed by the central Town 
Centre area. Other zone priorities would be kept under review and could 
change due to parking displacement or other pressures arising. 

The first stage of the Study in each sub-zone would be an informal 
consultation with residents and businesses via a posted letter and online 
questionnaire, which would seek feedback on a number of generic questions 
on parking issues. It was proposed that each consultation would last for 21 
days and that the first consultation, in sub-zone 1, would take place in 
November/December 2021. The same methodology would apply to the other 
sub-zones. A further report would be submitted to Members once the results 
from within the Parking Study area boundary had been analysed for 
consideration and decision on the next stage and draft design, in accordance 
with the guidance set out in the report.   

The Chairman noted that consultation meetings for local Councillors should 
be purely for Members of the relevant ward to ensure confidence in the 
outcome of the meetings and that attendance should be by invitation. 

The Head of Planning Services provided more information of the next stages 
of the consultation process and provided assurance that the Council had the 
resource to follow-up on the outcomes of the consultation and parking 
measures that might eventually be introduced. The consultation questionnaire 
also had a section to allow residents to highlight any other parking issues or 
suggested improvements as well as answering a set of specific questions. 
She also explained how the completion of each phase of the study could 
impact on subsequent phases and that this would include consideration of any 
displacement that might arise. Following the consultation there would be 
parking surveys of the area, which could include surveys of pavement 
parking. Any proposals for the introduction of parking measures would be 
brought back to Cabinet for approval.  

The Chairman accepted that it was not possible to carry out all stages of the 
parking study at the same time but that prioritisation was likely to be 
contentious for some. It was important to recognise that the study of all of the 

Page 128Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 28 OCTOBER 2021 

 
 

9 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

sub-zones would be carried out quickly and completed as soon as possible. 
He asked for each household to be sent a leaflet along with the consultation 
letter clearly setting this out and outlining the rationale behind the parking 
study. To ensure Member ownership and direction of this project he proposed 
to establish a Member Working Party to oversee this work.  

 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the amended Dartford Town Centre Parking Study area boundary 

and the sub-zones, shown in Appendix A to the report, be agreed; 

2.  That the parking issues identified in Appendix B to the report, be noted; 

3. That the priority of the sub-zones and informal consultation on Sub -zone 
1, set out in paras.5.3 to 5.5 of the report, be agreed;  

4. That the guidance to steer the consultation process, as set out in para.7 of 
the report, be agreed; and 

 
5. That an all party Member Working Party be established to oversee 

progress on the Town Centre Parking Study. 
 

64. CORPORATE PLAN 2021-2023  
 
The Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services presented an updated 
Corporate Plan for the period 2021-23 which set out the vision and priority 
themes for the Council and the Borough as a whole. The draft Plan retained 
the key themes included in the 207-2020 Corporate Plan with some minor 
adjustments. ‘Housing’ was now a standalone theme whilst ‘Safer 
Communities’ had now become ‘Safer and Cohesive Communities’.  Two sub-
themes had also been created under the main theme of ‘Economic 
Development and Regeneration. These were ‘Making the Place’, which 
looked at how physical development and regeneration could benefit the 
Borough, and ‘Economic Prosperity’ which looked at employment and 
economic development. Since the last Corporate Plan there had been major 
challenges arising from Brexit and from the Covid pandemic and the new plan 
covered a two year period, rather than three, so that the Council could assess 
the effects of Covid and Brexit before looking to a longer planning timeframe. 
The draft Plan also contained a series of actions to deliver the Council’s 
objective and a set of Performance Indicators. The Policy Overview 
Committee had also considered the draft Corporate Plan at its meeting on 14 
September 2021 and had made a number of comments which were presented 
to the Cabinet for consideration.   
 
The Cabinet considered each of the changes recommended by the Policy 
Overview Committee for inclusion but considered that some of them were 
issues that were driven by legislation, were measures of performance or were 
outside of the Council’s control and ability to deliver, and as such, should not 
be included in the Corporate Plan or could be covered by adding a foreward 
to the Corporate Plan. Some of the points were also felt to already be covered 

Page 129 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 28 OCTOBER 2021 

 

10 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

by the Plan such as protection of the Greenbelt and monitoring of CIL income 
and expenditure. The Cabinet did feel that there could be some merit in 
referencing the Council’s ability to lobby on issues such as strategic transport 
infrastructure under the Health and Wellbeing theme.  
 
In considering the Plan it was felt that the reference to ‘working from home 
[has] become the new norm’ under the heading, ‘A Year of Change’ on page 2 
was factually incorrect and should be replaced by ‘during the pandemic 
working from home became a new phenomena’ and that it was far from 
certain that home working or hybrid working would become a permanent 
model for the Council. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance was concerned that home or hybrid 
working had a detrimental impact on collaborative work and joined-up working 
and that he perceived there to be some disconnect. The Chairman said that a 
decision on this would be taken by Members and founded on data around the 
impact new methods of working had on productivity and meeting Members’ 
and residents working needs and perceptions.    
 

RESOLVED: 
 
1. That, the Director of Growth and Community be granted delegated 

authority, in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, to make the relevant 
amendments to the Corporate Plan as discussed by the Cabinet. 

 2. That the finalised draft of the Corporate Plan, be recommended to the 
General Assembly of the Council, for approval. 

 
65. DEED OF INDEMNITY FOR MEMBERS AND OFFICERS REVIEW  

 
The Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services introduced a report which 
recommended the adoption of a new Deed of Indemnity for Members and 
Officers. Since the Council had originally adopted its Indemnity for Members 
and Officers in 2007 there had been an increasing propensity for parties to 
litigate in order to recover losses which could lead to some individuals 
becoming concerned about any personal liability that might attach to the 
performance of their duties. It was not considered to be in the Council’s 
interest if potentially suitable candidates were deterred from seeking election 
to the Council or seeking appointment to responsible posts supported by the 
Council because of concerns over possible personal liabilities. It was 
therefore recommended that the Council provide as wide an indemnity in 
respect of such risks as it lawfully could, to both Members and Officers, and 
including Independent Members and Independent Persons, providing they 
were acting responsibly and in good faith. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Deed of Indemnity for Members and Officers, at Appendix A to the 
report, be endorsed and recommended to the General Assembly of the 
Council for adoption. 
 

Page 130Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 28 OCTOBER 2021 

 
 

11 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

66. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING: SITE 1 - REAR OF 49 LEYTON 
CROSS ROAD AND SITE 2 - LAND ADJACENT TO TILTMAN AVENUE  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which sought approval for new road names 
for the land to the rear of 49 Leyton Cross Road and land at Tiltman Avenue. . 
The proposed names had been submitted for consultation to Council 
Members, the Emergency Services, Royal Mail and the developer. and 
complied with the Council’s policy on Street Naming. Suitable suffixes would 
be chosen once the final road names had been approved. 
 
The Chairman of the Cabinet Advisory Panel had asked that future reports 
should detail the rationale for the chosen street names. The Cabinet felt that 
this would be a helpful addition and a point of reference for the future.  
 
In view of the recent death of Councillor Allen, who was a resident of 
Leyton Cross, it was suggested that an alternative street name for the land 
to the rear of 49 Leyton Cross, should be explored. The Cabinet offered a 
delegation to proceed with the existing name if required. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That a decision on a single new road name for the land to the rear of 49 

Leyton Cross Road be deferred for the reasons described above; and 
 

 2. That two new road names for the land at Tiltman Avenue be approved as 
Everard and Whiting. 

 
67. WRITE-OFF OF IRRECOVERABLE SUNDRY DEBT  

 
The Cabinet considered a report which recommended writing-off, one 
irrecoverable sundry debt where it had not been possible to obtain payment 
and where the amount involved exceeded Officers’ delegated powers. The 
background to the accrual of the debt was outlined in the report along with the 
reasons why there was no prospect of recovering the debt. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance expressed frustration about writing 
off this debt because the assets had been transferred to the same owner who 
had been able to manoeuvre their complex financial structure to avoid paying 
their debt to the Council and sums owed to others.  He hoped that the new 
contract provided for the payment of rent up-front so that this situation could 
not be repeated. The Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services confirmed 
that the write-off of the debt was part of a negotiated arrangement that could 
not be changed but that, so far, rental payments were being made.  
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet approves the write-off of £71,446.02 in respect of the 
irrecoverable sundry debt, as detailed in exempt Appendix A to the report. 
 

Page 131 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 28 OCTOBER 2021 

 

12 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

68. WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC BUSINESS RATES  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which recommended writing-off National  
Non-Domestic Rate debts where it had not been possible to obtain payment 
because of insolvency, because the ratepayer could not be traced or where 
the debt was otherwise irrecoverable. The background to each case, and the 
reason why it was considered to be irrecoverable, was outlined in the report. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder congratulated the Business Rates Department 
on their prompt action in dealing with these cases. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the sums shown at exempt Appendix A, in the confidential part of the 
report, amounting to £320,986.23, be written off as uncollectible. 
 

69. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2021/22  
 
The Cabinet received an update on current financial performance against the 
2021/22 General Fund and Housing Revenue Account to date and confirmed 
that it was expected that services would be delivered within the overall 
budget. Attention was also drawn to two adjustments to reserves carried 
forward which had been identified during the audit of the 2020/21 accounts. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the monitoring update for the General Fund and Housing Revenue 

Account, at Appendix A to the report, be noted; 
 
2. That, following completion of the audit of the Statement of Accounts, the 

revised earmarked reserves’ position for 2020/21, as set out in para. 3.6-
3.8 of the report, be noted; and 

 
3. That key general fund income streams, at Appendix B to the report, be 

noted. 
 
 

70. CAPITAL PROGRAMME - MONITORING 2021/22  
 
The Cabinet received a report which detailed the progress to date on the 
schemes in the approved Capital Programme and the latest position on 
capital resources. The Chairman sought, and received, clarification on the 
underspends relating to new homes and playground provision. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the Cabinet notes the progress made to date on the 2021/22 Capital 

Programme as detailed in the report and in Appendices A and B to the 
report; and 

 

Page 132Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 28 OCTOBER 2021 

 
 

13 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

2. That the current position on the Capital Programme Indicators, as shown in 
Appendix C to the report, be noted.  

 
 

71. TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT 2021/2022  
 
The Cabinet received a report which detailed the investment performance of 
the Council’s internally and externally managed funds to 30 September 2021 
and updated the Treasury Indicators for the six months to 30 September 
2021.  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the Cabinet notes the investment performance of the Council’s funds; 

and 
 
2. That the Cabinet notes the half-year position of the Council’s Treasury 

Indicators. 
 
 

72. SAFEGUARDING  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which updated Members on how the Council 
was meeting its statutory responsibilities for safeguarding the welfare of 
children, and adults at risk of abuse or neglect. This included oversight by a 
multi-disciplinary group chaired by the Director of Housing & Public 
Protection, with representatives from the Council’s operational teams and 
Kent County Council’s Children’s and Adult’s Services. There was a detailed 
referral process and all staff were required to undertake online safeguarding 
training with more detailed training for staff who had direct contact with the 
public or a safeguarding role. This was underpinned by the Council’s 
Safeguarding Policy which was regularly reviewed. In addition the Council’s 
approach to safeguarding children was externally audited every two years, 
with the last audit resulting in a ‘green’ rating which meant that the Council 
was fully compliant in all of the areas examined. 
 
The Director of Housing & Public Protection explained that it was also 
intended to provide in-person safeguarding training for Members. The 
Chairman suggested that attendance should be mandatory. He also 
welcomed the Council’s actions on safeguarding which was a priority for the 
Council   
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

Page 133 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 28 OCTOBER 2021 

 

14 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

73. ACCEPTANCE OF TENDER - MANAGEMENT OF HOUSING REVENUE 
ACCOUNT GARAGE PORTFOLIO - EXEMPT APPENDIX A 
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPH 3  
 
That, following discussion of the main report (minute 60 above), the contents 
of Exempt Appendix A be noted. 
 

74. WRITE-OFF OF IRRECOVERABLE SUNDRY DEBT - EXEMPT APPENDIX 
A 
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPH 3  
 
That, following discussion of the main report (minute 67 above), the contents 
of Exempt Appendix A be noted. 
 

75. WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC BUSINESS RATES - 
EXEMPT APPENDIX A 
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPH 3)  
 
That, following discussion of the main report (minute 68 above), the contents 
of Exempt Appendix A be noted. 
 
 

The meeting closed at 9.09 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 

Page 134Agenda Item 16


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	10a Review of Member Code of Conduct - Reference from the Audit Board
	Appendix A Code of Conduct
	Appendix B Report to Audit Board - Member Code of Conduct Part 1)
	Appendix B (Part 2)
	Appendix B (Part 3)
	Appendix C - Audit Board minute

	10b Deed of Indemnity for Members and Officers - Review - Reference from the Cabinet
	Appendix A - Cabinet report - Deed of Indemnity for Members and Officers
	Appendix A to Cabinet Report
	Appendix B

	11 Grant of Dispensation
	13 Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax 2022/23
	14 Financial Contributions to Parish and Town Councils 2022/23
	App A -Financial contributions to parish councils

	15 Financial Regulations
	Appendix A MKSFinancial Regulations final Oct 2021

	16 Reserved Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 23/09/2021 Cabinet
	Minutes

	Minutes Public Pack, 28/10/2021 Cabinet
	Minutes



